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COMPANY PROFILE
R AN

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs. We have six
innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at
phase I-ll clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader
in the research, development and commercialisation of innovative
therapies. Our products aim at tackling the unmet clinical needs and
our pipelines cover indications of dermatology such as AGA and acne

vulgaris, and indications of tumors.

e KX-826
KX-826 is an AR antagonist. We are currently developing KX-

826 as a potential first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of

androgenic alopecia (AGA) and acne vulgaris.

e AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

GT20029 is a topical AR-PROTAC compound developed by
the Group's in-house PROTAC platform. We are currently
developing GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne

vulgaris.

e Pruxelutamide (GT0918)

Pruxelutamide (GTO918) is a second generation AR antagonist
with the potential to be a best-in-class drug. We are currently
developing Pruxelutamide for the treatment of mCRPC,
COVID-19 and AR+ metastatic breast cancer.

e  GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor)
GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor) is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. We are currently
developing GTI708F primarily for the treatment of idiopathic

pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and blood cancer.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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GT0486
GT0486 is an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signalling pathway

and a second generation mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
developing GT0486 primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and

hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

ALK-1 Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a new anti-angiogenesis inhibitor and targets
a new biological target ALK-1 globally, which we obtained an
exclusive global licence from Pfizer in 2018. We are currently
developing ALK-1 antibody for the treatment of metastatic HCC
and a variety of solid tumours.

COMPANY PROFILE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DN AEF
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DNEER

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERDBEERTE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 268l Hutchins Drive, PO Box 268l
Grand Cayman, KY|-I111 Grand Cayman, KY|-I111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR EERHRBETRE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited ERAPRESFELBERRAA
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor i

Hopewell Centre - E s

183 Queen’s Road East 2FKNE RIS

Wanchai B L

Hong Kong 174 1712-17165R &

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Suzhou Branch Wuzhong Sub-branch
China Construction Bank

Suzhou Industrial Park Sub-branch

STOCK CODE

9939

BOARD LOT SIZE

500 Shares

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.kintor.com.cn

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ERERRT

LSRR BERIRIT
FMDITRARIT
B R R AR AT

#RON TR BB %17

B 12 X 5%

9939
BFEEEN
5000% f% 19

ACIEEN

http://www.kintor.com.cn



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETREE

Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your long-term attention and support to Kintor; which
is an important motivation for us to move forward in innovative drug
R&D.

2023 is a key milestone for the business transformation of Kintor.
After years of exploration, we have initially formed differentiated
advantages in the field of dermatology, and we have continued
to focus on dermatology in 2023 and deeply deploy our first-and
second-generation topical AR antagonists for the treatment of AGA
and acne. Faced with rapid changes in the social and the industrial
environment, we have always been concentrating on our aim to
develop our first innovative drug through continuous adjustment of
our internal strategies, which include not only the layout of pipelines
and the development of drug candidates, but also the ways of
commercialisation, the personnel and internal structure. “A time
will come to ride the wind and cleave the waves, I'll set my cloud-
white sail and cross the raving sea”. We will hold tightly the “cloud-
white sail” of dermatology, and actively explore the possibility of

commercialisation from multiple paths.

In 2023, our two Core Products have conducted global clinical trials
and researches in dermatology. KX-826 has completed the phase I
clinical trial for male AGA in China, the phase Il clinical trial for male
AGA in the U.S,, and the phase Il clinical trial for acne in China, and
we initiated the phase Il clinical trial for long-term safety of AGA in
China and the phase Ib/lll clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with
minoxidil for AGA in China. GT20029 has completed the phase |
clinical trial of AGA and acne in the U.S., and the phase Il clinical trial

of AGA in China had reached primary endpoint.

In 2023, our pipelines under development have shown the value of
R&D and commercial cooperation. Our GT1708F completed a phase
| clinical trial for hematologic malignancies in China and obtained
conditional approval for the phase Il clinical trial for the indication
of IPF in China. Many of our research results have been selected for
important academic conferences and published in core journals, and

have received wide international attention.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFEHE

In 2023, we have effectively improved the efficiency in use of cash.
On the one hand, we have focused more on the field of dermatology,
which has significantly reduced the costs compared to the oncology
pipeline, and on the other hand, we have made adjustments to
numbers and salaries of our employees, which have effectively
reduced our administrative expenses. The current cash on hand will
continue to support the Company’s strategic layout, which will be
used to advance clinical and R&D and necessary expenditures for the

commercialisation.

Looking ahead to 2024, we will continue to deepen our dermatology
pipeline. For KX-826, we plan to conduct more clinical trials, such as
trying higher dose levels or using combination therapies to maximise
the efficacy of the drug, and we will consider the commercialisation
path of KX-826 in the field of dermatology in multiple aspects. For
GT20029, its phase Il clinical trial for AGA in China had reached
the primary endpoint. Based on the results of the phase | clinical
trial of GT20029 for the treatment of acne in China and the U.S,
we are preparing to conduct a phase Il clinical trial of GT20029
for the treatment of acne. In addition, we are also developing
more compounds to expand the indication layout in the field of
dermatology. In the non-dermatology field, we will strive to seek
co-development or out-licensing to explore higher drug value and

provide patients with more drug options.

Kintor will continue to forge ahead in 2024, hoping to achieve
commercialisation as soon as possible, and deliver an answer sheet

that satisfies shareholders and whole society.

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Youzhi Tong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
29 April 2024

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

The Group's R&D costs, excluding the impact of impairment and
provision, decreased by RMB489.2 million or 66.6% from RMB735.0
million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to RMB245.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decreases were mainly
attributable to the Group's increasing focus on investments in core
dermatology pipelines KX-826 and GT20029, which have much lower
costs compared to oncology pipelines. The Group is continuing to
make efforts to develop its Core Products in dermatology, hoping to

achieve commercialisation as soon as possible.

The Group's administrative expenses, excluding impairment losses,
decreased by RMB45.8 million or 34.6% from RMBI32.2 million for
the year ended 3| December 2022 to RMB86.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Such decreases were mainly attributable
to the reduction in employee benefit and share-based compensation
expenses during the Reporting Period. To focus on the development
of the Company's core business, reduce administrative expenses and
improve efficiency, the Group has adjusted the number and salaries
of employees at the end of 2023. The Group will take further steps,
such as a new round of employee downsizing, up to the progress of its

business.

The Group had cash and cash equivalents and time deposits of
RMB456.3 million as at 31 December 2023. In addition, the Group
also had unutilised bank facilities of RMBI10.5 million as at 3l
December 2023. The Group is actively seeking to commercialise
its Core Products, and has sufficient cash on hand to support the
Group's clinical and R&D advancement and necessary expenditures

for the commercialisation.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBF AREFTT
Revenue WA — —
Cost of sales 85 & B A (42,229) —
Gross loss EF (42,229) —
Other income and expenses Hibh g A K& A 20,867 18,612
Marketing costs R IO (6,984) (20,326)
Administrative expenses THHAX (89,045) (132,249)
Research and development costs Tt 8% Bk 7S (938,907) (827,974)
Other (losses)/gains — net Hih (B18), MW F 8 (2,925) 17,408
Operating loss REEE (1,059,223) (944,529)
Finance costs B F B AR (9,690) (8,187)
Share of losses of an associate and a joint venture D (LB & RN Al K& & 1 ¥ E 18 52 (568)
Loss before income tax BRATBHBATEE (1,068,861) (953,284)
Income tax credit/(expense) st E®E, (BH) 8,041 (1,085)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for FAFEREZEHEEALR
the year (1,060,820) (954,369)
As of 31 December
B ZI12A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB T ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE 396,675 547,267
Current assets BB E 472,557 1,507,869
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits RekReEBMARTHER 456,334 875,304
Non-current liabilities ERHER 186,390 241,821
Current liabilities mBAE 224,730 318,127
Total equity ERBEHE 458,112 1,495,188

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
ERRE

During 2023, we have been continuously focusing on dermatology
fields, exploring the two Core Products KX-826 and GT20029 in
China and the U.S. for the treatment of male and female AGA and

acne, which has made significant progress. The details are as follows:

KX-826
AGA Indication

On 28 March 2023, the Company announced that it has
completed the enroliment of 740 subjects for the phase Il clinical
trial of KX-826 in China for the treatment of male AGA.

On I May 2023, the Company announced that the phase Il
clinical trial of KX- 826 for the treatment of male AGA in the
U.S. has been completed successfully. The results after 24 weeks
compared to baseline were statistically and clinically meaningful,

and demonstrated a favorable safety profile.

On 19 July 2023, the long-term safety phase Il trial of KX-826 for
the treatment of AGA in China has completed the first patient
enrollment. On |5 November 2023, the trial has completed all

patients enrollment.

On 27 November 2023, the topline results of phase Il clinical
trial of KX-826 for male AGA have been read out. The results
showed that the overall safety of the trial was good, with KX-826
demonstrating excellent safety profile and promoting hair growth
compared to baseline, with statistical significance (P<0.000/).
Compared with placebo, there was TAHC improvement at
all visit points in KX-826 0.5% BID group with no statistical

significance, but a trend in efficacy was observed.

On | February 2024, the Company announced that the phase
Ib/Ill clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for the
treatment of male AGA was cleared by NMPA, to evaluate the
efficacy and safety of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for
the treatment of male adults with AGA in China.

203F F B EBREREREE - EFE
% B R 3= M R A% 0 BE W) KX-826 )R GT2002972 55
M M ERERRENER  HENSE
RER - F1HWT:
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Jii 2 73 FE AE
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R2023F5811H © DRI S MHKX-82654 & H
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F2023F7HI19H » KX-82634 & fil & #y
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72023411 8278 © KX-826AE B £/
PRI ARABRELIEREE &
RET ZABRERBLE2MER  KX-826
BRRTHRENT MR BESHELRE
TEEER - AAESRTBERP<0000]) °
HE 22 B B AB B 0 KX-826#E TAHC 7E & & 55
REHYERS  Z2ARFT2LREINE
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202452 A8 ARIEMKX-826 K Hb
RS 8B 5 M B 269 B Ib/111 B B& R &
BROESBEREE A - AUFEKX
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EBENERERTEE -
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBERE

Acne Vulgaris Indication

On 28 August 2023, the Company announced it has completed
a phase Il clinical trial of KX-826 in China for treatment of acne.
The results showed that KX-826 has good safety and efficacy. At
week |2, all patients who achieved treatment success appeared
in the experimental groups. Compared with placebo group,
post hoc analysis of subgroups with baseline non-inflammatory
lesion count > 30 showed that counts of both non-inflammatory
and inflammatory lesion in the KX-826 group were significantly
improved, and the improvements had persisted until the twelfth

week.,

AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

On 10 February 2023, the Company announced the top-line
results of the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment
of AGA and acne vulgaris in the U.S.. The results showed
that GT20029 demonstrated good safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects and subjects with AGA or

acne vulgaris.

On 14 April 2023, the Company announced the first subject
enroliment has completed in the phase Il clinical trial of GT20029
for the treatment of AGA in China.

On 22 August 2023, the Company announced that it has
completed the enrollment of 180 subjects for the phase Il clinical
trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA in China, and expect

to read out top-line in the near future.

On 21 April 2024, the Company announced that the phase |l
clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA in China has
reached the primary endpoint, with statistically significant and

clinically meaningful results, as well as good safety and tolerability.

For details of any of the foregoing, please refer to the rest of

this annual report and, where applicable, the Company's prior

announcements published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and

the Company.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

B AT &

8 8 PR AE

20238 A28H » AR E MKX-826)A &
EONARRHINHBERABELETN &REB
T KX-8266EBRIEFNELEMMBRIME -
EENEAR  ZIREKINNEESALER
R BE -  HEGIELRMRE H3000 %

BoiTRAE - EERBRAMRL - KX-8264H)
#AIﬁu)\liﬁi*‘%ﬁzi%jiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁaﬁz% i
AEHEREIRE -

AR-PROTAC{t & #1(GT20029)

2023F2 108 © AR E M GT2002958 /&
EREERNERIBBRARARNIERLE

RoHERET  GNOVERESHAE

BREXHENEEZXREFTHERRRTN
M MEUEMERE NBREFE-

R2023F4 8148 - A7 B M GT2002958 &
ENFRHIBRAABREKENIHE
A o

20238 A28 + A T B 5 GT2002954 &
Hﬂi—?aﬁﬂhﬂnﬁ,ﬁﬁ%%?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁx%%ﬁlso%%

AEBEBAL AEEFEROBENIEEH
BER

202448218 © A BB # GT200298 &
RENTRHIBERABREIETEHREK

HoHBERAARABREEUELRERE

F AL MENMMIERL -
E’J.#I‘i CHB2HAAFREME D
VA B (fsf 81 ) AN 22 =) 368 1 10 Bk 32 By )R 7R 1% B 4

T B DE o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED M

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs. We have six
innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at
phase I-ll clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader
in the research, development and commercialisation of innovative
therapies. Our products aim at tackling the unmet clinical needs and
our pipelines cover indications of dermatology such as AGA and
acne vulgaris, and indications of tumors. We have seasoned R&D
experience in the field of dermatology. The two Core Products,
namely KX-826 and GT20029, have entered phase lll and phase
Il clinical stage, respectively. We are actively exploring paths to

commercialisation for Core Products in dermatology fields.

As at the date of this report, our first Core Product, KX-826, has
completed the phase IlI clinical trial for male AGA in China, the phase
I clinical trial for male AGA in the U.S. and the phase Il clinical trial
for acne in China. Meanwhile, we also initiated the long-term safety
phase Il trial for the treatment of AGA in China and the phase Ib/lll
clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil for the treatment
of AGA in China. For AGA indication, KX-826 demonstrated excellent
safety profile and efficacy among different populations and could
promote hair growth (the mean increase of TAHC compared to
baseline could achieve up to 22.7 hair counts per cm?). The long-term
safety trial will provide more safety and efficacy data to support the
long-term use of KX-826. The development of combination therapy of
KX-826 and minoxidil will further explore the value of KX-826 in the
field of AGA. For acne vulgaris indication, the results of the phase I

clinical trial lay the foundation for the Company’s future studies.
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Our second Core Product GT20029, developed in-house by the
Company based on its own PROTAC platform, is the first topical
PROTAC compound in the world which has entered phase Il clinical
stage. As at the date of this report, GT20029 completed the phase |
clinical trial for AGA and acne in the U.S., which demonstrated that
GT20029 had good safety, tolerability, and PK characteristics. The
phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for AGA in China has reached the
primary endpoint, with statistically significant and clinically meaningful
results, as well as good safety and tolerability. Based on the results of
the phase Il clinical trial, the Company will actively deploy subsequent
clinical strategies for GT20029, such as initiating a phase Il clinical trial
in China and a phase Il clinical trial in the U.S. for male AGA. Based on
the results of the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment
of acne in China and the U.S., we are preparing to conduct a phase |l
clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of acne to further expand

our research in acne treatment to benefit more patients with acne.

For other pipelines, we are exploring their commercial value in
different disease areas and actively trying to improve the efficacy
of drug through combination therapies. For example, our GTI708F
completed the phase | clinical trial for hematologic malignancies in
China and was conditionally approved to conduct the phase Il clinical
trial of IPF in China. We are actively seeking potential opportunities
to accelerate the commercialisation of various pipelines in China and

globally.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Product Pipeline

Our pipeline includes a risk-balanced and diversified portfolio of drug
candidates, which are committed to meeting the huge unmet medical
needs and have significant market potential. Hundreds of millions of
male and female patients around the world and in China suffered from
AGA and acne. Based on AR targets, we have made groundbreaking
developments with KX-826 and GT20029 for dermatology fields.
We are rapidly advancing clinical trials and actively exploring
commercialisation paths to meet patients' needs as soon as possible.
In other disease areas, including mCRPC, liver cancer, IPF, hematologic
malignancies and multiple solid tumors, we also have several products
in/completing the clinical stage, accumulating a large amount of R&D
and clinical data, with high value for cooperation in commercialisation.
The following chart sets forth a summary of our drug candidates

as well as their respective mechanism, indications and development
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As at the date of this report, we had developed six clinical-stage

drugs, for which we had obtained approvals to commence clinical

trials in the PRC (including Taiwan), the U.S. and other countries and

regions. These clinical-stage drug candidates are composed of KX-
826, AR-PROTAC compound GT20029, Pruxelutamide (GT0918),
Hedgehog/SMO inhibitor GT1708F, mTOR kinase inhibitor GT0486
and ALK-1 antibody GT9000I, the details of which are set out as

follows:

Main Products

KX-826
KX-826 is a drug for topical use, which can block the signaling

pathway of AR. It acts on the local area of peripheral skin
tissue, and can reduce the sensitivity of AR to androgen in
the pilosebaceous gland, and the low AR inhibitory activity of
its metabolites can reduce systemic side effects. We own the
patents of KX-826 in many countries around the world, including
China. Its core patent is valid until 8 September 2030. We are
currently developing KX-826 in tincture and gel as a potential
first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of AGA and acne

vulgaris.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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AGA Indication
Where AGA occurs, the androgen binds to the AR in

the hair follicle cells, and the AR undergoes a complex
enzymatic reaction and forms an AR complex. The AR
complex enters the nucleus, binds to a specific hormone-
responsive element of the gene locus, induces or inhibits
the transcription of the target gene, and synthesises specific
messenger RNA (mRNA) and corresponding proteins,
such as different kinds of cytokines. This regulates cell
proliferation and differentiation, which causes the hair to
prematurely enter into a resting period and shrinks hair
follicles. The hair in the growing period gradually becomes
thinner and hair follicles shrink and disappear, resulting in
AGA. Abnormal changes in systemic and local androgen
metabolism are important factors in the pathogenesis
of AGA, and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) catalysed by
androgen by 5a-reductase is a contributing molecule of
AGA. AR is recognised as an attributing factor for AGA.
KX-826 is for topical application to locally block the
androgen mediated signaling by competing androgen to bind
to AR in the targeted tissues.

Previously, the Company has successfully completed the

phase Il trials for male and female AGA in China.

The phase Il clinical trial for male AGA has enrolled 120
patients who were randomly assigned to four groups,
including KX-826 0.25% BID (twice daily), KX-826 0.5% QD
(once daily), KX-826 0.5% BID, and placebo (including QD
and BID), and the primary endpoint is the mean change
from baseline of non-vellus TAHC compared with placebo

after 24 weeks. The results showed that:

*  For efficacy, after 24 weeks of treatment, 0.5% BID
KX-826 group demonstrated significant improvement
in non-vellus TAHC, which increased by 22.73 hair
counts per cm? as compared with baseline (P<0.00/)
and increased by 15.34 hair counts per cm? as
compared with the placebo group with statistical
significance (P=0.024).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

Fit 2 i FE iE
BEAGAR HHXEERARTHN
AR#EE AR G MR B (2 R FE I
ﬂ;ﬁzAR%’Eé% o ARIE & ¥ A 40 B
% BERENRFEIARRETHLE
A FENMFLEEANEE A
B4 TE MY (2 RNAMRNA) M HE FE ) &
BE fImTREEMNARE T - &
FARERIEE RS BHEERT
#EAKRE HHI@%;%HME o A RHAMW
SEEZHEE  TERHNDIHK ®
ﬁﬂ%@z*ﬁ%&z%liﬂﬁ% o 2 HNBELH
BERHANESELRERRERE
BREMEZAX Moe-ERBEL
BHEE{LAE_SEMOHT) RE R
HHEUERENEES T - ARKR
AEEREERENEERR KX
8261’&7%%%?@% MBHEERERR
FREAEMBB R EAR - B LA PE B
=EREENRE -

REREE  RMETKPEEMER
2211 HAFR PR 2 B8 S A B 22 1 A 22 11 HA B

R S5 B B2 HR R R S B 2k A 48120
ZBE D RIMAKX-826 0.25%&F HfF
FAM X (BID) + KX-826 0.5% & B f# A —
IR (QD) ~ KX-826 0.5% BID A & %2 &Ll
(BIEQDXBID) HEA R - FRAEE24
JE 68 %2 B ) AR b TAHC B B 48 1) £ 15
Bl REBRKEE BRET:

e BHARMEME  KLBUAMA
B KX-826 0.5% BID #8 £ TAHC
SHRPEBHNE - AEZMAL -
¥ HEKREM273REE -
P<0.00/ - LR B - BFH
[E K3 p115.344R + P=0.024

BRAEERRAT
4R 2023

17



18

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWED T

*  For safety, the overall safety profile of KX-826 was
good and manageable. No serious adverse event
(SAE), adverse drug reaction (ADR), nor death
occurred. After 14 days of topical application, the
systemic exposure of KX-826 and its metabolites in
vivo reached a steady state; the drug concentration in

blood in each dose group was low.

The phase Il clinical trial for female AGA in China has
enrolled a total of 160 patients who were randomly
assigned to five groups, including KX-826 0.25% QD, KX-
826 0.25% BID, KX-826 0.5% QD, KX-826 0.5% BID, and
placebo. The primary endpoint is the mean change from
baseline of non-vellus TAHC compared with placebo after
24 weeks. The results showed that:

*  For efficacy, over 24 weeks of treatment, the non-
vellus TAHC of the KX-826 0.5% QD group has
increased by 11.39 hair counts per cm? compared with
the placebo group from baseline (P=0.0087). KX-826
has demonstrated efficacy as early as at the end of

week 12,

*  For safety, the overall safety profile of KX-826 was
favorable. The majority of treatment emerged adverse
events ("“TEAE") were mild and similar to those of
placebo. No TEAE resulting in patient withdrawal or

death from the trial was reported.
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As at the date of this report, we completed the phase IlI
clinical trial for male AGA in China and the phase Il clinical
trial for male AGA in the U.S.. Meanwhile, we also initiated
the long-term safety phase Ill trial for the treatment of
AGA in China and the phase Ib/lll clinical trial of KX-826 in

combination with minoxidil in China.

*  On | February 2024, we announced that the phase Ib/
Il clinical trial of KX-826 in combination with minoxidil
for the treatment of male AGA was cleared by NMPA,
to evaluate the efficacy and safety of KX-826 in
combination with minoxidil for the treatment of male
adults with AGA in China. The Group believes that
through the development of combination therapy, the
efficacy of KX-826 for AGA will be further discovered.

* On 27 November 2023, we announced that the
topline results of phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826
topical treatment for male AGA have been read out.
This phase Il clinical trial is a multicenter, randomised,
double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of topical use of KX-826 0.5%
BID in the treatment of male AGA adults in China.
The trial has enrolled a total of 740 patients who
were randomly assigned to KX-826 0.5% BID and
placebo two groups. The main endpoint of this study
is the average change in non-vellus TAHC compared
to baseline at the end of 24 weeks. The results
showed that the overall safety of the trial was good,
with KX-826 demonstrating excellent safety profile
and no serious adverse events was reported. After
24 weeks' treatment, KX-826 promoted hair growth
compared to baseline, with statistical significance
(P<0.000/). Compared with placebo, there was TAHC
improvement at all visit points in KX-826 0.5% BID
group with no statistical significance, but a trend in

efficacy was observed.
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On 19 July 2023, we announced the completion of
first patient enrollment in long-term safety phase |l
trial of KX-826 in China for treatment of AGA, and we
have finished all patients enrollment on 15 November
2023. It is a multi-center, open-label phase Il clinical
trial, which was approved to be conducted by NMPA
on 18 April 2023, aiming to evaluate the long-term
safety of the topical use of KX-826 for treatment of
AGA in China. A total of 271 male and female AGA
patients have be enrolled, and the treatment period
is 52 weeks. The primary endpoint of the trial is the
incidence of TEAE.

On Il May 2023, the Company announced successful
completion of phase Il clinical trial of KX-826 for
treatment of male AGA in the U.S.. The results after
24 weeks of treatment are statistically and clinically
meaningful compared to baseline and demonstrate a
favorable safety profile of KX-826. The phase Il clinical
trial is a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled
and parallel group clinical study designed to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of KX-826 for treatment of
male AGA. A total of 123 patients were enrolled who
were assigned to KX-826 0.25% QD, KX-826 0.5%
QD, KX-826 0.5% BID, and placebo (including QD and
BID) four groups. The results showed that:

*  The TAHC of the 0.5% BID KX-826 group had
increased by approximately 10 hair counts per
cm? compared with baseline after treatment

of 24 weeks, which was statistically significant
(P=0.0088).

*  KX-826 had indicated an improvement in TAHC
versus placebo, and a dose-response relationship
was observed from different KX-826 dosage
groups. Other relevant results indicated that KX-
826 promoted hair growth clinically in male AGA

patients.
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Acne vulgaris indication

Acne vulgaris is the eighth most prevalent disease in
the world which affects more than 9.4% of the global
population. Acne wvulgaris is particularly common among
adolescents as an facial disease. The pathogenesis of acne
vulgaris is complicated. The influence of androgen and its
receptor signaling pathway on sebaceous glands and sebum
secretion is one of the important factors causing acne
vulgaris. The U.S. FDA approved the first AR antagonist
over the past 40 years for treatment of acne in August
2020, which had paved the way for our ongoing clinical trials
in China. To date, there has been significant unmet clinical
needs as no effective topical AR antagonist was approved

for acne vulgaris treatment in China.

KX-826 is a well-targeted topical AR antagonist, which
competitively inhibits the combination of androgen with
AR in the skin tissue and is able to topically control the
activation of the AR signal pathway caused by the excessive
level of androgen without affecting the activity of AR signal
pathway in human body. Through external application, KX-
826 is able to inhibit the combination of AR with androgen
in hair follicle sebaceous glands for treatment of acne

vulgaris.

* On 28 August 2023, we announced we have
completed the phase Il clinical trial of KX-826 in China
for treatment of acne. The phase Il clinical trial is a
multicenter, randomised, double-blind and placebo-
controlled clinical study designed to evaluate the safety,
efficacy, tolerance and PK of topical application of KX-
826 for the treatment of patients with acne vulgaris.
This study included a total of 160 acne patients who
met the Pillsbury grading system’s grade I-ll or IGA
grading system'’s grade 2—3 who were assigned to KX-
826 0.25% QD and BID, KX-826 0.5% QD and BID,
and placebo QD and BID groups. The results show:
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* At week 12, all patients who achieved treatment
success (according to the 5-point IGA scale,
IGA score decreasing to O—I and a decrease of
>) levels is defined as success) appeared in the

experimental groups.

*  Compared with placebo group, post hoc analysis
of subgroups with baseline non-inflammatory
lesion count =30 showed that counts of both
non-inflammatory and inflammatory lesion in the
KX-826 group were significantly improved, and
the improvements had persisted until the twelfth
week. The improvement effect was initially

observed at the second week.

*  The safety profile of KX-826 is good. During the
research, most adverse events were mild local
skin irritation, and the incidence rate in the KX-
826 group was similar to that of the placebo
group. There were no adverse events that led to

withdrawal from the trial or death.

AR-PROTAC Compound(GT20029)

GT20029 has the potential to become a new generation of
treatment for AGA and acne vulgaris. GT20029 is a topical
AR-PROTAC compound developed by the Group's in-house
PROTAC platform. It is also the first topical PROTAC compound
in the world which has entered phase Il clinical stage. GT20029
has a topical curative effect and can avoid systemic exposure by
limiting skin penetration, and thus achieving good safety profile.
The repeated pharmacodynamics studies in DHT-induced mouse
model showed that GT20029 significantly promoted hair growth
with statistical difference. The study of testosterone propionate
("“TP")-induced skin hamster flank organ acne model showed
that GT20029 significantly inhibited the enlargement of the flank

organ, with statistical difference.
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Previously, we announced the top-line results of the phase |
clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne
vulgaris in China. The phase | clinical trial is a randomised,
double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the safety and
PK of topical use of GT20029 (gel/tincture). The study enrolled
92 healthy subjects receiving single and multiple ascending
dose administration (topical) of GT20029. The results showed
that GT20029 demonstrated good safety, tolerability and PK
in healthy subjects. Following a single dose administration, all
subjects had no detectable drug concentrations (below lower
limit of quantification ((“"LLOQ"), 0.00Ing/mL) at all time points.
Following 4-day multiple-doses topical administration, the mean
maximum drug concentrations of all cohorts were lower than
0.05ng/mL. All treatment related adverse events (“TRAE")
were grade |.

As at the date of this report, we have completed the phase |
clinical trial for AGA and acne in the U.S. and enrollment of the
phase Il clinical trial for AGA in China.

*  On |0 February 2023, we announced the top-line results
of the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for treatment of
AGA and acne wulgaris in the US. The phase | clinical
trial is a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled,
parallel group, dose escalation study to evaluate the safety,
tolerability and PK of GT20029 following topical single
ascending dose administration (“SAD”) in healthy subjects
and multiple ascending dose administration ("“MAD”")
in subjects with AGA or acne. The results showed that
GT20029 demonstrated good safety, tolerability and PK
following topical single ascending dose SAD administration
in healthy subjects and MAD administration in subjects
with AGA or acne vulgaris. In the SAD stage, subjects had
no systemic exposure at all dose levels, and all sample
concentrations were below the LLOQ (0.003ng/mL). In
the MAD stage, after 14 days of continuous administration
in subjects with AGA or acne vulgaris, the systemic
exposure was limited and the mean maximum observed
concentration (Cmax) of all dose levels fluctuated near the
LLOQ, with the highest not exceeding 0.015 ng/mL. No
TEAE relating to GT20029 in the SAD stage was reported.
Most of the TEAEs in the MAD stage were mild, including
dryness, itching, burning and pain at application sites. No
SAE, severe TEAE (Grade >3), subject withdrawal or death
caused by TEAE were reported.
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On 14 April 2023, we announced completion of first
subject enrollment in phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for
treatment of AGA in China. The trial is a multi-centen,
randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study,
which was designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of
GT20029 for treating male AGA adults in China, and to
determine the recommended dosage for phase Il clinical
trial. The primary endpoint of this trial is the change from
baseline in non-vellus TAHC after 12 weeks of treatment in
comparison to placebo. Safety assessments included adverse
events, laboratory tests, subjective evaluations of the topical
medication and dermatological assessments. On 22 August
2023, the enroliment of total 180 patients has finished. They
were divided into once daily ("QD”) and twice weekly
(“BIW") dosing cohorts, each with control groups (dosing
placebo) and experiment groups (dosing GT20029 tincture),
receiving either 0.5% or 1% doses.

On 21 April 2024, the Company announced that the phase
Il clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA in
China has reached the primary endpoint, with statistically
significant and clinically meaningful results, as well as good
safety and tolerability.

e In terms of efficacy, GT20029 tincture demonstrated
statistically significant therapeutic efficacy and clinical
significance compared to placebo in both the QD and
BIW dosing cohorts. After 12 weeks of treatment,
the 0.5% QD GT20029 group showed an increase of
[6.80 hairs/cm? from baseline, which was 6.69 hairs/
cm? more than the placebo group, with statistically
significant results (P<0.05). The TAHC of GT20029
[.0% BIW group showed an increase of [1.94 hairs/cm?
from baseline, which was 7.36 hairs/cm* more than
the placebo, also yielding statistically significant results
(P<0.05). For the BIW cohort, the study indicated a
dose-response relationship among different doses of
GT20029.

e Regarding safety, GT20029 tincture demonstrated
good safety and tolerability, with the incidence of
adverse events during treatment comparable to that
of placebo. In addition, no adverse sexual events were
observed during the trial.
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e The 1% BIW dosage of GT20029 was identified as the
optimal dosing level in the Phase Il Clinical Trial and
has been recommended for the phase Il clinical trial
for male AGA in China.

*  Based on the results of phase | clinical trials in China and the
U.S. of GT20029 for treatment of acne, we are preparing
to conduct a phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for acne to
further explore in the field of acne.

Pruxelutamide (GT0918)

Pruxelutamide (GTO918) is a second-generation AR antagonist
as well as an ACE2 and TMPRSS2 degrader with the potential to
be a best-in-class drug, whose patent is valid until 8 March 2032.
Pruxelutamide has a novel chemical structure and constitutes a
dual-action mechanism which not only inhibits androgen from
binding to AR, but also reduces AR expression. The Company
has developed Pruxelutamide for the treatment of mCRPC,
COVID-19 and mBC, and has completed multiple phase Il clinical
trials. As at the date of this report, the Company is actively
pursuing commercialisation of Pruxelutamide and cooperation
opportunities, including continuing to seek regulatory approval
for COVID-19 indication and license-out for mCRPC and
COVID-19 indication in various countries. At the same time,
the value of Pruxelutamide in breast cancer has also been
recognised, and its phase lc clinical research results were
disclosed at the 46th St. Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium
(SABCS 2023), the largest and most influential international
conference in the field of breast cancer, in December 2023,
and was selected as a highlight poster presentation. The study
demonstrated a manageable safety profile and encouraging anti-
tumor efficacy with Pruxelutamide plus fulvestrant in patients
with AR+/HR+/HER2- mBC who failed first-line treatment, and
may be more effective in patients with low AR/ER. Previously,
the results of the trial were also published in a poster at the 2023
European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO).
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e GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor)

GTI708F is an inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction
pathway. We are currently developing GTI708F primarily for

treatment of IPF and blood cancer.

i. IPF Indication

IPF is a chronic, progressive fibrosing interstitial pneumonia
and one of the most fatal interstitial pneumonias.
The incidence of IPF is high, but due to the relatively
unnoticeable onset and progression, most patients are
diagnosed in the moderate and advanced stages, and the
median survival time of patients from the time of diagnosis
is only 3~5 years. The global incidence rate of IPF reaches
[4 to 43 per 100,000 people. The incidence rate in China
reaches 2 to 29 per 100,000 people. It has large market
potential as one of rare diseases. GTI708F affects the
activity of Hh pathway and expression of the relevant
downstream proteins by inhibiting the activity of SMO
protein. Reactivation of the Hh signaling pathway is a feature
of fibrotic lung tissue in IPF which affects in fibroblast
migration and proliferation. Many nonclinical studies have
shown that the Hh signaling pathway played a crucial role
in IPF. According to reports, in IPF tissue, the expression of
genes or proteins such as SMO and Glil is higher than that
in normal lung tissue, and after stimulating Hh in pulmonary
fibrosis cells isolated from lung tissue of patients suffering
from IPF, the expression of SMO and Glil proteins and
genes is increased. In-vitro study showed that GTI708F
could significantly decrease the expression of Glil, Gli2 and

pulmonary fibrosis related a-SMA protein.

The results of the bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis
model on Sprague-Dawley(SD) rats showed that after
GTI1708F treatment, the damage of the terminal bronchial
wall and pulmonary arteriole wall and inflammatory cell
infiltration (in the lesion and on the edge of the lesion) were
effectively improved. Compared with the active comparator
nintedanib, different doses of GTI708F have similar
improvement effects on lung damage and inflammatory cell
infiltration. In addition, GTI708F can significantly improve
the degree of pulmonary fibrosis (P<0.00/).
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On Il October 2023, we announced GTI708F had
obtained conditional approval to conduct phase Il clinical

trial in China by NMPA for treatment of new indication of
IPF.

Blood Cancer Indication

On 8 May 2023, we announced the successful completion
of phase | clinical trial of GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO
Inhibitor) for treatment of hematologic malignancies in
China. The phase | clinical trial is a study to evaluate the
safety, tolerability, PK and preliminary efficacy of GT1708F
for treatment of patients with hematological malignancies.
A total of 18 patients were enrolled in the trial, including
I5 patients with acute myeloid leukemia (“AML’) and 3
patients with myelodysplastic syndrome (*MDS”). The
doses and enrollment were 20mg QD (I case), 40mg
QD (I case), 80mg QD (4 cases), 120mg QD (3 cases),
180mg QD (3 cases), 240mg QD (3 cases), 320mg QD
(3 cases), respectively. The results showed that all patients
experienced no dose-limiting (DLT) or drug-related
SAE. The overall safety of each dose group was good,
most TEAE were mild, and no TEAE resulted in death.
Preliminary efficacy was observed starting from [180mg
dose level in dose escalation stage for patients with AML
who failed multi-line therapies, and the myeloid blasts
decreased by up to 62% compared to the baseline in AML
patients.

The results of the trial were disclosed at the 65th Annual
Meeting of the American Society of Hematology (ASH
2023), the largest and most comprehensive international
event covering malignant and non-malignant tumor
hematology in the field of hematology, demonstrating that
GTI708F has a good safety and tolerability in patients
with myeloid malignancies, and paves the way for further

exploration of combination therapy.
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ALK-1 Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-I antibody is a fully human IgG2 neutralising monoclonal
antibody that inhibits ALK-1/TGF-f3 signal transduction and tumor
angiogenesis and a potential first-in-class antibody for which the
Company obtained an exclusive global license of ALK-1 for all the
oncological areas from Pfizer in February 2018. ALK-1 antibody
has the potential to become the first fully human monoclonal
antibody therapeutic drug for ALK-| target, which can potentially
be used in combination with PD-1 inhibitors or VEGF inhibitors

for treatment of a variety of solid tumours.

In Taiwan, China, our phase Il clinical trial of ALK-1 antibody
and Nivolumab combination therapy for treatment of advanced
HCC has completed last patient last visit on 7 July 2022. The
preliminary data showed that among the 20 evaluable patients,
8 patients (40.0%) were observed partial remission (PR). In the
U.S., we obtained IND approval for the combination therapy of
ALK-1 antibody and Nivolumab for a global multi-center phase ||
clinical trial for the second-line treatment of advanced HCC and
completed the first patient dosing. In China, we also obtained
approval for the clinical trial of combination therapy of ALK-I

antibody and Nivolumab for treatment of advanced HCC.

On 28 October 2023, we announced that the results of the
phase Ib/ll clinical trial of ALK-1 antibody combined with PD-|
antibody nivolumab in the treatment of HCC were published
online by the well-known journal BMC Medicine (Impact
factor: 11.806). This study confirmed that the combination of
GT90001 (7.0 mg/kg, every 2 weeks) and nivolumab had a
good safety profile and promising anti-tumor activity in patients
with advanced HCC, and demonstrated durable remissions and
objective responses in this population, which might be a potential

treatment option for advanced HCC.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ALK-1%v #(GT90001)

ALK-II BB R — K2 AR Mt B 7 (&
FLEE  ATHN I ALK-1/TGF- 3 13 55 85 38 A & 78
MEEK  TEEMNREHAEY - A2
A R20I8F2 AN B IR BB ALK I FT B E &
BEHMZHRBRETA o ALK-ITUEEH AJRERK
BAK-IEENEREARERENER
BEEY) - E ol FTRE S EAPD- | # I 5k VEGF
MEBEERANGEZEERE -

P9 £ P B & 3t ALK- 1371 B2 A1 Nivolumab
A8 BB HBIHCCIER RABRE &R
0026 7A7TH T 8 — B B E B RIRED
B MIXHBEBER 0B FEZHAE
B 8 (40.0%) BR R B E D & MR (PR) ° &
EE - FFIR2021F2 8 ISHEBALK- 1418
FNivolumab Bt &6 & B FIHCC — &R VR &Y
EREHRLIHEKRABOINDR E - I
PR20202F5A2HE R BBl BE 4B - £
C BAP TR AR2021 FI0 A9 R B ALK- 13188
F Nivolumab B & & & B8 HAHCC R #E A -

20235 10H288 * BHPIEMALK- I BB S
PD-I EBHUABHCCHIb/IERR IR & RE
BEAEHTGBMCEBENEZE T 11.806)
R R - HARFBE - GT90001(7.0mg/kg
B2E—IR)MPD- 1 EH B &8 FE B HAHCC
BEABRIOMNTEZMMEREN &
ZABER T LA B R B RE AR R 4R
it BERABBREIHCCEEMBE AR
#o



Other Clinical and Pre-Clinical Stage Products

GT0486
GT0486 is an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signaling pathway

and a second generation mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
developing GT0486 primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and HCC.
We have received the IND approval from NMPA for GT0486

and completed phase | clinical trial.

C-Myc Molecular Glue

Developing drugs that directly target the Myc protein is
extremely difficult, so there are currently no Myctarget drugs
globally, and only few drugs have entered the clinical stage. Our
c-Myc molecular glue has significant R&D potential and has been
published in many core journals/conferences. On 13 March 2024,
we announced the research has been published in a subsidiary
journal of Nature—Nature Communications (impact factor: 16.6).
This article analyses the mechanism of MYC that induces CDK4/6
inhibitors resistance and introduces A80.2HCI, a promising c-Myc
molecular glue compound in-house developed by the Company,
to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of CDK4/6 inhibitors. In
ASH 2023 and ASH 2022, studies of c-Myc molecular glue were
published twice, demonstrating its excellent potential in the

treatment of tumors.

In addition to the drug candidates described above, we are also at

the discovery stage for the development of other potential drug

candidates, including compound of other targets out of PROTAC
platform and ALK-1/VEGF bispecific antibody for the treatment

of multiple indications such as blood cancer and solid tumours,

respectively.
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WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING
RULES: WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR DRUG CANDIDATES
(INCLUDING OUR CORE PRODUCTS) SUCCESSFULLY

R&D

We have established an integrated R&D platform to support our
drug development programmes from discovery to clinical trials. We
conduct proprietary laboratory research to identify and select new
compounds as our potential drug candidates, and we manage our drug
development process primarily using our internal R&D resources to

ensure that the quality standards we have set internally will be met.

Through the development of AR inhibitors, we have accumulated
significant expertise in AR-related know-how and have developed
a leading AR technology platform. We believe that we have
accumulated industry-leading expertise in the field of AR signaling
pathway, molecule design and PK/PD modelling. Leveraging our AR
technology platform, we have developed KX-826 in China and the
U.S., and results of clinical trials have proved that the drug has a good
safety profile. For AGA patients, continuously use of KX-826 for 6
months can increase the mean non-vellus TAHC by up to 22.7 per
cm? from baseline with a remarkable therapeutic effect. For acne
patients, previous clinical trials of KX-826 have also demonstrated its

preliminary efficacy.

PROTAC is a novel drug discovery technology for targeting and/
or degrading target protein. The molecular weight of PROTAC
compound is relatively large, resulting in low oral bioavailability, which
limits their oral druggability, so we are currently giving priority to the
development of topical compounds. Based on PROTAC platform,
we are currently developing GT20029 for AGA and acne vulgaris.
GT20029 is the first topical PROTAC compound globally that has
entered phase Il clinical stage. We are also preparing to conduct
clinical trials for acne. We possess molecule glue technology for
targeting and/or degrading undruggable and oncogene mutant drivers

that drive the resistance to the targeted therapies.
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In addition to the two Core Products for dermatology above, we also
have another four products in the clinical stage through years of R&D
accumulation. Previous clinical trials have verified that such products
have good safety profile and demonstrate efficacy, and a number
of research results have been published in large conferences and/or
important journals, showing their excellent value and providing further
guidance for drug development in related fields (such as liver cancer,
multiple solid tumors, etc.). Our products can be enhanced through
combination, so we are further exploring their value through co-

development or licensing-out to provide patients with more options.

Our R&D work is led by Dr. TONG and several experienced
scientists who have accumulated decades of pharmaceutical R&D
and entrepreneurship experience in reputable pharma and biotech
companies in the world and together provide us with integrated

expertise covering small molecule, biologics, and compound design.

MANUFACTURING AND
COMMERCIALISATION

We plan to use our in-house production and R&D base for the
manufacture of our final products. As at the date of this report, we
had not commercialised any of our drug candidates. We are actively
exploring the commercialisation path of our Core Products in the
field of dermatology, and plan to cooperate to prepare for the

commercialisation of our remaining products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

We currently have no drugs approved for commercial sale and
have not generated any revenue from drug sales for the year ended
31 December 2023. Our loss and total comprehensive loss were
RMB954.4 million and RMBI,060.8 million for the years ended 3|
December 2022 and 2023, respectively. Our operating losses mainly
resulted from R&D costs (including the provision for inventories,
impairment of intangible assets and impairment of property, plant and
equipment) and administrative expenses (including the impairment of

property, plant and equipment).
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Cost of Sales

We recorded a cost of sales of RMB42.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, mainly from impairment of property, plant and
equipment. We did not record any cost of sales for the years ended
31 December 2022.

Other Income and Expenses

Our other income and expenses primarily consisted of government
grants and interest income from bank balances and time deposits. Our
other income and expenses increased RMB2.3 million or 12.4% from
RMBI8.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB20.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2023, which was mainly
attributable to (i) a RMBI.8 million increase in interest income from
increased time deposits purchased during the year; and (i) a RMB4.4
million increase in interest income from bank balances with higher
interest rates, which was partly offset by a decrease in government

subsidy income.

Marketing Costs

Our marketing costs primarily consisted of salaries and other benefits
of our sales and marketing team and administrative expenses
(including business trip expenses and other business development
expenses). Our marketing costs decreased by RMBI3.3 million or
65.5% from RMB20.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to RMB7.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
mainly attributable to the reduction in the number of employees
in the sales and marketing team, resulting in the reduced costs of

compensation and equity incentives for its employees.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses during the Reporting Period primarily
consisted of (i) employee benefit expenses, which primarily comprised
compensation for management and executives (including share-based
compensation expenses relating to the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme); (i) utilities and office expenses; (iii) depreciation and
amortisation, which primarily comprised depreciation of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in relation to properties for
administrative use; (iv) impairment of property, plant and equipment;
and (v) other miscellaneous administrative expenses such as repair and
maintenance expenses, professional advisory expenses, and materials

and consumables used.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our administrative

expenses, by amount and as a percentage of our total administrative

expenses, for the years indicated:
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For the year ended 31 December

TREINRFARFE
BEBEDLE DT

BZNA3IALEE

BB METRAX
B SRR AR

2023 2022
20235 2022%F
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARB T % AR®TT %
Employee benefit expenses & 8 4& F| 1 &% 38,933 43.7 50,114 379
Add: share-based AR A ER S
compensation expenses B B 2 10,655 12.0 29,789 22.5
Employee benefit expenses  {&E B 1& | F X
(including share-based (BFREARNDBERD
compensation expenses) ) 49,588 55.7 79,903 604
Utilities and office expenses 7K E & & it A X2
(Note) (M 3E) 16,151 18.1 19,328 14.6
Depreciation and & &
amortisation 9,173 10.3 8,878 6.7
Impairment losses of M- BEK
property, plant and H AR E
equipment 2,646 3.0 — —
Others HAth 11,487 12.9 24,140 18.3
Total et 89,045 100.0 132,249 100.0
Note: The line item “utilities and office expenses” included short-term and low-value Mizr: DREEBRBARAXIBEEBLREAEESHRIEE

lease rental expenses incurred by the Group.
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Our administrative expenses decreased by RMB43.2 million or 32.7%
from RMBI32.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to
RMB89.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
mainly attributable to (i) a RMB33.5 million decrease in employee
benefit expenses, utilities and office expenses, primarily due to the
reduced number of employees, and (i) a RMBI2.7 million decrease
in other administrative expenses primarily relating to the decrease
in the repair and maintenance expenses incurred for our self-
owned properties, and the decrease in our professional advisory
expenses such as legal consulting fees, as well as the decrease in
our materials and consumables expenses. As the commercialisation
of Pruxelutamide and KX-826 was delayed, the Company believes
that there are signs of impairment in the property, plant and special
equipment related to Pruxelutamide and KX-826, and engaged
an independent third-party appraiser to conduct the impairment
test ("impairment test on property, plant and special
equipment’”), based on the results of which an impairment of

RMB2.6 million was included in administrative expenses.

Our administrative expenses, excluding impairment losses, decreased
by RMB45.8 million or 34.6% from RMBI32.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to RMB86.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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R&D Costs
Our R&D costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted

of (i) provision for inventories, impairment of intangible assets and
impairment of property, plant and equipment; (ii) clinical research
expenses, which primarily consisted of fees paid to CROs for
clinical trials and the hospitals in which we conducted our clinical
trials; (iii) materials and consumables used in connection with our
R&D; (iv) employee benefit expenses, which primarily consisted
of compensation to R&D personnel (including the share-based
compensation expenses for the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme);
(V) third-party contracting fees, which primarily consisted of fees paid
to CROs and CMOs for purposes of preclinical trials; and (vi) other
R&D costs, which primarily consisted of utilities and office expenses in
relation to R&D use, depreciation of right-of-use assets in relation to
our leased properties for R&D use and depreciation of our laboratory
equipment. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our R&D
costs, by amount and as a percentage of our total R&D costs, for the

periods indicated:
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For the year ended 31 December

BZ1NAIBLEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®T % ARBTIT %
Provision for inventories (Note) 17 & & (B & % (I} ) 603,879 64.3 92,986 1.2
Impairment losses of property,  #1% - BB & & &R (E
plant and equipment £ 2,608 0.3 — —
Impairment losses of BVEE
intangible assets BB E 86,589 9.2 — —
Clinical research expenses b PR B 70 7 2 89,783 9.6 410,028 49.5
Materials and consumables MR R
expenses M X 12,198 1.3 109,766 13.3
Employee benefit expenses EERAAX 94,719 10.1 98,848 119
Add: share-based compensation Il : LABR 15 2 E it &9
expenses B BA 2 19,767 2.1 57,229 7.0
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX
(including share-based (BHEARORER
compensation expenses) B & B 5 2 ) 114,486 12.2 156,077 18.9
Third party contracting fees F=ZHEHEHR 11,622 1.2 35,787 4.3
Others HAh 17,742 1.9 23,330 2.8
Total #mat 938,907 100.0 827974 100.0
BRBEEERAR
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Note: Inventories were mainly raw materials and intermediates related to
Pruxelutamide. As at 31 December 2023, the gross amounts of inventories were
RMB603,879,000. During the year ended 3| December 2023, the COVID-19
epidemic has relatively subsided since the beginning of 2023, and global
prevention and control measures have gradually removed, and it is expected that
there is less likelihood of a resurgence of large drug demand due to the epidemic
in the short term. In addition, the COVID-19 oral small molecule drug market is
very competitive, and a number of COVID-19 small molecule drugs have been
approved for marketing in the global and China markets. The Company has
voluntarily suspended the clinical expenditure of Pruxelutamide in COVID-I9.
In addition, the Company has carried out assessment and concluded that
there was no net realizable value of those inventories. Thus, the Group made
a full provision for inventories on the marketability, costs to be incurred and
expectation with reference to historical usage and future usage plan, which were
recognised as an expense (included in “R&D costs”) during the year ended 3|
December 2023.

Our R&D costs increased slightly by RMBI10.9 million or 13.4%
from RMB828.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to RMB938.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
increase in R&D costs was mainly attributable to: (i) RMB603.9 million
for provision for inventories was included in the R&D costs; (i) in
accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards, intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives or not ready for use should be tested for
impairment annually regardless of whether an impairment indicator
exist. The Company engaged an independent third-party appraiser
to conduct impairment test on intangible assets (“impairment test
on intangible assets’). The key assumptions used for impairment
test include discount rate, revenue growth rate for the stable period,
revenue growth rate for the declining period, market penetration
rate, success rate of commercialisation and forecasted percentage of
costs and operating expenses. Based on the results of impairment
test on intangible assets, RMB86.6 million for impairment of intangible
assets was included in the R&D cost; and (iii) based on the results of
impairment test on property, plant and special equipment, RMB2.6
million for impairment of property, plant and special equipment
related to Pruxelutamide and KX-826 was included in the R&D
cost, partially offset by: (i) a decrease of RMB320.2 million in clinical
research expenses primarily paid to hospitals and CROs in relation to
clinical trials for Pruxelutamide for the COVID-19 indication; and (ii)
an decrease of RMB41.6 million in R&D employee benefit expenses

mainly due to the reduction of our R&D staff.

Our R&D costs (excluding the impact of impairment and provision)
decreased by RMB489.2 million or 66.6% from RMB735.0 million as at
31 December 2022 to RMB245.8 million as at 31 December 2023.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Miad: FEXTEARLTRERMAENENETHE B
202312 A3I8 - AR FE A A R%603,879,000
JC ° EEE2023F 1A BEMERE R » COVID-19%
EE2023F VLA REBEEN - 2O ERER
BEER EERAAREBERARBERT
SKEYREMERR /N o SN - COVID-I9A RN T B
MEHEFHZ - 2HMPABTISEE R Z5KCOVID-19
NN FEYEM] LT - AREEEETYRERE
COVID-19MBR IR H - ARIBAFTHEFSEHLER
GEMAERFEAZT - Al ' RRIRETES
FERABRMARERTE  EXERBEHEME - &
— SR AMKREHRNZR HFEEFIRE2E
BB - Kt ARM603,879,0007T © & £2023
FRANBMFEAEAEBRA((MRERRER])

BRI K ABE E2002F2A3IHIEFE
A R®S82808 &L MARKIIOEE T
HIBABEBH E203FNANBIEEEMARE
9389B AT c BN ARNEMEEHNATRIA
Frs: (W FEETIRARKOIIAE THEE
BET AT B A (VR IEBRBRM S RE S E
AlMEsk - SR M T EREEFTETEHEN
BVEE EwmcsdFCRETR 8F5%24
BT -RREAR  BEERBTE=78T
FEMEEEEEATREIAX((EREEER
BAR) FZ2HFE-MRE - HERA
BEXAETH)  HEWAERE(TEE) -
MS2EE -HEKDE  HEXNAREXE
RAEERALE - REEREERBENHLE
R OHEFREENIRARKE S OHBILRER
AFRBERA: R(iVBEME - MERFEARE
BEAFANER BT T8 AMKX-82645
WYE - BEAZARETRARKGEST
WEGTARERAR - FoWUATEIEAEE:
HWERARHERZBIARK02EET  BH
MY EZEHNHE R EBRAECOVID-19E fEE
ETHRAAR  SXNTERIUKCROMEHR
B RV R EERFRAZIRIARK4 .68
BT FTEHRBEMHABAERD -

EMRRENMKELE  RMVAEXNTBE
2200FNRANALFENARE735.08 BT
DARBEA89.2E &8 TT 5066.6% = B £ 2023F 12 A
SIHM A REE2458H & T ©



Other (Losses)/Gains — Net
We had other losses of RMB2.9 million for the year ended 3l

December 2023 primarily as a result of net foreign exchange losses
due to exchange rate movement. We had other gains of RMBI74

million for the year ended 3| December 2022.

Finance Costs

As at the date of this report, our finance costs primarily consisted of
interest expense from bank borrowings. Our finance costs increased
by RMBI.5 million or 18.3% from RMB8.2 million for the year
ended 3| December 2022 to RMB9.7 million for the year ended 3l
December 2023, which was mainly attributable to the increase in

interest expense from borrowing.

Income Tax Credit/(Expenses)

Our income tax credit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB8.0 million, which was attributable to the decrease of deferred
income tax liabilities of RMB7.8 million and overprovision of income
tax in prior year of RMB0.2 million. Our income tax expenses for
the year ended 3| December 2022 was RMBI.I million, which
was income tax expense paid for service fee received by Kintor
Pharmaceuticals Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from

the Company for the purpose of general R&D activities in the U.S.

Net Loss for the Reporting Period

Our net loss increased by RMBI06.4 million or 1.1% from RMB954.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMBI,060.8 million
for the year ended 3| December 2023.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards, the
Company also uses adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for
the Reporting Period and other adjusted figures as additional financial
measures, which are not required by, or presented in accordance
with, the IFRS Accounting Standards. The Company believes that
these adjusted measures provide useful information to Shareholders
and potential investors in understanding and evaluating the Group's
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help

the Company's management.
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Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
represents the loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting
Period excluding the effect of certain non-cash items, namely the
share-based compensation expenses. The term adjusted loss and total
comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period is not defined under
the IFRS Accounting Standard. The use of this non-IFRS Accounting
Standard measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and it should
not be considered in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, the
Group's results of operations or financial condition as reported under
the IFRS Accounting Standards. The Company’s presentation of such
adjusted figure may not be comparable to a similarly titled measure
presented by other companies. However, the Company believes that
this and other non-IFRS Accounting Standard measures reflect the
Group's normal operating results by eliminating impacts of items that
the management do not consider to be indicative of the Group’s
operating performance, and thus facilitate comparison of operating
performance form period to period and company to company to the

extent applicable.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss and
total comprehensive loss for the year to adjusted loss and total

comprehensive loss for the years indicated:

BEHRLHBRBER2ABEAREREH
MOEBEEEE2HEBRAER  TeRETHRE
HE (BIUARD SERNFHASOINZE - B
R RESTEN L RS RENELHERS
BhkeEBEBAEE —AFELRTE - £H%FE
R BBREEARFEBERONIEREAR
PRI WAERER/BUNKAIREAREER
EERMBE RS RAM2RNEEXEL
M RAN DN - RRABIAEINZZRHAE
BEAVABEMAB 2N BUTEER
ML - A ARARR R EREEMIFEERRM
BHREeTERFENRBEREEERAT
ERRASEEERANBABNZE - RBRA
SENERKZ2RE KEMAPHREEREE
NEBTEHABRTIEARMNEERR -

TREJINATIFEFABEMNZAEEAR

HERAKHEBEMNZABIRAENER:

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2023 2022
20235 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETET

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FABBREZEEEBE (1,060,820) (954,369)
Added: hn:
Share-based compensation expenses (Note) BB 17 73 2 0 69 %7 B 7 % (WY at) 22,989 95,636
Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss FRKRABEER

for the year THEEAE (1,037,831) (858,733)

Note: This expense represents the grant of restricted share units to selected executives
and employees, which is a non-cash item and is not directly related to the
underlying performance of the Company'’s business operations.
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Employees and Renumeration Policies

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by
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B & K%M BUX
TREHNRMZBES DN EEHA:

function:
As of 31 December 2023
E=2023F12A31H
As a
Number of percentage of
employees total
HEAE
EBEAH™ Bat
Core management B E R 7 3.1%
Clinical e PR 68 30.2%
R&D fiff % 62 27.6%
Manufacturing EE 32 14.2%
Commercial [EES]e 10 4.5%
Project management HEER 14 6.2%
Others HAt 32 14.2%
Total et 225 100.0%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 225 full time
employees, among whom, the total staff with clinical and R&D
mission accounted for 57.8%. We generally formulate our employees’
remuneration package to include basic salary, position-specific salary,
performance-based remuneration, project-based remuneration and
various allowances. We conduct periodic performance reviews for
our employees. We have also adopted the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme to retain and incentivise our key management and staff.

Contingent liabilities

In 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent

liabilities.

2023 12A31IH - AE B HB2E2 2B E
B Hi r BAKFAEBERERELAZBELS
578% c BRI BEH TEREFM AR BEE
ATE BEBEIE REHWGFH - BB
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits consisted of deposits
with banks and cash on hand. As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash
equivalents and time deposits were RMB456.3 million (31 December
2022: RMB875.3 million). The decrease was primarily attributable (i)
to pay administrative and administrative costs; (i) to cover R&D and
clinical costs; and (iii) to payment of materials costs and the balance of

previous contracts.

The current ratio (total current assets as a percentage of total current
liabilities) of the Group decreased from 474.0% as at 3| December
2022 to 210.3% as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to decrease
in cash and cash equivalents and provision for inventory during the

Reporting Period.

As at 31 December 2023, we had utilised bank facilities of RMB247.1

million and unutilised bank facilities of RMBI10.5 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions or
Disposals

As at 31 December 2023, there were no significant investments
held by the Company nor any material acquisitions or disposals of

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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Cash Flow

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated

statements of cash flows for the years indicated:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N
RERE
TREINRFARFERERMNGEREREERM
E:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET AREFT
Cash used in operations KEFTAR® (385,354) (960,267)
Income tax paid EfAED (294) (905)
Net interest paid EARRPUPSREEE] (1,933) (88)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBAREFRE (387,581) (961,260)
Net cash generated from in investing activities RETBMER e F5 3,274 67,195
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BMEEE (A FEHRELFHE
activities (33,463) 815,750
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBEFEBMRDFR 417,770) (78,315)
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of FNRERREEEY
the year 864,470 926,331
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash RekBHaEFEDHN
equivalents PE X (B 1R), %= (2,673) 16,454
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRIR S MRS EZFEY 444,027 864,470

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the Reporting Period, we derived our cash inflows from
government subsidies and bank interest income. Our net cash

used in operating activities mainly consisted of R&D expenses and

administrative expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash used in
operating activities was RMB387.6 million, consisting of RMB385.4
million of cash used in operations, interest paid on borrowings of
RMBI2.I million, interest received on bank balances of RMBI0.2

REZBMARESFE
REBEHRE - RACEEDORSRALER
B R A H8 B) R SR AT F B A « B AE & R B A
ARSFRIERRMEMIRITEMAX -

HE2023FN2ANBIEFEE @ HANEEEBT
AR FEAARENIEST  BREKEH
HAIRe ARMISSAEETT ENERFEAR

BRLBEET ABTEHKUIMOMNBARY

million and income tax paid of RMBO0.3 million.

I02EB T RENAMERARKIIEETT ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWED T

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our net cash used in
operating activities was RMB961.3 million, consisting of RMB960.3
million of cash used in operations, interest paid on borrowings of
RMBI10.0 million, interest received on bank balances of RMB9.9 million

and income tax paid of RMBO0.9 million.

Net Cash Generated from Investing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to investing
activities primarily reflected purchases of time deposits and financial

products.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB3.3 million, which primarily consisted
of proceeds received upon maturity of certain time deposits with
maturities of over three months and disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of RMBI37.7 million, partially offset by:
(i) the purchase of time deposits with a maturity date of more than
three months and financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss of RMBI37.1 million; (i) the purchase of R&D equipment of
RMB2.7 million; and (i) the withdrawal of deposits for purchasing

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RMB5.2 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB67.2 million, which primarily
consisted of proceeds received upon maturity of certain time deposits
with maturities of over three months and disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of RMB337.8 million, partially offset
by: (i) purchase of equipment of RMB27.5 million for our Suzhou plant
to expand its capacity; (i) purchase of time deposits with maturities of
over three months and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of RMB220.7 million; (iii) purchase of intangible assets arising from
the payment of new modules of enterprise resource planning (ERP)
software of RMBO0.2 million; and (iv) payments for restricted cash of
RMB4.0 million resulting from payments of deposits for our financial
products; and (v) the investment in the joint venture was RMBI8.5

million.

Net Cash Generated from Financing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to financing
activities primarily reflected proceeds from bank loans and repayment

of bank borrowings.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, our net cash used
in financing activities was RMB33.5 million. Cash generated from
financing activities primarily consisted of: (i) proceeds from borrowings
of RMB70.0 million; and (ii) proceeds of shares vested and transferred
to the grantee under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme amounted
to RMBO.8 million. Cash used in financing activities primarily consisted
of: (i) the repayment of bank borrowings of RMB99.4 million; and (ii)
payment of lease liabilities of RMB4.8 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our net cash generated
from financing activities was RMB815.8 million, which primarily
consisted of (i) proceeds from the 2022 Top-up Placing | and the 2022
Top-up Placing Il amounted to RMB697.8 million; (i) proceeds from
borrowings of RMBI70.0 million; and (iii) proceeds of shares vested
and transferred to the grantee under the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme amounted to RMBI.0 million, partially offset by (i) repayment
of borrowings of RMB48.4 million; and (ii) payment of lease liabilities
of RMB4.6 million.

Financial Position

Our net current assets decreased from RMBI,189.7 million as at
31 December 2022 to RMB247.8 million as at 31 December 2023,
primarily due to an increase in borrowings, decrease in cash and cash

equivalents, and provision for inventories.

Current assets decreased from RMBI,507.9 million as at 31 December
2022 to RMB472.6 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the

decrease in cash and cash equivalents and the provision for inventory.

Significant Change in Accounting Policy

There was no significant change in accounting policy during the

Reporting Period.
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Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB83.0 million which
were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress, unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMBI44.] million
and short-term bank borrowings of RMB20.0 million. In the balance of
our bank borrowings, RMBI13.7 million is repayable within one year or

on demand.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB91.5 million which
were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction
in progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMBI45.0
million and short-term bank borrowings of RMB40.0 million. In the
balance of our bank borrowings, RMB98.9 million is repayable within

one year or on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents are more than
total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing ratio is not

applicable.

Financial Risks

The Group is exposed to various types of financial risks: market risks
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant financial assets or liabilities of the Group denominated in
the currencies other than the functional currency, except for cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash and time deposits at bank in USD
and HKD which were primarily received from the investors as capital
contributions.
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Cash flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. We have no significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities, except for lease liabilities, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and borrowings. Those
carried at floating rates expose us to cash flow interest rate risk
whereas those carried at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest

rate risk.

Our interest rate risk mainly arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk. As
at 31 December 2023, our borrowings are measured at fixed rates,

which exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Our management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulting from the changes in interest rates, because
the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to change

significantly.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products. The carrying amounts of receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum exposure to credit

risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and
wealth management products since they are substantially deposited
at or purchased from state-owned banks and other medium or large-
sized foreign banks. Management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties

and the loss allowance provision is considered immaterial.
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Management has assessed that during the Reporting Period, other
receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk since
their initial recognition. Therefore, a 12-month expected credit loss
approach that results from possible default event within 12 months of
each reporting date is adopted by management. As at 31 December
2023, other receivables mainly comprise deposits to lessors in
respect of the Group's leased properties and refunds receivable from

suppliers.

Management expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with other receivables since the counterparties have no history of
default. Accordingly, the expected credit loss of other receivables is

considered immaterial.

Liquidity Risk
The Group finances its working capital requirements through the
issue of new shares, borrowings and government grants. Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve on the basis

of expected cash flow.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the ability to apply for credit facilities
if necessary. We had net current assets of RMB247.8 million as at 31
December 2023. We are able to meet our financial obligations and
fund our R&D activities through our cash on hand and consecutive

capital raising activities.

CHARGE ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 3|1 December 2023, certain land use right, buildings and
construction in progress were pledged for the Group’s borrowings
amounting to RMB83,000,000 (31 December 2022: RMB91,500,000).
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS FOR INTANGIBLE
ASSETS NOT YET READY FOR USE

As stated in Note |5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company recognised an impairment loss of approximately RMB86.6
million (2022: nil) on intangible assets not yet ready for use for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The asset impairment was supported
by an independent appraiser. Save as disclosed in Note |5, further

information regarding the impairment loss is set out below:

Reasons for and the Circumstances Leading to the
Impairment Loss

The Company recorded an impairment loss on intangible assets due

to the following reasons:

*  The Company has two core products in the dermatology field,
including KX-826 and GT20029, and will allocate more resources
to this area in future developments. Consequently, investment in

non-dermatology fields will be approached with greater caution;

*  Some of the Company’s pipelines are in the early stages, such as
c-Myc, which is in the preclinical stage, and GT90008, which is in
phase | clinical trials. These projects are expected to rely heavily
on out-licensing and co-development strategies. As of the date
of this report, there are no definitive out-licensing agreements or

co-development partners for these pipelines;

*  The topline results of phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826 for male
AGA in China have been read out. KX-826 can promote
hair growth compared to baseline, with statistical significance
(P<0.0001). Compared with placebo, there was TAHC
improvement at all visit points in KX-826 group with no statistical
significance, but a trend in efficacy was observed. Thus, the time

for its commercialization will be postponed.
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Key Value of Inputs Used and Assumptions
Adopted in the Valuation

As required under the Group’s accounting policies on intangible
assets not yet ready for use, the Company’s management is required
to perform an annual impairment test based on the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the intangible
asset is related. The impairment assessment process involves
Company's management estimation on the expected future cash
flow, associated growth rates and discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the intangible assets. The key value of inputs used in the valuations
to determine the amount of the impairment on intangible assets, the
basis and assumptions adopted has been disclosed in Note |5 to the
consolidated financial statements, which are summarised and further

elaborated as below:

(i) The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal ("FVLCOD"”) and the value in use (“VIU")
using discounted cash flow model. Calculation was based
on the expected future cash flow projections prepared by
the Company. The basis of cash flow projections of the
cash-generating units was based on reasonable assumptions of
financial performance projections that represent management's
estimate.
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(i) Certain major inputs and key assumptions adopted in the (i)

valuations are listed as follows:
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RERLRANTIEZEARE A RBARRKRE
WRRIIR

Reason(s) for the change

SRR

post-tax discount rate being applied
in 2022 and the pre-tax discount
rate in 2023 (19%, given that the
phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826

did not demonstrate a statistically
significant improvement in TAHC
compared to the placebo, the
post-tax discount rate has been
adjusted to reflect a 1% increase)

KX-826
KX-826
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY202I the Board in FY2022
(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference
Ezg Ezg
20218 R202281
& 920225 & ®2023 5
BERE BBRE
Fi BRER NnERBRE) NBEHEEE) 22
\ Discount Rate 18.0% 22.6% Weighted average cost of capital based on those  The selected rates varied, with the
of the comparable companies as well as
territory specific factors, such as risk free
interest rate, market risk premium, debt
ratio prevailing in relevant market and risk
premium of intangible assets
BEE 18.0% 6% MEFHEARARENALAFMER

RANRBERZRE  MEMRF
2 mSEAREE  BETHTHER
LERNEVEERREE

BIUEERR  WNEAREER
B OOBEARAHREQD
FMBBBBREAN% Z8
BlKx-826= Hfe R A B TAHCER
ZREAL ZEEHHEL
REHNBEN HAHRERE
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KX-826
KX-826
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY2021 the Board in FY2022
(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference Reason(s) for the change
Ezg Ezg
20218 F R20228 %
#E #2022 & ®20235
BBEE BBRE
Fi BRER NnERBRE) NBEHFEE) 22 SRR
2 Revenue growth rate for 54%~244% 22.30% The growth rate of forecast revenues intwo ~ no significant change
the stable period consecutive periods calculated based

1 BEENREERE

3 Revenue growth rate for
the declining period

3 EREMkGERE

4 Market penetration rate
4 TWHEEX

5 Success rate of
commercialisation

5 BEMRHE

54%~244%

NA

0.0%~7.5%

0.0%~7.5%
66.5%

66.5%
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22.30%

NA

0.02%~7.2%

0.02%~7.2%
54.00%

54.00%

on expected number of corresponding

indication, selling price, length of treatment
and market penetration rate with judgments
related to commercialisation period
ERNERARIHE HEER ARE
PNmHEEXNES  REFR(LH
BENAE AEEERMARSRNE
ARAZRRE
The growth rate of forecast revenues in two
consecutive periods calculated based
on expected number of corresponding

indication, selling price, length of treatment

and market penetration rate with judgments

related to commercialisation period
ENREAREYE HEER 0RE EE
BNTE2ERNES  REFRLH

BB HE - 5

EEEmERRNR

AU AR

Management estimation on the basis of similar

products in market segments
EREERTSANPRUERM{EE

Multiplier of each R&D stages’ success rate

of progress to next stage from new
drug clinical trial application to successful
commercialisation based on latest actual
R&D progress

CREELES

no significant change

no significant change

ERER(

The management re-evaluated the
success rate given that the phase
NIl clinical trial of KX-826 did
not demonstrate a statistically
significant improvement in TAHC
compared to the placebo
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KX-826
KX-826
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY2021 the Board in FY2022
(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference Reason(s) for the change
Ezg Ezg
R20218H £ R202281 &
#ER20226F HEM203E
BERE HERE
F¥ BRER NnEnEEE) NBEREEE) 2% 2HRA
6 Percentage of costs and 47.2%~1514% 44.7%~240.2% Percentage of costs and operating expenses of ~ Compared to the placebo, the

operating expenses

6 HANREERIML 47.2%~151 4%

7 First Commercialization FY2025
Year

7 ERERLNEE 20058 F

8 Recoverable amount of 451319
CGU (in RMB '000)

8 ReEsEfumKE 451319

SRARETT)

44.7%~240.2%

FY2026

200681 F

124173

124173

revenue based on corresponding figures of
comparable companies

improvement in TAHC during the
phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826 did
not reach statistical significance.
Consequently, the Company has
allocated significant resources

to the development of KX-826,
resulting in a substantial increase in
expenses

BEULARNERIE RANEEE ZEIKX626=HER KA RTAHC

REERANED

Output of each valuation model

BERERLNER

BRBERANL ZRERGE
ERENBEMN  ADARIR
BREITZHRKK826% R
% REBREERA
Commercialization will be postponed
as of the valuation date given that
the phase Ill clinical trial of KX-826
did not demonstrate a statistically
significant improvement in TAHC
compared to the placebo
ZBEIKX-826= BB RFABTAHCE
REHAL EREGHEL
AENBEEMN B ERHEE
ERBXCEREEARARE
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c-Myc
c-Myc
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY2021 the Board in FY2022
(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference Reason(s) for the change
Ezg Ezg
20218 F R202281
#EM2022% & ®20235
BERE BBRE
Fi BRER NnERBRE) NBEHEEE]) 22 SRR
\ Discount Rate 200% 24.2% Weighted average cost of capital based on those  The selected rates varied, with the
of the comparable companies as well as post-tax discount rate being applied
territory specific factors, such as risk free in 2022 and the pre-tax discount
interest rate, market risk premium, debt rate in 2023 (with the post-tax
ratio prevailing in relevant market and risk discount rate for 2023 being 20.0%)
premium of intangible assets
BAE 200% 12% MEFHEARARERAHARANAR ERERTR WNEAREMS
RADERERZRY mERARN X 0BFARMMERE03
R -TEERLE BRETSTHES  FORKMERR00%)
LENENEERRRE
2 Revenue growth rate for 22%~19% 1.8%~7.5% The growth rate of forecast revenuesintwo  no significant change
the stable period consecutive periods calculated based

on expected number of corresponding
indication, selling price, length of treatment
and market penetration rate with judgments
related to commercialisation period

2 BREANRERRE 2.2%~7%% |8%~75% ENARERENE HEER AFR BRER(L
BNmHEEXNES  REFR(LH
RENHE AEEEMBARENE

L ON: o3
3 Revenue growth rate for -8.0%~-1.5% -59%~-1.8% The growth rate of forecast revenuesintwo  no significant change
the declining period consecutive periods calculated based

on expected number of corresponding
indication, selling price, length of treatment
and market penetration rate with judgments
related to commercialisation period

3 RERANKEERE -8.0%~-1.5% 59%~-18% ENAEERESE HEER ARE BRERL
HNmEERRNES  REBRLH
BENAE AEEERARSENE

ARAERE

4 Market penetration rate 0.1%~44% 0.1%~44% Management estimation on the basis of similar o significant change
products in market segments

4 THEER 01%-~44% 01%-44% EEEERTHANTAUERMAT ERER(L
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

c-Myc

c-Myc
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY202I the Board in FY2022

EEENWED T

(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference Reason(s) for the change
Ezg Ezg
20218 & R20228 %
#2026 & ®20235
BBEE BBRE
Fi BRRR NnERBRE) NBEHFEE]) 22 2HRR
5 Success rate of 7.6% 430% Muttiplier of each R&D stages' success rate Due to the Company's more cautious
commercialisation of progress to next stage from new investment in non-dermatological
drug clinical trial application to successful fields in 2024, the investment for
commercialisation based on latest actual ¢-Myc is expected to decrease
R&D progress compared to 2022, and the
progress of ¢-Myc will be slower. By
the valuation date, the successful
rate of its commercialization has
declined
5 BELHANE 7.6% 430% RESHOERTLER  KHERRA ARAARN0UEREEMIN

REFIAKDEXRCHOSEREER

HRYEHRE

6 Percentage of costs and 48.1%~129.8%
operating expenses

comparable companies

6 RANREERXEY 48.1%~129.8%

RERANED

48.1%~134.5% Percentage of costs and operating expenses of
revenue based on corresponding figures of

BREHNRACENEE
I He My A DR AR 2002E
BHEMRS BEERNRE
BIZHEREAFELKID
EEMTR

no significant change

481%~1345% BRETHARNERSEE RANELE EBEE(
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4R 2023



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWED T
c-Myc
c-Myc
2022 financial 2023 financial
budget approved by budget approved by
the Board in FY2021 the Board in FY2022
(2022 Financial (2023 Financial
No.  Key assumptions Budget”) Budget”) Reference Reason(s) for the change
Ezg gzg
20218 & R20228 %
#E #2022 & ®20235
BBEE BBRE
Fi BRRR NnERBRE) NBEHFEE]) 22 2HRR
7 First Commercialization FY2030 FY2031 Due to the Company's more cautious
Year investment in non-dermatological

fields in 2024, the investment for
¢Myc is expected to decrease
compared to 2022, and the
progress of ¢-Myc will be slower.
Commercialization will be
postponed as of the valuation date
7 BRARLHFR 203081 % 031815 HRARR M B ERM IR
EHBENRAGEMEER R
I He My A DA 2002E
REBMAY  BRERNE
BIEREAERARIRR

HERAKE
8 Recoverable amount of 423 — Output of each valuation model.
CGU (in RMB '000)
8§  BReELENMTRE 4231 — BEBERENER
SRARETT)
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Underlying Valuation Methodology
AVISTA Valuation Advisory Limited (the "Appraiser”), the engaged

independent professional appraiser adopted income approach known
as the discounted cash flow method to perform fair value less cost of
disposal and value in use analysis in accordance with the requirement
of International Accounting Standard 36. As the intangible assets not
yet ready for use had no stand-alone selling price and active market,
the Appraisers adopted the cash flow estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions as stated above, and assessed the
expected recoverable amounts through income approach, which was

the same assessment method used in the previous period.

As at 31 December 2023, the management of the Company had
set up a cash flow forecasts including future investments covering
a period based on reasonable and supportable assumptions. These
assumptions and estimates are considered reliable and are supported
by management'’s research and analysis based on industry information
and data specific to the industry in which each CGU operates.
Management reviews business performance of each CGU. The
recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use calculations of the
underlying assets with reference to valuation reports issued by an
independent appraiser. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in fair

value hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

The Company would continue to comply with the accounting
standards and accounting policies to perform impairment reviews so

as to ensure the financial statements are true and fairly stated.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

As stated in Note |3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company recognised an impairment loss of approximately RMB46.4
million (2022: nil) on property, plant and equipment for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The asset impairment was supported by
the Appraiser. Save as disclosed in this report, further information

regarding the impairment loss is set out below:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

ERMGELE

NEadhaABRATMEAXENBIYLER
AEER (TR R RABKRAL  BIRERE
FRBUFAERABERE R EKANME R
EBE TABEBRSHENFEMHER - AR
W AR A R BB ERE B HEBER
MIRRBE ™S - FERER B S IEB R S8
MBRETRESREED - W EBUWAKF
BB RS S8 E—REHRERE
AHEJIEMER -

M2023F 12 A3 - AREEBEEKELTH
SREELN  BEEARAEAATXHARE
BHWABERR—BEESHBPHNRERBR - &
HHEEMEFERASUSEN BRI TER
BRAHTEEEMNEBE(TERENHE —
CGUEER)RRMOMENZIF BEERESES
BECCUMER R - BRICGURATINE £ B
RERFVICODMEBERE EFTHENVIUNER S
EWE  WBEBUTGHMEANBERS
BHREGMEREPFERATIEABERHA - &
BENRBREIBAAEBE-

NAGEEETEERMG S BR - #£1TR
BEL UERVBBRODEEEMDAMKE -

Mk BMERRBRERXKX

BE&INECAFERESHM T3 RAREHE
203F12A3IBMEES - HWE  BERRE
FTIRTARK4648 8L Q002F : )W RMEE
Ko BHBRELAESY THEMOIE - BAE
RECHBENEEN  BRREBINE—F
BV U
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWED T

Reasons for and the Circumstances Leading to the
Impairment Loss

Because the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide and KX-826 has
been delayed due to the statistically insignificant phase Il clinical
results, and the Company believes that there are impairment
indicators in the property, plant and equipment related to
Pruxelutamide and KX-826. The Directors of the Company have
performed impairment assessment of the property, plant and
equipment and consequently determined an impairment loss
amounting to RMB46.4 million.

Key Value of Inputs Used and Assumptions
Adopted in the Valuation

With reference to the valuation conducted by the Appraiser, the
Group carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of equipment
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets containing
in KX-826 CGUs based on VIU approach using discounted cash
flow method by comparing the carrying values and the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs. The key assumptions for the discounted
cash flow method are those regarding the growth rates, market
penetration rate, success rate of commercialisation and percentage of
costs and operating expenses in KX-826 intangible asset impairment
assessment model during the period stated above, for discount rate
as equipment has less risk than intangible assets, the post tax discount

rate is 2% lower than using in the intangible assets.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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EYRERERERMER

HRINBAERABRERERT S LREINRE
M ERERRMKX-826ME E(L K HEE - A
AR AEETRERMKX-26BENETEET
EREDRR - Al ARBEZTSHYWE - &
EREHEETRES G TELEBEAEAA
R¥4648 B TR RERK -

HEEEPRARANBEREENRA
Y R =%

RIBT AETONE  SEERVIVU - £
RensFREL - B\ & EEHCGUs) 8
FREEEMALRKEE  HESEKX826EE
AR ME - MEMRENETLEENFEYK
CRETTHG BRENEWREBENBARR
REFBERE -MHE2ER BEKNERIA
NAE bt AR KX-826 2 & 2 R B =T b 8 AL
AR AMGEF G - BRBEIRE - AR
wORRENEILEE R RERERLE
B EETERORERERE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

For FVLCOD of property, plant and equipment, the details of key HRYWE  BERZHERIFVLCOD - ERTR
assumptions and inputs adopted in the impairment assessment of (BRI ERFEEMNRMAENHAMRABNBERER

stand-alone assets based on different types are as follow: M ANFAERWT:
No. Inputs Equipment Buildings Construction in progress Others
FS% BAE R B ERIE Hit
Replacement price  Multiple of purchases The value includes the construction For CIP in Suzhou Kintor, Carrying amount
cost, carrying amount, cost, upfront costs and other replacement cost is equal to
price Index or price costs as well as reasonable profits, carrying amount; for CIP in
of repurchase in adjusted based on the project Zhejiang Kintor, replacement
the valuation date cost index and cost of capital by amount is zero, as land in Pinghu
and adjustment of referencing to loan prime rate would not be further developed

ERIEN

2 Newness rate

2 EEX

3 Disposal costs

3 RERK

technology progress

SERBEAA KEE
B EREH HE
FEEEER (K
ESHHE)

Higher of the ratio of
remaining useful life to
useful life and residuals
rate (5%)

FerEMSnRaEm
SwMitRERER
CAEESE

published by the People’s Bank of
China on the basis of the evaluation
base date
ZEEDERSKA AHER . HRHNRANERIRCP) HHEE
EERRAENE EAGE BARASRREEE - HR
R 2ZREARBOLMGH  HIRA - CPHEAKASZR
EFERNE REEEKAE T ERTHANLIHTSE-

BMEARAFETAE SR%
N/A N/A N/A
TEH &R TER

Transaction service fee, various kinds of additional taxes, stamp duty, commissions and other fees.

XHRBE  SEH MK EER  BENAHLER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWED T

Underlying Valuation Methodology

The Group’s impairment assessment policy on property, plant and
equipment was set out in Note 4(c) to the consolidated financial

statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviewed the carrying
amounts of CGUs to determine whether there is any indication that
CGUs have suffered an impairment loss according to the accounting
policy of the Group. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amounts of CGUs are estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment losses, if appropriate. Recoverable amount is the
higher of FVLCOD and VIU.

(a) KX-826
For equipment, the Appraiser anaylsed (i) VIU at the level of
CGUs in combination with intangible asset of KX-826 using the
discounted cash flow model; and (i) FVLCOD at the level of

stand-alone assets.

For other property, plant and equipment in scope, mainly
including buildings and construction in progress, the Appraiser
analysed FVLCOD at the level of stand-alone assets. Since
KX-826 has not generated profits, assets other than equipment
were not fully used. Thus, VIU would not be higher than
FVLCOD, so only FVLCOD was analysed.

(b) Pruxelutamide

The Appraiser analysed FVLCOD at the level of stand-alone
assets as the recoverable amount, as the company stopped the
research and development of Pruxelutamide, it is not possible to
calculate VIU, so only FVLCOD could be analysed.

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

The path for novel drug research and development is really tough. For
Kintor; the year 2023 is on the way of exploring and re-establishing
the destination. Faced with the challenges, Kintor has kept on to the
pursuit of novel drug's research and development. With the mutual
goal of launching the first innovative drug, we have made every efforts

across the Company.
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(a) KX-826
BB FHEM AT ()ECCUEE -
HEEKX-826MVIUFE AR MERIRELR
K (iEEEE EE EAFVLCOD o
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#H ETEREEZEYNERIRE  F(EHAD
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AR &4 TFVLCOD -

(b) ERER
FEMEEBEEE@MON TFVLCODIEA
AIOWEEE  ARARFELIRAZEETER
IR EVIU - BT A R D47 TFVLCOD °

RERRE
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ME BEFAMIBENEER GCEEABTP
BEWIOER  BAEREERE - FNE
FIRORAMERNERENER - RAI LT
BmEHELERAFEYNRRABR &8
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Based on 10 years of experience in the AR field, we continue to
explore the treatment of AGA and acne with KX-826 and GT20029
in 2024, two Core Products in the field of dermatology. We have
validated the safety and efficacy of KX-826 in over 1,000 subjects,
who benefited from our drug and the mean non-vellus TAHC
increased by up to 22.7 per cm? from baseline. On the one hand,
we will continue to conduct more clinical trials, such as trying higher
dose levels or using combination therapies to maximise the efficacy of
the drug. On the other hand, we will consider the commercialisation
path of KX-826 from a variety of aspects. Our GT20029 has been in
leading position since its development and is the world's first topical
PROTAC compound that has entered phase Il clinical trial, and we has
published that the phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 in China reached
primary endpoint and the Company will actively deploy subsequent
clinical strategies for GT20029, such as initiating a phase Il clinical trial
in China and a phase Il clinical trial in the U.S. for male AGA. At the
same time, we are also preparing to conduct phase Il clinical trials of
GT20029 for acne to further expand our first-mover advantage in the
field of topical PROTACsS.

In non-dermatology field, we also have developed small molecule
drugs such as Pruxelutamide and GTI708F and biological drugs such
as ALK-1 for the treatment of various tumors and multiple indications.
We have a new institute of R&D to cooperate with other research
departments such as biology, chemistry, and formulation, so that drugs
can be fully verified in both mechanism and clinical practice, and we
can leverage the knowledge of our professionals to enhance our R&D
capabilities. In addition, we have built the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme to retain our talents.

In addition to in-house development, we also plan to seek
cooperation opportunities in all aspects of the drug development
process, including pre-clinical technology, clinical combination therapy,
and licensing cooperation, to use superior resources to realize the
potential of drugs and bring our products to commercialisation as

soon as possible.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ERAREE N+ F s  04FHMEERR
T2 4 RB 10 B R A% BE I KX-826 )R GT20029 -
AR EREENGE - RMEEHEI,0000 %
HAEPRBTIKX26MLZ 2 MBI - 5=
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BIEMMGRE A EDRIR am? o —HE - ZME
BERREZHARAAR WEAESBERE
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RELMN - B 23K E F0E AR RIE R BR8
SNAPROTACIEE YD » BAMIE R2024F4 A21 B
ECT2009F i 2B AABREINETER
2h o I % FE 1R 20 B GT200291% 48 HY) B R SR B -
MEAE B EZPBINEE R 5B & ER I
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AREENIHARRAR & FPBAEINAE
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAEEEER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Youzhi Tong (E &K ), aged 62, is our chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer. He is a founding member of the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on 16 May 2018. As
our chief executive officer, Dr. Tong is primarily responsible for the
overall management, operations and the charting and reviewing
of corporate directions and strategies of our Group. Dr. Tong has
accumulated over 20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical
R&D and management. He is also a director of various members of
our Group, namely Suzhou Kintor, Suzhou Koshine, Kintor Science,
Koshine Pharmaceuticals and Koshine Hong Kong Limited. Prior to
founding our Group in 2009, Dr. Tong served as an assistant professor
of Albert Einstein College of Medicine from 1999 to 2001. He was a
vice-president of Angion Biomedica Corp. from 2002 to 2008.

In recognition of his dedication to his field, Dr. Tong has received
multiple designated funds from the U.S. National Institutes of Health
and the Chinese government. In 2000, he received a fellows' research
award from the North Shore — Long Island Jewish Research System.
In 2000, he received a fellows' award from the Multiple Myeloma
Research Foundation. In 1997, he received the AACR-Glaxo Welcome
Oncology Clinical Research Scholar Award from the American
Association for Cancer Research. Dr. Tong has also led a number of

key national and provincial R&D projects.

Dr. Tong graduated from Peking University with a bachelor's degree
and a master’s degree in chemistry in July 1984 and July 1988,
respectively. He received his Ph.D. in pharmacology from Cornell

University in January 1997.

Dr. Qun Lu (BE&), age 58, joined the Group in May 2021 and
was appointed as an executive Director on 14 April 2023. Dr. Lu
is currently the chief technology officer (CTO) and chief quality
officer (CQQO) of the Group, primarily responsible for chemistry,
manufacturing and control (“CMC") activities of drug development
and commercialisation.
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Dr. Lu has over 25 years of experience in biopharmaceutical
industry with proven track record of successfully leading the CMC
development of pharmaceutical dosage forms from discovery through
commercialisation at various pharmaceutical corporations including
Pfizer, Merck and Celgene Corp./Bristol Myers Squibb (the “BMS”).
Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Lu was an executive director at
Celgene Corp./BMS in New Jersey from 2013 to 2019 and from 2019
to 202! respectively, where she focused on defining and delivering
integrated CMC development strategies and outcomes for innovative
medicines. She also served as a member of the board of directors of
International Consortium for Innovation and Quality in Pharmaceutical
Development until 2019.

Dr. Lu received her bachelor's degree in Chemistry from Peking
University in 1987 and completed her Ph.D. in Physical Chemistry at
Arizona State University in 1995, Dr. Lu carried out post-doctoral
studies in Pharmaceutics at the University of Wisconsin — Madison
from 1996 to 1997.

Dr. Xiang Ni ({2 #), aged 55, joined the Group in March 2023 and
was appointed as an executive Director on 14 April 2023. Dr. Ni is
currently the chief medical officer of the Group, primarily responsible
for the coordination, management and supervision of the medical
work of the Group.

Dr. Ni has dedicated to the international biopharmaceutical field for
more than 20 years, with extensive experience and expertise in the
clinical development of new drugs, pharmacovigilance and clinical
quality. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Ni worked in pharmaceutical
companies in the United States and China, like AstraZeneca and
several innovative biopharma and biotechnology companies like
Akesobio. Dr. Ni has facilitated the approval of several global new
drug applications (NDAs) and new drug clinical trials (INDs). He also
has extensive experience working with global regulatory agencies.

Dr. Ni received his bachelor's degree in Medicine from Southeast
University School of Medicine in China in 1992 and his Ph.D. degree
from School of Medicine, Temple University in the United States in
2000.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Weipeng Gao (S # ), aged 49, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 22 June 202I. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Mr. Gao has over twenty years of experience in finance, legal and
investment areas and is currently a partner at SIP Sungent BioVenture
Capital Investment Partnership (LP)* (&N T 2 B & jv &£ 8 % 1%
BEEEABMRAT) Mr Gao is a co-founder of Beijing Eastern Link
Capital Management Center (LP)* (Jt R S HtcATIR & B AL
(BEFR & %)) ("Eastern Link Capital’) since January 2011 and he
worked as a managing director at Eastern Link Capital from January
2011 to September 2019. From November 2009 to December
2010, he was a consultant at ABAX Investment Consulting (Suzhou
Industrial) Co., Ltd* (BEREEBE(BFMNIZER)ERAR).
From January 2008 to November 2009, Mr. Gao was a managing
director at Startup Growth Investment Enterprise* ([ 1% A & £l
FIEEDPE) Mr Gao also served as a qualified lawyer at Beijing
Guofang Law Firm* (1t 7R T B 77 /2 B F %5 FT) and Beijing Century-
link & Xinjiyuan Law Office* (b f Tt Bt ¥ 42 T 2 B0 F 75 )
from 2001 to 2007. From August 1997 to July 2001, Mr. Gao was an
assistant to the general manager of China at Commonwealth Bank of

Australia (B M B FBER1T (P EIE) ).

Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University in 1996, a master degree in
Law from Peking University in January 2007 and a master degree of
Business Administration from China Europe International Business

School in September 2012 respectively.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Geqi Wei (EffT3), aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 27 September 202I. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Ms. Wei is currently the deputy general manager and the chief
financial officer of Zhuhai Development Investment Fund Management
Co, id* (R BEREKEEESBTEBER DA and the chief
financial officer of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co,,
Ltd* GREBBNRIREBIEABR AR, has 22 years of audit
and accounting work experience and 5 years of working experience
in financial investment. From March 2012 to August 2017, Ms. Wei
served as the deputy section chief of the fiscal finance and corporate
audit sections at Zhuhai Audit Bureau* (¥X/8TH 2 5H/®). During
the periods from September 2008 to February 2012 and from March
2003 to December 2007, Ms. Wei was the director-general of office
and the section chief of the financial responsibility audit section at
Zhuhai Xiangzhou District Audit Bureau* (Ek /& M & M [@ & &
f8), respectively. Ms. Wei also served as a staff member in the fiscal
audit section at Hubei Provincial Audit Department (J# 1t 4 & &t
EZ) from January 2008 to August 2008. Prior to March 2003, Ms.
Wei had finance and fiscal management experience with a number
of state-owned enterprises, private enterprises and foreign-invested

enterprises in the PRC.

Ms. Wei obtained her qualifications as Senior Auditor of the PRC
in 2012, In April 2021, she also passed the National Unified Legal
Professional Qualification Examination and obtained the Legal

Profession Qualification Certificate.

Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from the Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology (VI & £t £ K£) in 1996. She
earned a Master of Public Administration from Renmin University of

China (B A R KE) in 2009.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESrEREEEMEE

Mr. Chengwei Liu (2% &), aged 53, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 5 May 2022. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Mr. Liu has been, and is currently the Chairman and President of
Suzhou Oriza Holdings Corporation (& M 7T K 1% & B 5 B R
2 7A]) since March 2016. From December 1998 to March 2016, Mr.
Liu served as a staff member, deputy director, director and deputy
executive of Suzhou Industrial Park Administrative Committee (%F
INTHEREZE). From July 1995 to December 1998, Mr. Liu
served as the deputy manager of the delivery department of Suzhou
Commodity Exchange (% /N7 in3 % FT) and a lawyer of Suzhou
Future Law Firm (&R MR 2R B 25 75 PT). Save for his position as
a non-executive Director of the Company, Mr. Liu was a director
of S.F. HOLDING CO,, LTD (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in China) from December 2016 to
December 2022 and is currently a director of Zhongji Innolight Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the ChiNext Market of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in China).

Mr. Liu holds a master’s degree in finance, and is also a senior

economist and lawyer.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Michael Min Xu (& #), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is responsible for providing

independent advice and judgement to our Board.

Dr. Xu has accumulated over 20 years of experience in
biopharmaceutical R&D. He is the founder and chief executive
officer of PegBio Co., Ltd (K& 4 47 & %% (8% M) B PR 2 &) which
specialises in the development of drugs for chronic metabolic diseases.

He started working at Xinfeng Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd as
the general manager (3718 £ ¥ &t £ (_£/8) B R A F]) in 2002.

Dr. Xu graduated from Xiangya School of Medicine at Central South
University (PR K2 M % 2 F7) with a bachelor's degree in
medicine in June 1986. He later received his Ph.D from Columbia

University in February 1996.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (#3 18 &), aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on |2 August 2019. He is
responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Mr. Yeung has over |5 years of experience in an international
accounting firm. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yeung held senior
financial positions in several Hong Kong Main Board listed companies.
He worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2003, and served as a
reorganisation services director from 2008 to 2018. Before that he
served as the financial controller and company secretary of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Ltd, formerly known as UDL
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
620) in 2002. He also served as the financial controller of Kuangchi
Science Ltd, formerly known as Climax Int'l Ltd, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 439) from 1997 to June 2001.

Mr. Yeung graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with
a Diploma in Accounting in July 1988, and obtained an MBA from
the University of Warwick, United Kingdom in November 2011.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and is a member of the Hong Kong Securities and

Investment Institute.

Prof. Liang Tong (E 5%), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 October 2020. He is responsible for

providing independent advice and judgement to our Board.

He joined the faculty of Columbia University in the City of New
York in September 1997 as an Associate Professor and currently
is a William R. Kenan, Jr. Professor in the Department of Biological
Sciences. He was the Chair of the Department of Biological Sciences
of Columbia University from July 2013 to June 2019. From July 1992
to August 1997, he served as a scientist of Boehringer Ingelheim

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in Ridgefield, Connecticut.

Prof. Tong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Chemistry from Peking
University in July 1983 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in
Chemistry (Protein Crystallography) from University of California,
Berkeley in December 1989. He was a Post-doctoral Research
Associate at Purdue University in West Lafayette, Indiana until July
1992.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Prof. Tong has been a member of Phi Beta Kappa since 1989. He
received the Boehringer Ingelheim Research & Development Award in
1997. Prof. Tong is also a Fellow of the American Association for the

Advancement of Science since 2009.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (E B 88), aged 47, joined the Group in
September 2021 and is currently the chief financial officer and joint
company secretary of the Group. He is also a director of Suzhou
Kintor and Koshine HK. Mr Cheung is primarily responsible for the
financial planning, investment, international commerce, internal

control, investor relations and public relations of the Group.

Mr. Cheung has over |5 years' of work experience in the capital
market. Prior to joining the Group, he was Head of Leveraged &
Acquisition Finance of Haitong International Securities Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0665). He was
in charge of leveraged acquisition finance and equity fund investments
respectively. Mr. Cheung also worked in ING Bank Hong Kong Branch
for over 5 years. He was responsible for corporate client coverage and

merger and acquisition financial advisory.

Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor's degree in Biochemistry from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999 and Master
of Philosophy in Bioinformatics from Medical School, the University of
Hong Kong in 2002.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Ruo Xu (7 &), aged 59, joined the Group in April 2019
and is currently a vice president/BD of the Group. He is primarily

responsible for business development.

Before joining the Group, Dr. Xu worked in the pharmaceutical
industry for more than 20 years. Dr. Xu has served as the vice
president of chemistry and manufacturing at Zhejiang DTRM
Biopharma LLC from 2018 to 2019. He was a general manager at
Chemspec-API, Inc. from 2014 to 2017 and a principal scientist,
outsourcing manager and senior specialist at Schering-Plough
Corporation/Merck & Co., Inc. from 1998 to 2013.

Dr. Xu graduated from Peking University (1t 52 A 82) with a bachelor’s
degree in chemistry in July 1985. He received his Ph.D.in chemistry
from Columbia University in May 1996 and served as a post-doctoral
fellow in chemistry at the University of California at Berkeley from
June 1996 to April 1998.

Dr. Jie Chen (Ff2), aged 4, joined the Group in July 2016 and
is currently a deputy general manager of the Group. She is also a
director of Suzhou Kintor and Suzhou Koshine. Dr. Chen has over 10
years working experience as well as rich academic background relating

to the scientific research and development in biology and chemistry
field.

Dr. Chen obtained the degree of doctor of nature science in organic
chemistry from the graduate school of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in July 2010. Dr. Chen conducted postdoctoral research in
biochemistry at University of Texas Southwestern Medical Centre
from March 2011 to August 2015, mainly engaging in the scientific

research and related works.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Dr. Zhihua Ren (fE & ), aged 46, joined the Group in October
2020 and is currently the Vice President and Dean of the Institute
of R&D of the Group. She is mainly responsible for early phase
novel drugs discovery and development, translational medicine, and
clinical pharmacology. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Ren served as
the deputy director of the Department of Translational Medicine
at Medx Translational Medicine Research (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. from
June 2018 to October 2020, leading the team to design solution
for biomarkers exploration for preclinical study and clinical trials for
innovative pharmaceutical companies. From August 2012 to June 2018,
she served as the deputy chair of the Biopharmaceutical R&D center
of Peking Union Medical College. She presided over and participated
in the implementation of several major national scientific research
projects, and was specifically responsible for the scientific solution and

project R&D management.

Dr. Ren obtained a Bachelor of Medicine in Clinical Diagnostics and
a Master of Medicine in Molecular Genetic Diagnosis of Hematology
from Qingdao University School of Medicine in 2000 and 2003,
respectively, and a Doctor of Science in Medical Genetics from

Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine in 2007.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (E 83 8]), is the chief financial officer and
joint company secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section

headed “Senior Management” above for further information.

Mr. Wai Chiu Wong (Ef&i#), is the Associate Director of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has
extensive experience in compliance and listed companies secretarial

work.

Mr. Wong is a fellow of Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a
Certified Trust Practitioner.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong possesses a B. Soc. Sc. (Hon.) from the University of
Hong Kong, a Post-Graduate diploma in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom, Master degree in Corporate Governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Master Degree in Arbitration and
Dispute Resolution from City University of Hong Kong and Master of
Applied Science Degree from the University of Technology, Sydney,

Australia.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no change in
their information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(l) of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

J/L\‘ 'ﬁﬁisAiEﬂ:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to implementing high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders
and enhance the corporate value as well as the responsibility
commitments. The Directors recognise the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the
management structures, internal control and risk management

procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of
corporate governance since the Listing Date. Save for the deviation
from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in the section
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” in this report, the Company
has applied with the principles of and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The
Group will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance

practices to ensure its continued compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for securities transactions by

Directors as its own code of conduct.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are subject to the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees was

noted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Kintor's corporate culture and mission, as our Chinese name
“KAITUO”

cosmetics worldwide. We aim to tackle the ailments of hair loss, acne

implies, are to take our innovative topical drugs and

and other dermatology diseases afflicting billions of patients. We
strive to raise the quality of life of those patients through a variety of

development strategies.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive Directors and senior management who perform
their duties and has provided clear directions as to the senior

management's powers.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while the independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision-making process
of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior management

of the Group.

The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance, marketing, and operations as well as other

essential management functions of the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform

their responsibilities.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of

the Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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Composition
As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of three (3)

executive Directors, three (3) non-executive Directors and three (3)

independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Qun Lu (appointed on 14 April 2023)

Dr. Xiang Ni (appointed on 4 April 2023)

Ms. Yan Lu (resigned on 13 April 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Weipeng Gao
Ms. Geqi Wei
Mr. Chengwei Liu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Michael Min Xu
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship
between the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 60 to 69 of this report.
There is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships among the members of the Board.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. We do not
have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Dr. TONG
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in Dr. TONG
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board
requires approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the
Board comprises three independent non-executive Directors during
the Reporting Period, and we believe there is sufficient check and
balance in the Board; (ii) Dr. TONG and other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the Group
accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the
operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other
key business, financial and operational policies of the Group are made
collectively after thorough discussion at both the Board and senior
management levels. Finally, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for and
communication within the Group. The Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of the Group
in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman and

chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independent Views to the Board

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board in the Company’s director nomination
policy and board diversity policy and the Board is responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of this mechanism on an annual basis. The
Board shall ensure the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold
as may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time). The
Nomination Committee shall adhere to the director nomination
policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive Directors. The candidates of independent non-
executive Directors must satisfy the independence requirements
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is committed to
ensuring that the independent non-executive Directors will be given
the opportunity and channel to communicate and express their

independent views and inputs to the Board and its committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements
of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of
them to be independent during the Reporting Period.
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Board Meetings

Pursuant to CG Code, at least four regular Board meetings should
be held in each financial year. For the year ended 31 December
2023, six Board meetings and one general meeting was held, and the

attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Attendance/
eligible to attend

Board meeting
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BECEERTH EEc RN SEM
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Attendance/
eligible to attend

Shareholder meeting

HE HES

Directors = CERLEFTEEESE CEREERRARS
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEL 5/6 /1

Dr. Qun Lu® BEREELO 2/3 /1

Dr. Xiang Ni® RAFEL 3/3 /1

Mr. Weipeng Gao = HENE A& 6/6 [/]

Ms. Geqi Wei M 2+ 5/6 1/l

Mr. Chenwei Liu 2B ESLEE 6/6 /1

Dr. Michael Min Xu HrEELT 5/6 1/l

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BIERTE 5/6 [/1

Prof. Liang Tong ExHE 5/6 1/1

Ms. Yan Lu® EHRLZLTO 212 0/0
Notes: B 5E

(1) Dr. Qun Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.
(2)  Dr. Xiang Ni was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.

(3)  Ms. Yan Lu resigned as Director with effect from |3 April 2023.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the operation and business of the Company and
full awareness of Directors’ responsibilities and obligation under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Company will from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records. According to the training records
maintained by the Company, the continuous professional development
programmes received by each of the Directors during the Reporting

Period is summarised as follows:

RARITIREEAMBESTHEENEI
NEREENESHEBREIBEEBANA
HRERE BEESUHESSELANBERE
BHER - ARR MBI FAES 2 INAEBIE
JIRE - BRBAARRARAE  WEREFRA
ARREIFILE - BEARRFENFIIL
B N EHRSEEERNSEEEERG
E R

Type of Training

Directors = Bl ER
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEL A&B
Dr. Qun Lu® BEBEE O A&B
Dr. Xiang Ni® RAEL A&B
Mr. Chengwei Liu ZBESLE A&B
Mr. Weipeng Gao =HENE A& A&B
Ms. Geqi Wei A+ A&B
Dr. Michael Min Xu st A&B
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung HIER A A&B
Prof. Liang Tong ERRE &l A&B
Ms. Yan Lu® Bzt A&B

A:  attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,
conferences, forums and workshops.

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general
business, anti-corruption, corporate governance and directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Notes:

(1) Dr. Qun Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.

(2)  Dr. Xiang Ni was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.

(3)  Ms. Yan Lu resigned as Director with effect from |3 April 2023.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years and each of the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term

of three years.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an additional Director, provided that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from

time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(“Articles of Association”). At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director will be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

According to Articles of Association, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-

election.

The Company's circular for the forthcoming annual general meeting
will contain the detailed information of the retiring Directors standing

for re-election.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 37

to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than the Directors) as
at 31 December 2023 by band is set out below:

EEREREEESTMH

EENFHFBERAFRGEAMBRERM T
37 e

BRI BB R <FRIFESGRF B & X 722023
FRRA3E aREREXNB(EEHRINNFH
B R EH SRS T

Number of Individuals
for the year ended

31 December 2023
BZE2023%F

Remuneration band N = 4K 1I2A3IHLEEE A
HKDI,500,00 | —HKD2,000,000 75 | 500,00 |- #52,000,000 |
HKD3,000,00 1 —HKD3,500,000 75 13,000,001 -8 #£3,500,000 2
HKD3,500,00 | —HKD4,000,000 75 153 500,00 |- 7% % 4,000.000 |
HKD#,500,00 | —HKD7,000,000 75 6,500,001 -7 #£7,000,000 |

The emoluments include the share-based compensation expenses for
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. RSUs were granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme to senior management in respect
of their services to the Group. The fair values of such granted RSUs,
which have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the vesting period, were determined as at each of the
grant dates and the amounts included in the financial statements
for the current year are included in the above senior management's

remuneration disclosures.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board

and report to the Board on such matters;

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’'s compliance with the

Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of reference which are available
at the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their

duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Audit Committee consists of one non-executive Director; namely Mr.
Chengwei Liu, two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung and he has extensive

financial knowledge and relevant work experience.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

ensuring the co-ordination between the external and the
internal auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing with the

Company;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditors, and any questions of its resignation or

dismissal;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards;

developing and implementing policy on engaging an external

auditor to supply non-audit services;

monitoring the integrity of the Company's financial statements
and the annual report and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if prepared for publication), and reviewing

significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

discussing the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company's accounting

and financial reporting function;

reviewing arrangements that the employees of the issuer can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting and internal control matters;

reviewing ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensuring compliance with terms of approval by the Shareholders;

and

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ERZESNBREBERRREEINER LR
ERTAIFMHE - ERZBENTERERE
BARR

o FEMRIME R NERAZ AT TIES R HA
&ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁ*&$“ﬂ®%ﬁ%%
BIREE - WEBEERMAL

s FINERHBEINERME ENZEINERR
ExeRMES - HEINEZBED a0 B
K EERGRSR - R B IR AE (] 5 B % i BR A B¢

BB S i AR A% % BRED Y R

s REANBRERNMEFRIIBZBERZE
BYRBLRZBEFRERE R

o BRIMEEREBEDIR Gt I B ARAS I R -
AT LT

o EERANAPBHMRARFERELKE
FFEERERCERTIE)FTERENTE
- WK KR E R A B R R
MEAER:

e HMEREN®ELERRAIMEIEHE

ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁiﬁﬂ%§

c BN RERRBRARREG LMB

Eﬁ% ESHENER BIEENKERE

BRR  URBIMEXNEZIRERE
HEERSRR:

s MHBITANEREANNRETNERNZ
BE MIREE MR R I A S EES
ARFETETRNEIEIENR:

s MAARAFHEWERZHUBRETRR
HEE IR R



*  reviewing the Company's financial and accounting policies and

practices.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year

pursuant to the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held
five meetings to, among others, review and discussed (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 and unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and recommend the same to
the Board for its consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
was of the opinion that the relevant results were prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards and requirements
and that adequate disclosures had been made; (ii) the work of the
Group's internal audit; and (iii) the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control system. All members of the Audit

Committee attended the meeting.

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at

the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors 25 HE 8 RE
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (Chairman) BIEEREE(EE) 5/5
Dr. Michael Min Xu rEELT 5/5
Mr. Chengwei Liu 2BESLE 5/5

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive
Director, Dr. Youzhi Tong and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Michael Min Xu and Prof. Liang Tong. The

chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Michael Min Xu.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no

less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to:

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior

management;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and

objectives;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation

payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive Directors;

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved

in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes under

YZEenBREERREEINERER
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The Remuneration Committee members shall meet at least once
a year pursuant to the terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee. Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were
held for the year ended 3| December 2023 to review (i) the policy for
the remuneration of Directors and senior management; (ii) assessing
performance of the executive Directors; (i) approving the terms
of the Directors’ service contracts; (iv) appointing directors; and (v)

adjusting the remuneration of senior management.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Company has established the following principles for determining

the remuneration packages of individual Directors:

no Director or any of his/her associates should determine his/her

own remuneration:;

remuneration of Directors should reflect their performance,

experience, duties and responsibilities;

the Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to

the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors;

remuneration of executive Directors shall include salary,
discretionary bonus, benefits in kind, share options or grants or
other incentive schemes (if any) and is determined in accordance
with individual performance, the Group's results and prevailing

market conditions; and

remuneration of non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) shall be in the form of cash fees and
is determined in accordance with individual performance and
contribution and the extent of responsibilities and the number of
Board meetings or relevant meetings of the Board committee(s)
that he/she has to attend. No equity-based remuneration
(e.g. share options or grants) with performance-related based
elements should be granted to independent non-executive
Directors to avoid any potential bias in their decision-making

which may compromise their objectivity and independence.

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration

Committee at the meeting is set out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERERE

EEHMBCER
RARIEHE I ATRAE E @R ZEF 805 M+
[E

s EEFHOLMBEAINKETEEEREH
A

e EEFMERMBEEMNRIE K& BE
MEME:

s FMEZEERMEMNEZNFHFMFTERNE
EeRLEREZS:

s HMITEENFHNEEEFE  WIBEA-
BN BREREB R E M ER S
(A AREBEARR AEBEENM
BITMRERE &

s FHMTEFEBREBUFATERINF
MRS T AN ARBEBEARERE
Bl BESBEALRKALENEES SR
KANESFZEEERNREETE - I7
ABYIFNTESRTAAERBHRT
32 9 £ ] DA RO A 25 W8 1O 5 B (f91) 20 B8 A
kA Bh) - AR S HORR P MR A]
RETHEHXBEUERBIMNEERR -

FHZEeEXREHREZNLEHIINT:

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors 2= HE 2B XH
Dr. Michael Min Xu (Chairman) HREiEL(ER) 2/3
Dr. Youzhi Tong BERZEL 3/3
Prof. Liang Tong ERaHEK 3/3
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Dr. Youzhi
Tong and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the

Nomination Committee is Dr. Youzhi Tong.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

* reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy of

the Company;

e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

* assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee.
two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board for the
appointment of Directors. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duties and is able to seek
independent professional advice when necessary at the Company’s

experience to perform its duties.
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The attendance record of each member of the Nomination

Committee at the meeting is set out below:
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REZEESKELEESZNLEHIINOT:

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors E=E HE 28 XH
Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman) ERZET(EE) 212
Dr. Michael Min Xu REEL 212
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BRI E 212

Board Diversity Policy

The Board values diversity as a significant factor in selecting candidates
to serve on the Board, and believes diversity at the Board level can

strengthen the business development of the Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which relates to the
selection of candidates for the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity
policy, selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the Company's
needs, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry and regional experience.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Board candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two female
Directors, representing approximately 22.2% of the Board. The
Board targets to maintain female representation on the Board. The
Board will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.
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The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Female employees represent
approximately 64% and 43% of the Group’s total employees and
senior management, respectively. The Company aims to maintain
gender balance among both total employees and senior management.
The Board is mindful of the objectives for the factors set out above
and will ensure that any successors to the Board shall follow the
gender diversity policy. The Board will also take into consideration
of the gender diversity when assessing the candidates of the senior

management of the Company.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the board

diversity policy on an annual basis.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to determine the procedures, process and criteria to
be adopted for purposes of selecting and recommending candidates
for directorship. The Board may, however, rescind its delegation and
assume the responsibilities it previously delegated to the Nomination

Committee.

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to identify candidates for nomination to the Board
(including candidates to fill vacancies) and assess their qualifications
in light of the diversity policy and the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will
recommend director candidates for the Board's consideration and
review the candidates’ qualifications with the Board. The Board
retains the authority to nominate a candidate for election by the
Shareholders as a Director and to fill vacancies. In identifying director
candidates, the Nomination Committee may consider all facts
and circumstances it deems appropriate, including, among other
things, the skills of the candidate, his or her depth and breadth of
business experience and other background characteristics, his or her

independence and the needs of the Board.
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Our Nomination Committee and Board may consider a broad range
of factors relating to the qualifications and background of nominees,
which may include diversity as set forth in the board diversity policy.
Our Nomination Committee’s and Board'’s priority in selecting board
members is identification of persons who will further the interests
of our Shareholders through their established record of professional
accomplishment, depth and breadth of business experience and other

background characteristics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 122 to 132 of this annual

report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
paid/payable to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision of audit services and non-

audit services are as below:
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Fee paid/payable

Bt ENEH

RMB’000

Services BR %% ARBT

Audit services ZH R 2,800

Non-audit services JEAZ SR 75 —

Total @Et 2,800
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. In light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business, the internal audit function is

performed by the Company'’s legal department.

In preparation for the listing of the Shares, the Company has engaged
an independent internal control consulting firm to perform an overall
assessment on the Group's internal control system, including the
areas of financial, operation, compliance and risk management with
the aims of, among other matters, improving the Group's corporate
governance and ensuring compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Based on its internal control review, the independent
internal control consulting firm recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted

them.

The management would report to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading the management to oversee the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
makes recommendations. The Audit Committee also ensures that an
overall review of the effectiveness of such systems is conducted at
least annually and put forward to the Board for consideration. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company's strategic objectives, and acknowledges its responsibility for
the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their

effectiveness.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational, strategic and compliance controls and has considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions. The Board considers that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and during
the Reporting Period. The Board expects that a review of the risk

management and internal control systems will be performed annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of

inside information are as follows:

*  the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and

Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

* the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial

reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

* the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information and formulate a guidance about

information disclosure; and

* the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs,
so that only the executive Director and other authorized
representative of the Company are authorised to communicate

with parties outside the Group.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

At the date of this report, Mr. Ming Ming Cheung and Mr. Wai Chiu
Wong were joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. Yan Lu
resigned as a joint company secretary with effect from |3 April 2023
and Mr. Ming Ming Cheung has been appointed as a joint company
secretary on 12 May 2023. For details of the appointment of Mr
Cheung, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
April 2023 and 12 May 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Cheung and Mr
Wong had undertaken no less than |5 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The primary
person at the Company with whom Mr. Wong contacted in respect
of company secretarial matters was Mr. Cheung, who was the chief

financial officer and joint company secretary of the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the

Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the dividend policy, payment and the amount of any
dividends will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend
upon the Group's future operations and earnings, development
pipeline, capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and other factors that the Directors consider

relevant.

The declaration and payment as well as the amounts of dividends
shall be subject to all applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of the Company’s
profits and reserves lawfully available for distribution. Dividends
declared in the past may not be indicative of the Company’s future
dividend policy. The Directors have the absolute discretion to

recommend any dividend.
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As the Company is a holding company, declaration and payment of
dividends will depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries, particularly the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC.
The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of the net profit
calculated according to the PRC accounting principles, which differ
from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions,
including Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC laws also
require foreign-invested enterprises, such as all the subsidiaries in the
PRC, to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves. These
statutory reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends.
Distributions from these subsidiaries may also be restricted if they
incur debt or losses or in accordance with any restrictive covenants
in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Company or the

subsidiaries may enter into in the future.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The Board will review the

dividend policy on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance

with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board by post to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 2007,
20th Floor, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary. The shareholders
also can send e-mail at IR@kintorcom.cn to IR department of the

Company to send enquiries to the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Company’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
(“AGM") and other general meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as appropriate)

are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.kintor.com.cn and
an email box of the Company's investor relations department at
IR@kintor.com.cn as communication platforms with the shareholders
and investors, where the financial information and other relevant

information of the Company are available for public access.

The Company is committed to providing the Shareholders of the
Company with balanced and understandable information about the
Company and has adopted a shareholders' communication policy, the

summary of which is set out below:

*  corporate communication is published on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company’s own website in a timely manner as

required by the Listing Rules;
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*+ the Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange's website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules;

* any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the

Company’s website (www.kintor.com.cn);

*  the annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders where the Shareholders
are provided with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable the shareholders to make an

informed decision on the proposed resolution(s);

* the Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the

meetings;

*  where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer the Shareholders’ questions

(if any); and

* written enquiries from the Shareholders about corporate
governance or other matters to be put to the Board and the

Company will be dealt with by the Board.

The Board conducted review of the implementation and effectiveness
of the communication policy for Shareholders. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is of the
view that the Shareholders communication policy has been properly

implemented for the year ended 31 December 2023 and is effective.
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Constitutional Documents

On 15 June 2023, as more than 75% of the votes were cast in favour
of two special resolutions, both of the special resolutions were duly
passed. These special resolutions include (i) to consider and approve
the proposed amendments to the memorandum of association of
the Company and to adopt the new memorandum of association;
and(ii) to consider and approve the proposed amendments to the
articles of association of the Company and to adopt the new articles
of association of the Company of the Company. Meanwhile, as more
than 50% of the votes were cast in favour of one ordinary resolution,
the ordinary resolutions was passed. The ordinary resolution is to
consider and approve the increase of the authorised share capital of
the Company from US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares to
US$70,000 divided into 700,000,000 shares of US$0.0001 each by
the creation of an additional US$20,000 divided into 200,000,000
shares of US$0.0001 each. The amendments to the Articles of
Association is available for review on the respective websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange's website.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, three non-

executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Qun Lu (appointed on 14 April 2023)

Dr. Xiang Ni (appointed on 14 April 2023)

Ms. Yan Lu (resigned on |3 April 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Weipeng Gao

Ms. Gegi Wei
Mr. Chengwei Liu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Michael Min Xu
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman

Companies Law.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs. We have six
innovative potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at phase
Il clinical stage, and we are committed to becoming a leader in the

research, development and commercialization of innovative therapies.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on

page 133 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis’ of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this annual report. Events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is
set out in the section headed “Significant Events After the Reporting
Period” in this annual report. The discussion of the Company's key
relationships with its employees, suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company is set out in the section headed

“Key Relationships with the Stakeholders” in this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We are a biotechnology company listed on the Main Board under
Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules. There are unique challenges, risks
and uncertainties associated with investing in companies such as ours,
including: (i) we are a pre-revenue biopharmaceutical company with
a history of losses and we had net operating cash flow during the
track record period. We may need to obtain substantial additional
funding our operations; (ii) our financial prospects in the foreseeable
future depend on the successful completion of clinical trials of our
drug candidates, significantly depends on the successful completion
of clinical trials across the world and in China of our drug candidates,
such as KX-826 and GT20029. If we fail to complete our clinical trials
of our drug candidates, you may lose all or substantially all of your
investment; (i) clinical drug development involves a lengthy and
expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and we may be unable to
achieve successful results in our clinical trials; (iv) our drug candidates
are subject to extensive regulation, and we cannot assure you any
of our drug candidates will receive regulatory approvals; (v) we may
not be able to effectively build and manage our sales network and
implement our marketing strategies and successful commercialisation;
(vi) if we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our
compounds or drug candidates through intellectual property rights,
or if the scope of such intellectual property rights obtained is not
sufficiently broad, third parties could develop and commercialise drug
candidates similar or identical to ours and compete directly against us,
and our ability to successfully commercialise our drug candidates may
be adversely affected; and (vii) intangible assets constitute a substantial
portion of our total assets; if we determine our intangible assets to be

impaired, it would adversely affect our results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment. We strive to minimize our
environmental impact and to build our corporation in a sustainable
way. We are subject to environmental protection and occupational

health and safety laws and regulations in China.
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In 2023, we complied with the relevant environmental and
occupational health and safety laws and regulations in China and
we did not have any incidents or complaints, which had a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of

operations.

In accordance with Rule 1391 and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 of the Listing
Rules, the Company's environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company by the end of April 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the vyear ended 31 December 2023, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and

regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 225 employees, the

following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by function:

B20236F » AP P P ELIR BT OR R L
SR 2ARAR - BRI R TH RN
B MBRRREE AT EATHENE
AR ©

BIE ETARBIFEIB3IME KM ERCLFTH 2 IRIE -
HERERHREES  ARFRIZER R
ERARE B R2024F 4 AE AT B X BT R AAR]
k)2 o

BTHEBEEER
REFERERENA AEERAAEARS
AETHAEMEBREEAERTENAH

SEEER c REE203F1NA3IBILEFE - A&
B EE KERKNBETEBEREE -

BERHMEEK

R2023FNA3IH  REBABE2ZEE - TR
I RMIEBEE o ESRM:

Number of employees

EEA™
Core management B E R 7
Clinical i R 68
R&D eSS 62
Manufacturing EE 32
Commercial EEXIS 10
Project management HEER 14
Others EAMb 32
Total et 225
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We generally formulate our employees’ remuneration package to
include basic salary, position-specific salary, performance-based
remuneration, project-based remuneration and various allowances.
The Company makes contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 40l(k) Plan for our employees
in Hong Kong and the United States, respectively. We provide our
employees with periodic training, including orientation training for new
employees, departmental technical training, as well as other internal
and external professional training, including good clinical practice
(GCP) training. The Company also has adopted the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme on 31 March 2020 to attract, retain and motivate
our key management and staff for their contribution to the Group.
Please refer to the section headed “2020 Employee Incentive Scheme”

and Note 9 in this annual report for further details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year
ended 3| December 2023 was RMBI67.2 million, as compared to
RMB252.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group did not
experience any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a
material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or

results of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

MA)JOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 3| December 2023, our suppliers are primarily the

suppliers of clinical research services.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers amounted to RMB97.5 million (2022: RMB376.3
million), accounting for approximately 44.5% (2022: 38.4%) of the
Group’s total purchase amount in the same year. The Group’s largest
supplier for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB26.4
million (2022: RMB96.9 million), accounting for approximately 12.1%
(2022: 99%) of the Group's total purchase amount for the same year.
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None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital, has any interest

in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not

experience any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Group currently has no products for commercial sale and did
not generate any revenue from product sales for the year ended 3l
December 2023.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business associates are key to
Group's success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with

them.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new
employee training, as well as professional and compliance training
programs for employees. We enter into employment contracts with
our employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds
for termination. The remuneration package of our employees usually
includes salary, bonus and share option incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance. We make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 401 (k) Plan for our employees in
Hong Kong and the United States, respectively. The employee benefit
expenses is set out in Note 9 which includes: (I) salaries, wages
and bonuses; (2) contributions to pension plans; (3) housing funds,
medical insurance and other social insurance; and (4) share-based

compensation expenses.
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Relationship with Shareholders

We recognise the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders by ways
of general meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and

results announcements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
253 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the

audited consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing

Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's

securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023

are set out in Note |13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended 3| December 2023 and details of the Shares issued during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 30 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 3|
December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme as set out in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group,

or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their

duty in their offices.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account,
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

As at 31 December 2023, our Company had retained nil profits under
IFRS Accounting Standards as reserves available for distribution to our

equity shareholders.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 3| December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 136 and in Note

32 and Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2023 are set out in the section headed "“Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any

convertible bonds.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring specific

performance of the controlling Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this report are set out on pages 60 to 69
in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”

to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract

with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors including independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The above appointments are
always subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles of Association.
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None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our

business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to
therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Directors Nature of interest
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of  the Company’s
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BRAEZEN HXRFTACRTR

EEnR EEMEE EREREBEO FHHOBFIH®
Dr. TONG® Interest in a controlled corporation 41,004,770 (L) 9.16%
EELO X EEER

Dr. NI® Beneficial owner [,300,000(L) 0.29%
RELo EmEAA

Dr. LU® Beneficial owner 800,000(L) 0.18%
EELoe EmEAA

B 5 B o

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Dr. TONG holds the entire share capital of KT International Investment Limited,
which directly holds 41,004,770 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG is deemed to be
interested in 41,004,770 Shares held by KT International Investment Limited.

(3)  Dr. NI holds 1,300,000 restricted shares and Dr. LU holds 800,000 restricted
shares under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme of the Company as of 3|
December 2023.

(4)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

() FEIUAKRBEALREOROIEER -

(2) E 8 £ # B KT International Investment Limited #) &
BB A% A 0 T KT International Investment Limited B &
FrH41,004770 IR 7 o B UL - EH LR B KT
International Investment Limited 4% A #941,004,7700% % 15
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any of the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or ()
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best of the Company's and the
Directors’ knowledge, the following persons, not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered
in the register of interest required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

underlying shareholding

Name Nature of interest shares® interest®

FRER

=x EaEMtE HERGHBO BMOBsHE®

KT International Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 41,004,770 (L) 9.16%

BEDBEAA

Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd.®) Interest in controlled corporation 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%
KERNEEARRARO HEAEER

Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Beneficial owner 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%

Management Co. Ltd.®
KEBHIERREEERRRAA

EDSBEAAN
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B 5
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Dr. TONG holds the entire issued share capital of KT International Investment
Limited, which directly holds 41,004,770 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG
is deemed to be interested in 41,004,770 Shares held by KT International
Investment Limited.

(3) Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd (BX /818 h & @& &
EIEHMAF]) is a company established under the laws of China, principally
engaged in equity investment, capital operation management, asset management,
asset restructuring, mergers and acquisitions and financial advisory services. The
ultimate shareholder of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd
is Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd. (¥k/81& 1 & B B R X 7)), a company owned
and supervised by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the local government of Zhuhai, Guangdong Province in China.

(4)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 3| December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

2020 EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted
by our Board on 31 March 2020. The purpose of the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme is to incentivise senior management and employees
for their contribution to the Group, and to attract and retain skilled
and experienced personnel for the future growth of the Group by
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our
Company. The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme is funded by existing
Shares of the Company only.
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Administration of the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board in accordance with the rules of the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. The Board may delegate the
authority to administer the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
to a designated administrator (the "Administrator”), being
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The Board may also
appoint one or more persons to assist in the administration of
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme as the Board thinks fit.

The Board's or the Administrator's determinations under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme need not be uniform and
may be made by it selectively with respect to persons who are

granted, or are eligible to be granted Awards under it.

Each participant of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (the
“Participant”) waives any right to contest, amongst other
things, the Awards or equivalent value of cash underlying the
Awards and the Board’s administration of the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme. Any decision taken by the Board as regards

the eligibility of a person will be final and binding.

Awards

An Award may be granted in the form of RSA or RSU under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. An RSA consists of Restricted
Shares, which are shares granted to the Participant under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme that are subject to such vesting
and transfer requirements as the Board shall determine, and such
other conditions as set forth in the rules of the 2020 Employee

Incentive Scheme.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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(3) Participants in the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme

Persons eligible to receive Awards under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme (“Eligible Persons’) include existing
employees and officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
excluding any person who is resident in a place where the
award of the Shares and/or the vesting of the transfer of the
Shares pursuant to the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or
where in the view of the Board or the Trustee as the case may
be, compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place
makes in necessary or expedient to exclude such person. The
Board selects the Eligible Persons to receive Awards under the

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme at its discretion.

(4) Grant and acceptance

(a) Making an offer

An offer to grant Awards will be made to an Eligible Person
selected by the Board (“Selected Person”) by a letter
("Grant Letter”). The Grant Letter shall specify the
Selected Person’s name, the manner of acceptance of the
Awards, the type of Award, whether RSA or RSU and
the number of underlying Restricted Shares or Shares,
as the case may be, represented by the Awards, the
vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting schedule, the
consideration payable upon vesting and method of payment
(where applicable) and such other details as the Board
considers necessary. The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
does not specify a minimum vesting period. The exercise
prices for the RSA or RSU granted were determined
based on, inter alia, the subscription price in the pre-IPO

fundraising rounds of the Company.

(b) Acceptance of an offer

A Selected Person may accept an offer for the grant of
Awards in such manner as set out in the Grant Letter.
Once accepted, the Awards are deemed granted from the
date of the Grant Letter. No consideration is payable on

acceptance of an offer for the grant of Awards.
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(5)

(6)

™)

(c) Maximum entitlement of each participant

There is not specific limit on the maximum entitlement
of each participant under the 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares underlying the
RSUs and Restricted Shares

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs and
Restricted Shares that may be granted under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding Awards that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of
Shares underlying the RSUs or Restricted Shares (as the case
may be) held or to be held by the Trustee for the purpose of
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme from time to time but
shall not exceed 23,613,590 Shares. As at the date of this report,
1,576,452 Shares of our Group are available for grant under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, representing approximately
0.35% of the total issued Shares.

Appointment of the Trustee
The Company has appointed Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong

Kong) Limited as the Trustee to assist with the administration
and vesting of Awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Employee

Incentive Scheme.

Term of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme

The 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of ten years, commencing from the date of the first
grant of the Awards, being 31 March 2020 (unless it is terminated

earlier in accordance with its terms).
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T AEZ2023F 12 A31H IEFE R 52020
FREEBUBAERHERNFS:

(8) Details of Awards granted

The following are details of the Awards granted pursuant to

the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme during the year ended 3|

December 2023:
Number of Number Number Number Number Number of
unvested of Awards of Awards of Awards of Awards unvested
Awards as granted vested cancelled lapsed Awards as at
at | January during the during the during the during the 31 December
Grantee and position Date of grant Exercise price per Share 2023 year year year year 2023
R2023F R20235F
1A1R 124318
HAREN FAREN EAEEN FRZEHEN FAXIN HABEN
RRARBY REBH BRITHEE RBYA RBYE RBYE RBEA MR ®BYA
Directors
EZ
Yan Lu (resigned on 31 March 2020 Tranche A: US$0.0442 1,300,000 0 250,000 0 1,050,000 0
I3 April 2023.) 20206 3A31R BRA 004423 T
B 7% Tranche B: US$191515
(2023 F4 A BLRB 1915155 T
I3 BEHE) 31 March 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 200,000 0 100,000 0 100,000 0
20216 3A31R BRA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB191515% T
Qun Lu 30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 800,000 0 200,000 400,000 0 200,000
laicd 202149 A30R BRA00402E T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB191515% T
20 September 2023 Tranche C:HKD3.5 0 400,000 0 0 0 400,000
2023F9A20AR #HIRC:35B T
Xiang Ni 30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 1,300,000 0 0 0 1,300,000
53 2023F9A30R BRA0040E T
Tranche C:HKD3.5
#HIRC:358 T
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period
RFLEHEHEEZERGHHA L
31 March 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 315,600 0 78,900 78,900 78,900 78,900
20216 3A31R BRA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB 191515 T
30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 1,040,000 0 260,000 520,000 0 260,000
20214F9R30R BRA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BRB 191515 T
8 October 2022 Tranche A: US$0.0442 12,000 0 0 6,000 0 6,000
20226 10A8A #RA 004423 T
Tranche B: US$I91515
BRB 191515 T
20 September 2023 Tranche C:HKD3.5 0 604,900 0 0 0 604,900
2023F9A20AR #IRC:358 T
30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 2,480,000 0 0 0 2,480,000
20234%9A30R #RA 004423 T

Tranche C:HKD3.5
$RC:35% T
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Number of Number Number Number Number Number of
unvested of Awards of Awards of Awards of Awards unvested
Awards as granted vested cancelled lapsed Awards as at
at | January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the 3| December
Grantee and position Date of grant Exercise price per Share 2023 year year year year 2023
R2023F R2023F
1A18 12A318
HABEYN FAREN FAEEN FAZHN FEAXIW HABEN
RRARKY REBH BRITEE BB#A RBEA ®RBEA RBEA RBEA RBEA
Other employees
RS
31 March 2020 Tranche A: US$0.0442 4,783,300 0 1,195,823 1,022,427 1718811 846,239
20206 3A31H HIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$191515
BIRB 191515 T
31 March 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 2,077,600 0 519,400 491,800 650425 415,975
202163A318 #IRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$191515
BIRB: 191515% T
30 September 2021 Tranche A: US$0.0442 816,420 0 64,837 129,675 557,070 64,838
202169A308 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BIRB 191515 T
8 October 2022 Tranche A: US$0.0442 1,127,950 0 0 535,025 110,500 482,425
2022610488 BIRA: 00402 T
Tranche B: US$1.91515
BIRB 191515 T
20 September 2023 Tranche C:HKD3.5 0 2,178927 0 0 304613 1874314
2023F9A208 BHRC:35% T
30 September 2023 Tranche A: US$0.0442 0 988,200 0 0 0 988,200
2023F9A308 #IRA: 00402 T

Tranche C:HKD3.5
#HRC:35% T
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On 31 March 2020, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,843,410 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

@

Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2022. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% were given up;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2023. Actually, 12.5% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 12.5% were given up;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2024. On 20 September 2023, the grantees agreed to cancel
12.5% of the Awards and an equivalent number of Awards were issued
to them at a new exercise price (“2023 Exercise Price”). On |9 March
2024, due to changes in market conditions, as the 2023 Exercise Price no
longer provided incentives to the grantees, the grantees agreed to cancel
the relevant Awards again and Awards at a new exercise price of HKDI.0
per Share (the “2024 Re-grant Arrangement’) were issued to them
on 10 April 2024. The vesting date for this part of the Awards is expected
to be 31 March 2025. The remaining 12.5% of the Awards were vested on
31 March 2024.

On 31 March 2021, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 3,509,000 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

@

©

Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2023. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% of the Awards were given up;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2024. Actually, 12.5% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 3| March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

On 30 September 2021, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,008,220
underlying Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details
were as followed:

@

Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2023. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that
day, and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 3| March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2024. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

@
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(©)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 30 September 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 3| March 2026 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

On 8 October 2022, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,139,950 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2024. Actually, 25% of the Awards were vested on that day,
and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

(b)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2025. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement;

(©  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2026. 12.5% of the Awards will be vested as scheduled,
and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were cancelled, re-granted and
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026 according to the 2024 Re-grant
Arrangement.

On 20 September 2023, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,783,827
underlying Shares were granted to the first four batches of selected participants
(participants awarded on 3| March 2020, 21 March 2021, 30 September 202I
and 8 October 2022, respectively) (“First Four Batches of Selected
Participants”), to make up the same amount of Awards that were voluntarily
given up due to changes in market conditions. The closing price of the Shares on
19 September 2023 was HKD2.96. Such RSUs/Restricted Shares were originally
scheduled to be vested between 31 March 2024 and 30 September 2026. This
grant was replaced by 2024 Re-grant Arrangement afterwards.

On 30 September 2023, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 3,468,200
underlying Shares were granted to the selected participants. The closing price
of the Shares on 29 September 2023 was HKD2.74. The vesting details were as
followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2025 or 30 September 2025. 25% of the Awards will be
vested as scheduled, and the remaining 25% of the Awards were cancelled,
re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2025 according to the
2024 Re-grant Arrangement;

(b)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 31 March 2026 or 30 September 2026. 12.5% of the Awards will
be vested as scheduled, and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were
cancelled, re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026
according to the 2024 Re-grant Arrangement;

(©)  Approximately 25% of the Awards were originally scheduled to be vested
on 3| March 2027 or 30 September 2027. 12.5% of the Awards will
be vested as scheduled, and the remaining 12.5% of the Awards were
cancelled, re-granted and scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2026
according to the 2024 Re-grant Arrangement.
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(7)  On 10 April 2024, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 5,787,500 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants. The vesting details were as
followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2025;
(b)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2026.

(8) On 25 April 2024, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 2,500,000 underlying
Shares were granted to our executive Director Dr. TONG and 1,562,500
underlying Shares were granted to our executive Director Dr. NI. The vesting
details were as followed:

(@)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2025;
(b)  Approximately 50% of the Awards will be vested on 31 March 2026.

(9) In 2023, the weighted average closing price of the Shares on the days before the
vesting dates was approximately HKD6.48 (the vesting dates being 31 March
2023 and 30 September 2023).

(10)  Please refer to Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the fair value of Awards at the dates of grant and the accounting standard and
policy adopted in relation to the Awards granted during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or
any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other

body corporate, or had exercised any such right.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code, the Company has established the Remuneration
Committee to formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration
is determined and recommended based on each Director’s
and senior management personnel’s qualification, position and
seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their
remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation
from the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration of senior
management is determined by the Remuneration Committee upon

recommendation from the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 37, Note 34 and

Note 9, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, three directors excluding one
resigned director were granted discretionary bonuses of a total sum
of RMBO.5 million as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were
paid special bonuses or discretionary bonuses for the year ended 31
December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated

financial statements contained in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions disclosed in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected transaction or

continuing connected transaction of the Company.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, and any of its controlling Shareholders or

subsidiaries during the year ended 3| December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors are also
not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or
threatened against the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Top-up Placing in 2022

Top-up Placing 2022-1 and Top-up Placing 2022-II were conducted by
the Company in 2022 for the purpose of supplementing the Group's
long-term funding of its expansion plan and growth strategies, as well
as providing an opportunity to raise further capital for the Company
whilst broadening the shareholder base and the capital base of the

Company.

Top-up Placing 2022-]

The completion of the subscription under the Top-up Placing 2022-
| took place on 7 September 2022. The proceeds received by the
Company was approximately HK$273.0 million, net of professional
fees and out-of-pocket expenses. As at 3| December 2023, the
Company has used all of the net proceeds from Top-up Placing
2022-| in accordance with the intentions previously disclosed in the

announcement of the Company dated 31 August 2022..
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The following table sets out a breakdown of the use of net proceeds TREFR2023FNRANBFAEREBEFESEA

as at 31 December 2023: BRI A AR
Utilised net
proceeds Utilised net
Approximate Planned use Utilised net during the proceeds up to
% of total net  of actual net proceeds up to Reporting 31 December
proceeds proceeds | January 2023 Period 2023
BZE203F BZE03F
hHERE BERARE 1A REAA 124318

FEAEN XAFEN CHARE EAMRE LEBA
BHEI sTERE REFR REFHE e %A
HKD’million ~ HKD’million ~ HKD’million ~ HKD’million

% BRET BEER BEER BEER

Clinical development and preparation for the
clinical development and preparation for the

commercialisation of Pruxelutamide

ERBRANERAER EEHEL 750 2048 2048 = 20438
Clinical development of KX-826

KX-826 ) B FR B % 250 683 36.0 323 683
Total 1000 2730 2408 323 2730
@it

Top-up Placing 2022-11 202F X EEFEEN

Completion of the subscription under the Top-up Placing 2022-1l took 1R #£20224F 5t £ 1& 3T H2 & 113 17 9 38 B8 722022
place on 16 December 2022. The proceeds received by the Company FI2AI6E7EK - HIRBEXERREMNRAXIE -
was approximately HK$509.! million, net of professional fees and out- RRABWEI PTG RIBL RS0 B EE T -

of-pocket expenses.
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The net proceeds remained unutilised as at 31 December 2022 due
to the short time interval. As at the date of 28 March 2023, the Board
had resolved to reallocate the use of the net proceeds to optimise the
utilisation of the net proceeds and generate better investment returns

in the long run. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the use
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of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2023: SRIEFHEECAB AR
Expected
timeline for
utilizing the
Utilised net remaining
proceeds Unutilised net balance of net
Approximate Revised Unutilised net during the proceeds as at proceeds from
% of total net  Allocation of proceeds up to Reporting 31 December the top-up
proceeds net proceeds | January 2023 Period 2023  placing
BRFE &BZ02F BZ0F HADANKRER
EFRERE REFEN 1818 REHR AR ERHFEEMER
FEAEN EBTIE  HADRR CBARG HABARE ENEHDHA
OB GTEAE BREFRE REFE REFE HER
HKD’million  HKD’million  HKD’million = HKD’million
% BEET BEET BEER BEER
Clinical development of KX-826 for 49.0 249.5 249.5 85.3 164.2  Expected to be fully
the treatment of AGA and acne utilised by 31
vulgaris December 2025
KX-826)8 7% it 5 I 2 1B ) G /K T8 88 20255 12 A3
ks HAl2 #E M
Clinical development of GT20029 270 1375 1375 437 938  Expected to be fully
for the treatment of AGA and utilised by 31
acne vulgaris December 2025
GT20029)A % it £ & 2 12 80 8 IR T8 #15020255 12 A3l
e HAl2 A
Clinical development and 150 764 764 764 =
preparation for the
commercialisation of
pruxelutamide for the treatment
of COVID-19
L5 ARG E COVID- 198 R iR B
B EBEEL
General working capital 9.0 45.8 45.8 45.8 =
—REERS
Total 100.0 509.1 509.1 2512 2580
Bt
BAhEEERATF
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As the expected date of commercialisation is delayed from the
timeline disclosed in the 2022 annual report and the 2023 interim
report, the date when the net proceeds from Top-up Placing 2022-II
is to be fully utilised has been postponed to 31 December 2025 based
on management's estimates.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of
public float under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well as
preserving the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company
has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own
code to govern its corporate governance practices. Information on
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 70 to 94 of this
annual report. In the opinion of the Directors, save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions contained in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.
The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG and Dr. Michael Min
XU and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Chengwei LIU. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 3|1 December 2023. The
Audit Committee has also discussed with the management and the
independent auditors of the Company the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Company and discussed internal control and
financial reporting matters (including the review of the audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2023) of the Group. The
Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations, and the
Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who was re-appointed as the auditor of
the Company at the annual general meeting ("AGM") dated |5 June
2023. A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers and to
authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration were dully passed by
the shareholders as ordinary resolutions of the Company at the AGM.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has been the auditor for our Company for

the past three vyears.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other plans for

material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There are no important events affecting the Group which have

occurred since the end of the Reporting Period.

By order of the Board
Dr. Youzhi Tong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 29 April, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BRI R

To the Shareholders of Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kintor Pharmaceutical
Limited (the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (the “Group’), which

are set out on pages 133 to 252, comprise:

* the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3l
December 2023;

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

*  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

*  the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

* the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3|
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

*  Impairment assessment of In-licenses and In-process Research
and Development (“IPR&D") in the intangible assets

. Assessment of net realisable value of inventories
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Key Audit Matter

HRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHFANAEERRETSEHR

Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in
the intangible assets

BEEENIRERETHOFBEMETMG
Refer to Notes 4(b), 15, 39.8 and 399 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FLHRETEMERPMIEE4DL) ~ 15 ~ 39.8%399 -

As at 3| December 2023, the net book value of the Group's
In-licenses and IPR&D in the intangible assets which are not
yet ready to use amounted to approximately RMB79,618,000
and RMBI55,272,000, with the impairment amounted to
approximately RMB55,490,000 and RMB31,099,000, respectively.
M2023F12A318 - & & B 5 R = 2 7] fE F R RE 9 B P
BENFAELRETTFORBREKREDNOBARE
79,618,0007T & A B #155,272,0007T B B 7 Bl 4 8 A B
55,490,0007T #1 A FR #31,099,0007T e

The Group is required to perform an annual impairment
assessment for intangible assets not yet ready for use.
Management engaged an independent external valuation expert
to assist them in assessing the recoverable amount of each
individual In-licenses and IPR&D. The recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD")
and the value in use using discounted cash flow model. The
key assumptions adopted in the determination of recoverable
amount include success rate of commercialisation, market
penetration rate, revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage of
costs and operating expenses, and discount rate.
BEEEARHARERERARENELEELETFER
BEFE - ERERE—UBIINIMEEZRR - UFEHEE
FEAESGETRRNMENI R ERE - ARk eBAER
RemBFRRBERAEN D AEBREEE M (FVLCOD)
MERBENKSE EBEXdEDRSBERKANTIER
REEBREMKNE mHEEER  WRERE KA
MG ER > FBAME LA R BRI & -

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation of
recoverable amounts of the In-licenses and IPR&D and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud.

B THEEBEMMGTAERETH R
B AT U [ 2 R A R AR I R AR SR A
EXEHRNEBRRE - EE T T EEED
REMEMESRREZ - flanfh e E T
TEMEARE RO F 2k 55 5 AT S B 88
BURME -

We assessed the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent external valuation expert.
BAFETEIBEETEROZEFN - LM
BB -

We assessed management's future cash flow forecasts
and the key assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amounts. Our procedures included:
BAFBTEEENRIRSRERBA R BR
BEAKREBENEERR - HANREFEHE:

e assessing the valuation methodology adopted by
reference to industry practice;

- Z2EFTXEMFGEARANGETE:

*  evaluating success rate of commercialisation,
revenue growth rate and market penetration rate
with industry historical data;

- NBATEELEBEFEBELOXRINE I
RERENTHZEE

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HRBESHEE EMHFANAEERRETSEHR
Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in e comparing forecasted percentage of costs and
the intangible assets (Continued) operating expenses to the industry historical data,
BEEENTUERETHOMZRET G (E) taking into consideration of market trends;

- REEMHBY  SRARKLEFRXEAME
We focused on this area because of the significance of the LLEATEE R SC BUIR EATEL B
balances of In-licenses and IPR&D and the high degree of
uncertainty, including the complexity and subjectivity of * assessing the discount rate for each individual
management estimates involved in determining the recoverable intangible asset by referencing to the comparable
amounts and the key assumptions adopted. companies in the pharmaceutical industry and
BT - ORI MEIT P B &R recalculating the weighted average cost of capital
MEAMNSETEEH(BEETAIKRE SRS RD for each individual intangible asset, as well as
BEEEGMHALMEKANEIEBERNEREENMESRM) - considering territory specific factors, such as risk

free interest rate, market risk premium and debt
ratio prevailing in relevant market.

- BRSERETENALBARLBHAE
EREBVEEMNNEFHERKAE A RE
B 1 4% T B 2= () 20 46 B T 35 0 4B R B A
R-mipRABREEMEBLE)  FESEE
WEEMBEX -

*  testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow forecasts and comparing the estimated
recoverable amounts with carrying value to
determine whether impairment exists.

- AFMRBASREFHNHBEEN A&
BEFR AR E S R EREE TR - AR
ERBFERIE -

*  evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management on the key assumptions used in the
cash flow forecasts to assess the potential impacts
on the impairment assessment.

- FHEEENRREAERAFEANIER
RFTETOGRE DT - ARG SR ER G
MEBEEZE -
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Key Audit Matter

HRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHFANAEERRETSEHR

Assessment of net realisable value of inventories

FEWNARRFETMG

Refer to Notes 4(d) and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

F2HEE2ERER MEA M B RER W aE4d) %20 -

As at 31 December 2023, the gross amounts of inventories were
RMB603,879,000, which were made full provision.

R2023F 128318 - FEREA/AK6038790007T © L E
EERHRBEER -

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
the impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in
the consolidated financial statements.
HPIFETHREMBRRPEFAIELETHE
MENREFHEERNBEENT R

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that management’s judgments and estimation in the
impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D were
supported by the evidence we gathered.
ERETRER  RARSRMAKENZERE
VA S2 #5532 8 2 AT AJ AR MO 1T R O AT 3 B R EL RT
it 7R B 4 Wl A i 5T e

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation
of net realisable value of inventories and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as subjectivity and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud;
BAMTHERERFE A ERFEMFOABDE
B R F B BBEERMGF T HEEMENEEN
REMEARBREZNKTE  flanEBEMYEE
BEREZLFENGRE  FHEENERNES
B

We evaluated and validated the key controls over the
assessment of net realisable value of inventories.
BMAAYRIBEFTEANZR FETGNERE
il o
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Key Audit Matter

HRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 A% BUET 3R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EPNESNNEERREESNSEE

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Net realisable value was calculated based on the
estimated selling prices, costs to be incurred upon completion
of production, costs to be incurred to make the sale and the
relevant tax.

FENREGHEE CEEREEEORE  HEE
B AR R -

We focused on this area because of the significance of the
provision for inventories and high degree of estimation
uncertainties and judgement subjectivity associated with usage
of the inventories, estimated selling prices, future sales quantities
and related processing fees and selling expenses in management’s
determination of the net realisable value of inventories.
BRI BRI RARTFERENEREARERE
MEFENAERFEREFTERE B EE KX
HEMBENIEMHERXHANG AT EEE
KA EBME -

We assessed and examined the judgements and
estimates applied by management in determining the net
realisable value of inventories including understanding
management’s intention of inventory usage and its
alternatives, comparing selling prices and processing fees,
on a sample basis, to open market prices or quotations
provided by third-parties, and challenging the estimated
sales quantities with the market scale or demand and the
selling expenses against industry practice.

BB EEEEB AR EFE A ERFER
FTEMMAB MG  BRTHREEEHFER
BEREBRTRNEE EMEER EHHEEE
RAMIERRAFANSERAIFE =T RRENORE
ETHLE  YREBETSRAEXFLMNHEEERY
et HBREE 5 -

We obtained and assessed the methodology of
management’s calculation of the net realisable value of

inventories.
BMESTHGEEEFEFENERFENS
VA o
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Key Audit Matter

BRESNEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHFANAEERRETSEHR

We checked the mathematical accuracy of
management’s calculations of the net realisable value of

inventories.
BB EEEEHEFENZR FENSE LR
p o

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that management’s judgements and estimation in the
assessment of net realisable value of inventories were
supported by the evidence we gathered.
REMATHEF AR/ EEBEFEETFE
AERFERNHEMEFEFIRMAMKERE
RH) SRR o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited 2023 Annual Report (the
“annual report”) other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the
other information including company profile, corporate information,
financial highlights, business highlights, management discussion and
analysis, and financial summary prior to the date of this auditor’s
report. The remaining other information, including chairman’s
statement, profiles of directors and senior management, corporate
governance report and directors’ report and the other sections to be
included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights

and obligations.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 A% BUET 3R

Hibfz 8

BERRERAHHEMERAER - HMEEER
FAEEARAFN2023FFR((FH]) FEH
PIEER  ETEREAVBHRR B MNZ

BRI E - NAREMMmE AR - HAE R
SHIHMER  BREARMEN 2FEH -

MBRE ZHRE  BEEWEDN &
BHME -HEBHETHBEN(BREFE®RS &
ELEREEEEE CEXEORENEES
BERBGHANFRNEMEER) BHRZA
HIR IR AR AT -

BMBEEEMBRENERL PREEME
B BATTHEBTEZSEMESERE
AN EESR

B MEEEMBHRERNESME  LANE
TRHEBELEXAAMNNEMES  ELBRE
FoEREMESRET RS M H R A
EEABEPATHEOBRAFEENEBLE
UFHFEERERRABER

ERBAENAZEMB SRR B ES
MEMESCHITHIE  MRRMABSEM
ERFEERBERRL  AMAEREZE
E-mE | RFILBEEMRS -

ERMHESHEAFHRPOR B EMES
B MREFIRA/FEAREAERRAL -
M BRI EEMNEZEZES  ARERMH
AEENREHRIEETE -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHAN Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEZHEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023
HE203F 128318 IEFE

Year ended 3|1 December

BZE2023FE 128318 L EE

2023 2022
20234 20224

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Bt 5 ARBTRT ARETE
Revenue KA — —
Cost of sales B R A 6 (42,229) —
Gross loss E # (42,229) —
Other income and expenses Hi i AR ZE R 5 20,867 18,612
Marketing costs & 3H B AR 6 (6,984) (20,326)
Administrative expenses THAX 6 (89,045) (132,249)
Research and development costs Tt 2% B AR 6 (938,907) (827,974)
Other (losses)/gains — net Hh (& 18),/ W= % 58 7 (2,925) 17,408
Operating loss ReEmE (1,059,223) (944,529)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (9,690) (8,187)
Share of gains/(losses) of an associate and DIEHERARIRE &

a joint venture W (ER 16, 17 52 (568)
Loss before income tax MRAITBHRAIEE (1,068,861) (953,284)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiSBiE®E (BH) 10 8,041 (1,085)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for QT = FH A EL

the year attributable to the equity FREEREZE

holders of the Company BEARE (1,060,820) (954,369)
Basic and diluted loss per Share for ARRERTEAEN

loss attributable to the equity EXRHESBREE

holders of the Company (in RMB) (AR% ) 12 (2.47) (2.53)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should PA FiR A 2 25 R FE B BE I 2 M 5 — 5 )
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. = o
PAREXARAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma AR R &R
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
202312 A318

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2023 2022
20235 20226
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 AR®TR AR¥TET
Assets BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% B R& I3 184,366 240,250
Intangible assets BEEE 15 148,940 235,648
Investment in an associate REE RNEMERE 16 17,484 17432
Investment in a joint venture REgERENKRE |7 513 513
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 37,477 42,227
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 18 7,895 1,197
396,675 547267
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BB 20 — 603,503
Other receivables, deposits HihEWHRIE BE &
and prepayments TE T RIE 2| 15,798 23,421
Time deposits B R 23 10,835 10,223
Restricted cash BRI 38 & 24 425 5,641
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREEEYD 24 445,499 865,08
472,557 1,507,869
Total assets EE#E 869,232 2,055,136
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings B 25 133,400 177,600
Lease liabilities HEARE 26 2,290 5451
Deferred income tax liabilities EEERAE 29 31,043 38818
Deferred income R & WA 27 19,657 19,952
186,390 241,821

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRRE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

72023 12 A31H

As at 31 December

RI12A318
2023 2022
20235 20224F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®TRT ARETET
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 I H A FE T RIB 28 104,500 214,534
Borrowings & 3 25 113,700 98,900
Lease liabilities HERE 26 4,530 4435
Amounts due to related parties JE {~F B8 ek 5 SR IE 34 2,000 258
224,730 318,127
Total liabilities BEARE 411,120 559,948
Equity S
Equity attributable to the equity ARARERTEAEN

holders of the Company R
Share capital &N 30 315 315
Shares held for the 2020 Employee Incentive 5120204 & B 2 E) 5T &

Scheme RENRKRH 31 (13) (14)
Reserves i 18 32 457,810 494,887
Total equity AR 458,112 1,495,188
Total equity and liabilities EzRkEEREHE 869,232 2,055,136

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

A
=& o

(121

Director

3

WA £ 4R & B 5 K 0 3R FE B2 B Bt 2 BfY 5 — 6F B

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEREEH KR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023
B ZE2023F12A831BIEFE

Shares

held for the

Share-based 2020 Employee

Share Share  compensation Incentive  Accumulated

capital premium reserve Scheme losses
HRBA  H00FES
RN HEE

B REE FHRE  BRORS ZitEE RHAE

Total equity

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 30) (Note 32) (Note 32) (Note 31) (Note 32)
(H#30) (H&3) (K30 (Hi&£31) (BE3)
Balance at | January 2023 ROV AR &8 315 4,103,949 114,782 (14 (2,723,844) 1,495,188

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year EEFEREEGRAE - - - - (1,060,820 (1,060,820)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners REEASRBEEANRS
Share-based payments (Note 31) R AR (K 3) - — 22,989 — — 2,989
Shares vested under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme and RENONEEEHBHHBER
transferred to the grantees (Note 31) BHEABAHRN (H33) - 71,782 (17,028) | - 755
- 71,182 (54,039) | - 23,744
Balance at 31 December 2023 RNBENR3IAMEH 315 4,181,131 60,743 (13) (3,784,664) 458,112
Balance at | [anuary 2022 R0 AR &8 m 3358871 65,506 (17) (1769475) 1,655,158
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FEFERZEGEAE - - - - (954369) (954369)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners REEASBEEANRS
Issue of shares of the Company (Note 30) FARRARG (W3F0) 4 697,747 — - - 697,769
Share-based payments (Note 31) AR BE R (E3) - - 956% — — 9563
Shares vested under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme and RENNFEERBEBER
transferred to the grantees (Note 31) BRHEREAHREG (M3 - a3 (46:360) 3 - 974
ol 745078 9276 3 - 794399
Balance at 31 December 2022 RNDENA3IRMEER 315 4103949 114782 (4 (2723844) 1,495,188

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

LA bR & v e & B K FE B BB BT 2 BY 5 — 6F 5O

in conjunction with the accompanying notes. = o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWVS

GERETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023
HE203F 128318 IEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZE2023FE 128318 L EE

2023
20234

RMB’000
ARBTT

Note
B 5T

Cash flows from operating activities

REETDMERTRE

2022
20224
RMB'000
AREF T

Cash used in operations KEFAR S 33 (385,354) (960,267)
Interest paid [RENEIESN (12,118) (9.961)
Interest received 2 U EF B 5 10,185 9,873
Income tax paid ERNAEN (294) (905)
Net cash used in operating activities K& FHMARESFHE (387,581) (961,260)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFREBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BE B ¥ % - BB & & (2,723) (27,470)
Purchase of intangible assets HBERTEE — (178)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME  BERREMS
plant and equipment FRIE 210 195
Purchases of time deposits with maturities ~ fEE 2| HAHE B =E A
of over three months E B fE K (88,991) (10,000)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERARBEG=EAEE
through profit or loss YT AETHERD
TREE 22 (48,108) (210,702)
Proceeds from time deposits with maturities Z| 8§ B 48 18 = & A 59
of over three months EHIF R ET 1B IR 87,652 124,351
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERANEBEFEAEE
at fair value through profit or loss EEHAAZHESN
TREEMSHA 22 48,599 212,706
Interest received from time deposits with BB EAER=EAK
maturities of over three months TE HTF 3R B 1,419 789
Payments for investments in a joint venture ~ XIT R —HREE L E R
and an associate —XEERANERE 16, 17 — (18,513)
Withdrawal/(payments) for restricted cash B (ZHZBREIE e 5,216 (3,983)
Net cash generated from investing REFHMEBREFE
activities 3,274 67,195
FRAEXERAA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HERERER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

Note
B T

Cash flows from financing activities

MEFHRERENE

Year ended 31 December

BZE2023FE 128318 L EE

2023
20234

RMB’000
ARBTT

2022
20224F
RMB'000
AR T T

Principal elements of lease liabilities ENHEEBELREHD 33 (4,818) 4,613)
Proceeds from borrowings R PIEHRIE 33(ii) 70,000 170,000
Proceeds from shares vested under the B4R 20205 & B B 51 2l
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme and BBEREBREAKAD
transferred to the grantees A& 17 P 45 7K 38 31 755 974
Repayments of borrowings 1%? EERX 33(iii) (99,400) (48,400)
Proceeds from issue of shares of the Company 2 172N A R] & 15 FT 15 3K 18 30 — 697,789
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEFEH(XH) B
financing activities ReFH (33,463) 815,750
Net decrease in cash and cash REeRASCEEMRIFH
equivalents (417,770) (78,315)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FUReEkREEEY
of the year 864,470 926,331
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash RekBeEEMHNER
equivalents (BB, W (2,673) 16,454
Cash and cash equivalents at theend FREESRESZEEY
of the year 24 444,027 864,470
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in A FREH R EREEBEMN 2 M — 06
conjunction with the accompanying notes. iH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI EwRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023
HE203F 128318 IEFE

| GENERAL INFORMATION

I.I General information

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited (the “Company’) was
incorporated on 16 May 2018 in the Cayman lIslands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-I111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in research and development of

innovative medicine products.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 22 May
2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB") thousands, unless otherwise stated.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to both the years

presented, unless otherwise stated.

— &
LI —REH

FEXERAR (A28 ) —KR1
018F5FI6ARBAESR S RANEARN
REHSTMRINERRBRAR -
H oF it 3% =5 B2 i 4iF /3 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KYI-I11l, Cayman Islands ©

ARBR/—REEEZERAR - ARQF]
FEWBRAR(RHEIAEE])EZHK
EMBRIMBEER -

RATIRMHDE B2020FE58202B R F B
BAERGHMER AR ER LT

SRR BHAN - NiFEMERRIAA
EBE(TAR®D TR -

MRER FIBRRNIEENE
1t

REGAEMBRRMERNERZSHER
I - BREEERI RAARFESR
BRAZFHR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB
(“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss (FVPL) which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are material to the consolidated financial

statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(a) Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group
The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the

financial year beginning on | January 2023:

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

2 mUER SHERRNBENS

®)

2.1 MBEEE)

() FEBEFRAFREAR 2 E

$EIE§}’X%T4%T§|JE%EA
20234 | A 1 H & H{F ARy 28I &

e N,

Effective for
accounting
periods

beginning on

Standards Key requirements or after
RELT BEA

HZEBBEE

%= Al FERTE SFHBEXR
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts | January 2023
B % B 75 o 5 & AT RIS 1757 R A # 20231 AR

Amendments to IAS | and
IFRS Practice Statement 2
R EANFESRUERTAR)  BRFBRE
g qu/’% QBB R EFE2HUEETA)
Amendments to IAS 8
e et R FE 85k (18
Amendments to IAS 12

HEN)

Rt ERIE125% (B FT )

Amendments to |AS |2

e ERIE 25 (B ETA)

These new standards and interpretations did not
have material impact on the financial performance
and position of the Group and did not require

retrospective adjustments.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SRR R E

Definition of Accounting Estimates
SrHEFESE
Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising From a
Single Transaction
HE-XGMELENEENR
BEAMIELENIA
International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

By = 2023F 1 A 18
— YR BIE AR
ZEMEANZEBYEANEBNE
BREMMKRATVEERTE  Jh
DEB WAL -
BREEARAT

| January 2023
202351 A8
| January 2023
2023F1AIH
| January 2023

20231 A IB

| January 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have not come into effect for the financial
year beginning on | January 2023 and have not
been early adopted by the Group in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. None of these is
expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. These standards

and amendments to standards are as follows:

2 mBEER ETHENEENS
&)

2.1 MBEEE)
(b) MFIRAEFERR 2 E

R2023F I A BB REE -
EAAREENE THEANU KRR
BEARZENEITIACEER MK
BRARER  TAEAEERT
I N e =R i)
BHREREEEATE - ZFHME
Al RABFT AR F AT -

Effective for
accounting

periods

beginning on or

Standards Key requirements after
RUTHBS

ZERBBEN

]| TERE SAHBEEX
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined

B 81 7 R 45 & SRR 03 I
B 13 B 228 (1837 )

Amendments to |AS |

BB e 5 2R 157 (5 5T &)
Amendments to IAS |

R@ R (B ET )

Amendment to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

R ERET R L EE TSRS eEt
HRISE75% (BRI A)

Amendment to IFRS 16

BIRR B 75 & & 5t RIS 165 (B RT &)

Amendments to IAS 2|

R g E TR 25 (BRI A)
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Between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

REFEEER S AR fFE
BREEEECHAEE
HEFIEE
Classification of Liabilities as | January 2024
Current or Non-current
BESPEARDAIFRD 20241 A18
Non-current liabilities with | January 2024
covenants
MeRHEnIERB BE 202451 A18
Supplier Finance Arrangements | January 2024
frE R A = 20241 AR
Leases on Sale and Leaseback | January 2024
ERECEE 20241 AR
Lack of Exchangeability | January 2025
R = A AR TT 202551 A IR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards and
amendments, certain of which are relevant to the
Group's operations. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the directors, no material impact
on the financial performance and position of the

Group is expected when they become effective.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not the respective group entities’ functional
currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions settled in RMB. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange
risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group denominated in the
currencies other than the functional currency,
except for cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits at bank in USD and HKD
which were primarily received from the investors
as capital contributions as mentioned in Notes 23
and 24.

If US dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMB5,705,341 lower/higher as
at 31 December 2023, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in US dollars.

If HK dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMB2,978919 lower/higher as at
31 December 2023, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net

monetary liabilities denominated in HK dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SREREE#)

(Continued)
3. EREARRER#®)
@) TEEB(E)
(i) RERERAAEENZE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, except
for lease liabilities (Note 26), cash and cash
equivalents (Note 24), restricted cash (Note 24),
time deposits (Note 23) and borrowings (Note
25). Those carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas
those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the
Group's borrowings were carried at fixed rates,
which exposed the Group to fair value interest

rate risk.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to

change significantly.

K

AEBNRARKEER SR
EREREAIMIGHNREF)
WEgE - RESEECE
26) B2 hBEEZEEME
it24) X R & B 2 (&
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FHAAEAEERER R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
time deposits and wealth management products.
The carrying amounts of receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, time deposits, and wealth management
products since they are substantially deposited at or
purchased from state-owned banks and other medium
or large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties and the loss

allowance provision is considered immaterial.

Management has assessed that during the year ended
31 December 2023, other receivables have not
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Thus, a |2-month expected credit loss
approach that results from possible default event
within 12 months of each reporting date is adopted
by management. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
other receivables mainly comprise deposits to lessors
in respect of the Group's leased properties and
refunds receivable from suppliers. The Group expects
that there is no significant credit risk associated with
other receivables since the counterparties have no
history of default. Accordingly, the expected credit loss

of other receivables is considered immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3 TRERER®)

3. eRIEREEE)
O TEMEE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining HEMTB MR EEBERES
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the ability to apply AENBEELREEFEY UK
for credit facilities if necessary. The Group finances its EVERBEREE @ﬁﬁ HIBE A o
working capital requirements through issue of new REBFEBBEITHR BRRK

shares, borrowings and government grants.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s

liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying

balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023FNA3BILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued)

3 TEERERZ)

3. sREKREEZ)
© FHEHHERRBE)

Less than Between Between
Il year land2years 2andb5 years Total
f:30 1226 2E5%F Azt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTR ARBT ARBTT
At 3|1 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
Bank borrowings RITIER 122,600 116,202 20,220 259,022
Trade and other payables B5REMERN
RE 89,548 - - 89,548
Amounts due to related parties &< B8 B 7 50 IR 2,000 — — 2,000
Lease liabilities HEAR 4,710 2,320 - 7,030
Total @zt 218,858 118,522 20,220 357,600
At 31 December 2022 R20226 128318
Bank borrowings RITER 109,581 51,399 136422 297402
Trade and other payables BH5REMERN
RR 196,143 — — 196,143
Amounts due to related parties &< B8 B 7 50 IR 258 — — 258
Lease liabilities HEAR 4758 3973 | 643 10,374
Total #st 310,740 55,372 138,065 504,177

32 EXEERE

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity
holders, return capital to equity holders, issue new shares

or sell assets to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash. Total capital is calculated as “total
equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt. As at 31 December 2023 and 3l
December 2022, cash and cash equivalents is more than
total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing ratio

is not applicable.

3.3 Fair value estimation

(@) This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed

under the accounting standards:

Level I: The fair values of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale
securities) are based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted market price

used for financial assets is the current bid price.

Level 2: The fair values of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market are determined
using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,

the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.
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mEMBRRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

@

®)

©

(Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

of the reporting period.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair

values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include the use of quoted market
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments or
discounted cash flow analysis. The Group did not
have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis, with the exception of the
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options, which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss and which constitute Level 3
measurements under the fair value hierarchy. The
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options are valued based on cash flow
discounted using the expected return based on

management judgements and estimates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2023 and 3| December 2022, the
Group had no assets and liabilities measured at fair

value.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 3| December 2023

and 2022, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value (Continued)

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

3 TRERER®)

3.3 AREBEMEE)
(© BAAREBHEIENESHEERE
Bl RALEEE)

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
RAREBEFEEEEBHTA
EHEENEREE
Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETTT
Opening balance F A — —
Additions NE 48,108 210,702
Disposals & (48,599) (212,706)
Gains recognised in other O E A 4y 25 B FR Y
gains — net W a2 F R 491 2,004

Closing balance FRER —_ —

(d) Fair value of financial assets that are not

measured at fair value

The Group considers that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate

their fair values.
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mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances. The estimates and judgements that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

@

(b)

Development expenditures

Development expenditures incurred on the Group's
research and development activities, including conducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing
development efforts and activities related to regulatory
filings for the Group’s drug candidates, are capitalised as
intangible assets only when the capitalisation criteria set
out in Note 39.8(b) is met. Expenditures that do not meet
these capitalisation principles are recognised as research
and development expenses. During the year ended 3|
December 2023, the Group’s research and development
expenditures incurred did not meet these capitalisation

principles for any products and were expensed as incurred.

Impairment testing of intangible assets not
ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. The Group obtained
in-licenses and IPR&D through separate acquisition
or business combination to continue research and
development work and commercialise the products, which

are classified as intangible assets not ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Impairment testing of intangible assets not

ready for use (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows

(cash-generating units).

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the

asset.

The fair value was estimated using the discounted cash
flow approach. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
success rate of commercialisation, market penetration rate,
revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage of costs and
operating expenses, and post-tax discount rate, is required
to be made by the directors in applying the discounted cash

flow approach.

For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Impairment testing of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is any indication that the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets may be
impaired. To determine whether an impairment indicator
exist, management considers both internal and external
source of information, including the plan and progress of the
research and development projects and the prospect of the

technology.

When there is indication that property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives
may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the relevant assets or the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong, including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. The estimated
uncertainty mainly includes gross margin, discount rate and
growth rate. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or a

further impairment loss may arise.

For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note |13 and
14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Provision for inventories

(®

Provision for inventories is made for those inventories with
a carrying amount higher than net realisable value. The
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories involves
high degree of estimation uncertainties and judgement
subjectivity associated with usage of the inventories,
estimated selling prices, future sales quantities and related
processing fees and selling expenses. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will have impact on the
carrying amounts of inventories and the write-down/write-
back of inventories in the period in which such estimate has

been changed.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment with reference to
the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these assets.
Management will revise the depreciation where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review
could result in a change in depreciable lives and therefore

depreciation charges in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(f) Deferred income tax

4 BEREEFTRAE &)

f) ELEFRBH

The Group recognises deferred tax assets based
on estimates that is probable to generate sufficient
taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which
the deductible losses will be utilised. The recognition
of deferred tax assets mainly involved management's
judgements and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies who had
tax losses. During the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these accumulated tax losses and other

deductible temporary differences based on the fact that all

REBGFRAIRRRRAIGEELER
5 FE SR A% F AT A A K S AT H R &S 18
KEREEHBEEE - BEEHBEE
BREESREEEYECEHEEIE
B~ B B FE SR B i I R % B A 2
BT R fhEt o B E 20235 22022412 A3
HIEFE  ARARRFTEEMEY
e 7 5 B A B B B R R R 2R FE BR B
FETHEE  WERZERREES
BREMAINBEREZEBERELER
BEE -

drug candidates of the Company were in earlier research
and development stage and the future taxable profits would

be uncertain.

5 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES 5 HttWw AREHR

Year ended 31 December

BZ1NAIBLEE

2023 2022

20234 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTFT

Government grants (Note (a)) I 1 8 Bl (Fff 5% (2)) 8,708 11,683
Interest income from bank balances IRITHE B B U A 11,046 6,666
Interest income from time deposits EHERF B BA 2,031 216
Income from the sales of raw materials REMEHEEE R A 501 —
Cost of the sales of raw materials iH & R FEHK AR (1,456) —
Others Hit 37 47
20,867 18,612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Continued)

@

The government grants related to income have been
received to compensate for the expenses of the Group's
research and development. Some of the grants related to
income have future related costs expected to be incurred
and require the Group to comply with conditions attached
to the grants and the government to acknowledge the
compliance of these conditions. These grants related to
income were recognised in profit or loss when related
costs are subsequently incurred and the Group received

government acknowledge of compliance.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and they are credited to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

6 EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 RMEBE WX

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETET
Provision for inventories (Note 20) & W% (B £ & (Pt 5320) 603,879 92,986
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 18 818 7 BA 2 (Pt 539) 167,236 252,225
Clinical research expenses b PR B 55 7 X 89,783 410,028
Impairment losses of intangible assets (Note 15) | & ERE LA (M EE15) 86,589 —
Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment ¥ % ~ 8 B & & &R E
(Note 13) A (P FE13) 46,355 —
Utilities and office expenses KEBRB AR 26,356 33,25
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMERRETE
(Note 13) (M 3E13) 13,854 12,678
Materials and consumables used BERAMREFEM 13,702 113,102
Outsourced research and development costs HNELBF B B AR 11,622 35,787
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note [4) 2 A E &M aE14) 5,048 5,604
Less: amounts capitalised in property, plant and BRME - BENEE
equipment ERtbrEs (45) (45)
5,003 5,559
Professional fees EXEH 4,482 9,232
Auditors’ remuneration % 25 B B & 2,800 3,400
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets (Note 14) 1 F#E & E R (EEH
(M 5E14) 1,128 —
Rental expenses N5 682 1217
Bank charges RITE A 137 421
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |5) BmILEEEE (IS 19 15]
Others Hit 3,438 10,512

Total cost of sales, marketing costs, administrative 5 & X 4K » & $5 A 7N -
expenses and research and development costs 1T 2 Jo B 38 K AR
A8 X AN 1,077,165 980,549
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7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS — NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

7 Hitb(ER) WEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETET
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERANEBEFER
through profit or loss HEHFTAEHEZN
smEERS 491 2,004
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains HNEE (&5 18) /W 25 5 28 3,126) 16,329
Gains/(Losses) on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE BERZRHEDN
equipment Wz, (EE) 10 (620)
Others HAfth (300) (305)
(2,925) 17,408

8 FINANCE COSTS

8 HB#EREAK

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IBLEE

2023
20234

2022
20224
RMB'000
AR T T

RMB’000
ARBTT

Interest expenses on borrowings & RE 7 B 2 12,066 10,109
Less: borrowing costs capitalised in property, BE- - BERREF
plant and equipment (Note (a)) BB & AR
(Pt 5 @) (2,702) (2371
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBGBHNNEMAX 326 449
Finance costs B 75 B AR 9,690 8,187

(@) The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of (©)
borrowing costs are 4.24% and 4.27% for 2023 and 2022,

respectively.

PA20234F K20224F 0 AR E E B &
AR © R E AN RS Bl 54.24% %
427% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION)

EERANAX(BREEENE)

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARB®TR ARETE

Salaries, wages and bonuses e LERIEA 124,892 136,238

Contributions to pension plans (Note (a)) RS EIH KM FE@) 11,334 11,883
Housing funds, medical insurance and other social X B AEE® - BERRKR K

insurance (Note (b)) H 4t & R b (B 5 (b)) 8,021 8468
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 31) VA B 17 70 25 Bt ) 8 B B 2

GEED) 22,989 95,636

167,236 252,225

(@) As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the

Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement schemes
for its employees in the PRC. The Group’s employees
make monthly contributions to the schemes at certain
percentages of the relevant income (comprising wages,
salaries, allowances and bonuses, and subject to maximum
caps), subject to certain ceiling and has no further
obligations for the actual payment of postretirement
benefits beyond the contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement schemes are responsible for the entire post-
retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired

employees.

During the year ended 3| December 2023, no forfeited
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its

contributions for the current year (2022: Nil).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(b) Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to

©

participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other employee social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions

payable in each year

Five highest paid individuals
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five individuals

whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include
three directors (2022: two directors), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 37. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2022: three)

individuals were as follows:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

9 EERIRAX(BEESEME) &)

(b) 7% E R B IE S G H 2 RS E

©

BRFEMNEELES  BRERK
Hitg B akRatd - NEEEA
ERESHFENETADL  ALkF
ESHR A—F LR -AKEBU
FESAENRE  UEFEERND
HRBR -

hEREHFMAL
HE2023FNRA3BLEFE  AEER
FERETFMALBRRE=ZREE0Q02
F WMEBES) HFMRHE37275)
BT AR R B o FE A 8RN W 4 (2022
FZR)ALTHEFBOT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ1NAIALEE

2023
pliyk§:3

2022
20224
RMB'000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR®T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other

EXFE  EFERM -

allowances and benefits in kind E b EBE N FE e EF 2 3,891 6976
Discretionary bonuses BB TE 4L 59 742
Contributions to pension scheme RIREFH 8K 79 109
Share-based compensation expenses VA BR 19 75 25 Bt 9 357 BN 9 =<

(Note (1)) ((E20) 5,824 18,969

9.853 26,796
BAhEEERATF

&4 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The remaining highest paid individuals fell within the

following bands:

9 EERIRAX(BREESEME) &)

() EBESHFMAL(E)
BRTIERERTMALTBUATHMEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Emolument bands ¥ B 28 B
HKD4,000,001 — HKD4,500,000 75 4,000,001 — 7 ¥ 4,500,000 I —
HKD#6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000 75 156,000,001 — 7 ¥ 6,500,000 — |
HKD#6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000 75 6,500,001 — 7 #7000,000 I |

HKD17,000,001 — HKD17,500,000

75 #517,000,001 — 7& #17,500,000 — |

Note (i): During the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022,
restricted share units/share options were granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme to highest paid employees
in respect of their services to the Group, further details of
which are included in Note 3| to the financial statements.
The fair values of such granted restricted share units/share
options, which have been recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income over the vesting period, were
determined as at each of the grant dates and the amounts
included in the financial statements for the current year are
included in the above non-director highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 10 FRiEBiEE (&)

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®ET T
Current income tax credit/(expense) BIEFTE M EE (BR)
— Current tax on profits for the year — FRENEFE — (1,077)
— Overprovision/(Underprovision) in prior year — BOEFEREE
(BHETR) 266 8)
Deferred income tax credit BEMSIHER 1,775 —
8,041 (1,085)
(i) Income tax expense () FIEHER

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which

members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the

Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

Kintor Science Limited, Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited
and Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited were
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2018 and are subject to Hong
Kong profits tax at the rate of 16.5% (2022:16.5%). Since
these companies did not have assessable profits during the
years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022, no Hong Kong

profits tax has been provided.

AREB AN ANEE KB RAFTEE M
S RDARE R FTE & S BRENR & A
REREEGMNAER -

HEHE
REFASEHERITAE  ARAHA
BB H R ERN RS -

&E

Kintor Science Limited * Koshine
Pharmaceuticals Limited & 7 ¥ % % & %
BERRAFR0I8FEET B FMAK L -
HZB#R16.5% (20224 : 16.5%) H) Tt = 44
MBEENEH - ARZFARRNEE
2023F R 2022 12 A3IBIEFE I & &
bR Al I mREE NS
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

(i) Income tax expense (Continued)
United States of Amevrica

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. was incorporated in the United
States of America and is subject to federal and state income
tax rate of 23.5% (2022:23.5%).

Ireland

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited was incorporated
in the Ireland in 2021 and deregistered on 12 June 2023.
It is subject to corporate income tax rate of 12.5% (2022:
12.5%). Since Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited did not
have assessable profit during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, no corporate income tax has been

provided.

The Mainland of China

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
and the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), the
subsidiaries which operate in the Mainland of China are
subject to CIT at a rate of 25% (2022:25%) on the taxable

income.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)
(i) Income tax expense (Continued)

The income tax on the Group's loss before income tax

differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the enacted tax rate in the PRC applicable to the Group as

follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

10 FrB8H&EE (BA)#E)

() FFIEHRERE)

AEBEGRPEHATERHMSHA R
PR BR R A8 A IR AN SR [ ) R BDA TE R R

AAEGHHIEREE  FROT:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETE
Loss before income tax BR PTG TR 1B (1,068,861) (953,284)
Tax calculated at the applicable tax 12 E R E25% st E &
rate of 25% ] (267,215) (238,321)
Difference in overseas tax rates BN R E R 3,505 2914)
Tax losses not recognised as RERBELERIEEED
deferred tax assets HIEEE 96,991 153,163
Temporary differences not recognised as RERBELERIAEER
deferred tax assets Trr=R 182,874 103,638
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax A LRI AR
losses IR B8 (197) 49)
Super deduction in respect of research and  fiff % i 52 8 B8 9 I 5T R
development expenditures (30,589) (46,914)
Expenses not deductible for income tax ] B PR 1S B0 R &0 B S
purposes 6,866 25,471
(Income)/losses not subject to taxation BEATN (W) BB (10) 7,003
Difference with prior year income tax annual _E—F E FTE R FE H W
filing H) = B8 (266) 8
Income tax (credit)/expense FiSBi(BEm|) &R (8,041) 1,085
PAREXARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

(i) Income tax expense (Continued)

The Group has operation mainly in Mainland China and
Hong Kong. It is within the scope of the OECD Pillar
Two model rules. As of the reporting date, there is no
public announcement in Mainland China. Hong Kong has
announced that it plans to implement the Global Minimum
Tax and Hong Kong Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax
starting from 2025 onwards but it is still under public
consultation with the expectation that draft legislation will
be published in the second half of 2024.

Since the Pillar Two legislation was not effective at the
reporting date, the Group has no related current tax
exposure. The Group applies the exception to recognising
and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in
the amendments to IAS 12 issued in May 2023.

In addition, since the Pillar Two legislation in the
jurisdictions that the Group operates in was not enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date, and due to
the uncertainty of the announcement of the legislation and
the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating
global income, the Group is in the process of assessing its
exposure to the Pillar Two legislation for when it comes into
effect.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

10 FREREHE (BH) #)

() FFIEHRERE)

AEBFEEFERAEMEEARE
% BREES ERER AR (OECD)
FE_STHEAEANEGE  c HERS
HEHY - B KEEERAHERBE -
AR EMTEI 205 FHAE RS
BeEBMESXEMEH - BRI
EARBRARBE  BRIEFH2024F
THFEM o

MAEERELHESE S XEIH
REK  NEBEBREBERBEHE B
BB o A& B E A M R 2023F5 A8
Re RIS 1216 (85T k) B9 T
RMFEERE S HEMERAENE
EFEREEMBENGIIMER -

SO IR EARERERDEEER
M2 — AR R & B R B &
BEEMMESN - BRRIDER ST
TE MDA Ko FE R SLAF At B2 BRIA R
RN AEBLEAENGBEHE —X
K B B L B K - DA B A R
MEFrES -



10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

(ii) Tax losses

The tax losses that are not recognised as deferred tax

assets are analysed as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

10 FrB8H&EE (BA)#E)

(i) REEH

ST :

WERRRRTERBEENRIARER

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®ET T

Expire year FEFE
2023 20234 —_ 157,194
2024 20244 362,196 362,196
2025 20254F 493,137 493137
2026 20264F 591,854 591,854
2027 20274F 577,799 581,742
2028 20284 366,375 —
Indefinite = HEIPR 87,507 46,882
2,478,868 2,233,005

Il DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

1 K2

HE2023F K20202F 12 A3IHIEFE - mA

A RN S E IR AE AR R e

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

12 LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per Share

Basic loss per Share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 3|1 December
2023 and 2022, excluding 17,650,704 shares (2022: 20,119,665
shares) held for the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (including
15,885,634 shares (2022: 18,107,699 shares) arising from the

relevant capitalisation issue of initial public offering).

12 SRER

EXEREE
EREAEEREHFBEREAAAIRENE
B E2023F M 2022F 12 A3IB IEFE
WmBEINSEROMETOEETHE -
TEIERE T B 81# 8 817,650,704
(2022 &20,119,6650%) * BIEEE X AR
ITHYNE A & A (L 31T 2= A 715,885,634 %
(20224 %18,107,699/%) °

Year ended 31 December

BZNA3IBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TRT ARETRT
Loss for the year FANEE (1,060,820) (954,369)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in EEITEBRMETHOH
issue (in thousand) (AT B& &) 429,069 376,566
Basic loss per Share (in RMB) EAGRERUUAREE) (2.47) (2.53)
Diluted loss per Share HESRER

Diluted loss per Share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had
one category of potential ordinary shares: share-based awards
granted to employees (Note 31). As the Group incurred
losses for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022, the
potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of
diluted loss per Share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per Share for the years ended 3l

December 2023 and 2022 are the same as basic loss per Share.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

13 % - BRERKE

Office
Machinery equipment
and and Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment furniture vehicles in progress Others Total
BARME
BF HBERRE RE&E RE EEIR At @it
RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR AR%Tx AREBTn ARETR
At | January 2023 R2023E181H
Cost KA 89,231 46,687 9,314 2,236 105,657 13,927 267,052
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (5,006) (13,831) (3,123) (1,284) - (3,558) (26,802)
Net book amount REFE 84,225 32,856 6,191 952 105,657 10,369 240,250
Year ended 3| December 2023 E 20235
NAIALEE
Opening net book amount FORAFE 84,225 32,856 6,191 952 105,657 10,369 240,250
Additions ANE - 513 52 - 3,579 281 4,525
Disposals HE - (192) ®) - - — (200)
Depreciation charge (Note 6) HEEBR (Wit (2,813) (6,132) (1,472) (300) - (3,137) (13,854)
Impairment loss (Note 6) BERERX
(Ftzte) - (2,605) (2,460) (99) (41,102) (89) (46,355)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 81,412 24,440 2,403 553 68,134 1424 184,366
At 3| December 2023 ®2023%12431H
Cost KA 89,231 47,008 9,458 2,36 109,236 14,208 21,377
Accumulated depreciation and ZitMERAE
impairment BX (7,819) (22,568) (7,05) (1,683) (41,102) (6,784) (87,011)
Net book amount REFE 81,412 24,440 2,403 553 68,134 7,44 184,366
At | January 2022 R2022F181H
Cost KA 57662 36,147 8603 2029 125,744 7625 237810
Accumulated depreciation RihE (2655) (8,126) (1,709) (962) — (672) (14124)
Net book amount REFE 55007 28021 6894 1,067 125,744 6953 203686
Year ended 3| December 2022 & 20225
NAIALEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 55,007 28021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6953 203686
Additions AE — 9645 591 — 17499 2322 30057
Transfers g 31,569 936 142 207 (36834) 3,980 —
Disposals & — (41) (22) — (752) — (815)
Depreciation charge (Note 6) WEER (Mo 231) (5,705) (1,414) () - (2.886) (12678)
Closing net book amount ERBEFE 84,05 3085 6,91 952 105,657 10369 240250
At 31 December 2022 #2025 128318
Cost KA 89,31 46687 9314 2036 105,657 13927 267052
Accumulated depreciation 2HiE (5,006) (13831) (3123) (1284) — (3558) (26,802)
Net book amount REFE 84,25 30,85 6,191 952 105,657 10369 240250
BHREXBRAR

&4 2023
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mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

170

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

follows:

13 % BERSKE®)

/i

ME BEMREBENTENGA 2H WS
KA - FBEWOT

B

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022

2023 2022%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARETE

Research and development expenses it 8% 2 7,856 7414
Marketing expenses % & HA X 65 65
Administrative expenses THAX 5,933 5,199
13,854 12,678

Because the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide and KX-826 has
been delayed due to the statistically insignificant phase Ill clinical
results of Pruxelutamide and KX-826, and the Company believes
that there are impairment indicators in the property, plant and
equipment related to Pruxelutamide and KX-826. The directors
of the Company have performed impairment assessment of the
property, plant and equipment and consequently determined an
impairment loss amounting to RMB46,355,000. The impairment
loss charged to cost of sales, research and development
expenses and administrative expenses are RMB4l[,101,000,
RMB2,608,000 and RMB2,646,000, respectively.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BTSSR KX-8260) = HA R IR 45 R
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

14 EREEE
Leased Land
properties use rights Total
HEYXE LTHERAE Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT AR®ETRT

At | January 2023

A2023F1 818

Cost DN 19,459 35,073 54,532
Accumulated depreciation ES ik 10,191) 2,114) (12,305)
Net book amount BREFE 9,268 32,959 42,227

Year ended 31 December 2023

H £2023F12A831H

IHEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFEE 9,268 32,959 42,227
Additions NE 1,426 — 1,426
Depreciation charge (Note 6) mEE A M Ee) (4,347) (701) (5,048)
Impairment loss (Note 6) BB 18 K (Fff 5E6) — (1,128) (1,128)
Closing net book amount FRIRAFE 6,347 31,130 37,477

At 31 December 2023

R2023F12A31H

Cost X AR 20,885 35,073 55,958
Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERREER

impairment (14,538) (3,943) (18,481)
Net book amount EEFE 6,347 31,130 37,477

At | January 2022

A2022F1 818

Cost DN 10,242 35,073 45315
Accumulated depreciation ES ik (5,289) (1,412) (6,701)
Net book amount BREFE 4953 33,661 38,614

Year ended 31 December 2022

H £2022%12831H

LFEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 4953 33,661 38,614
Additions NE 9217 — 9217
Depreciation charge (Note 6) HEER (W) (4,902) (702) (5,604)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 9,268 32,959 42,227

At 31 December 2022

7#2022%12831H

Cost DN 19,459 35,073 54532

Accumulated depreciation R e (10,191) 2,114 (12,305)

Net book amount EEFE 9,268 32,959 42227
BREEARAT

F 3R 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continved) 14 EFRAEEE®W
Depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged to the FRAEEEMNNTERGEZEKEERAT
consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows: Br - FEIBIAR

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARETET
Research and development expenses A 1,876 1,993
Administrative expenses THAX 3,172 3,611
Less: amounts capitalised in property, plant and BRME - BENEE
equipment BEREH &5 (45) (45)
5,003 5559
Land use rights represents the land use rights granted by T AP E BB N AR A
the PRC government authority on the use of land within the EHAERLHME TR LHMERE - K
pre-approved lease period. The original lease terms of the SERFEFAEN T HERENRESH
land use rights of the Group held in the PRC are 50 years. A509F o PR2023F 12 A31H  BEAEEERK
As at 3| December 2023, certain land use right, buildings A R %83,000,0007T (Fff 7%25)(20224 12 A3
and construction in progress were pledged for the Group's H : A K ®91,500,0007T) il K 37 & 5 + i
borrowings amounting to RMB83,000,000 (Note 25) (3| At BFREREIR-

December 2022: RMB91,500,000).

172 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS I5 BEEE
Software In-licenses IPR&D Total
g4 FAE O ETHHMR st
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARETTT ARET T
At | January 2023 R20235 1 81H
Cost XK 1,235 79,618 155,272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation 25t # i (477) — — (477)
Net book amount REFE 758 79,618 155,272 235,648

Year ended 3|1 December 2023 B Z2023F 128318

LEE

Opening net book amount FHEREFE 758 79,618 155,272 235,648
Amortisation charge (Note 6) B8 (2t (19) = = (119)
Impairment charge (Note 6) WEE X (M Te) - (55,490) (31,099) (86,589)
Closing net book amount ERKEFE 639 24,128 124,173 148,940
At 31 December 2023 R2023£12831H
Cost XA 1,235 79,618 155,272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation and LA EHE R REERE

impairment (596) (55,490) (31,099) (87,185)
Net book amount REFE 639 24,128 124,173 148,940
At | January 2022 R20225181H
Cost P AR 1057 79618 155,272 235947
Accumulated amortisation g §i (326) — (326)
Net book amount REFE 731 79,618 155272 235,621
Year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F12831H

LEE

Opening net book amount FOREFE 73l 79618 155272 235,621
Additions NE 178 — 178
Amortisation charge (Note 6) s (o) (I51) — (151)
Closing net book amount EREEHEFE 758 79618 155272 235,648
At 31 December 2022 ®20225 128318
Cost P AN 1235 79618 155,272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation LB (477) — — “477)
Net book amount BEFE 758 79618 155,272 235,648

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 15 BEEE®)

174

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

BNEENBEERNGEAEZERERAN
B - SHBmT

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2023 2022

2023 2022%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Research and development expenses it 8 2 6 38
Administrative expenses THAX 113 13
119 I51

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial

recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for license of intellectual properties
in development, with non-refundable upfront payment, milestone
payment and royalty payment. Upfront payment is capitalized
when paid. The milestone payment is capitalised as intangible
assets when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow the
capitalisation policy in Note 39.8(b). Royalty payment would
be accrued for in line with the underlying sales and recognised
as a cost of sales. However, if the intangible asset is acquired
in a business combination, it is measured at fair value at initial

recognition.

In-licenses and IPR&D acquired are subsequently stated at cost

less any impairment losses.

For research or development expenditures which are related
to an IPR&D project acquired separately or in a business
combination and incurred after the acquisition of that project,
they shall be accounted for in accordance with the capitalisation
policy in Note 39.8(b).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
when ready for use and over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not ready for use
will not be amortised but tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The impairment
test would compare the recoverable amount of the in-licenses
and IPR&D asset to its carrying value. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from

indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses and IPR&D with finite useful life are amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying
products, commencing from the date when the products are put

into commercial production.

See Note 39.8 for the other accounting policies relevant to

intangible assets.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group's development expenditures incurred did not meet the
capitalisation principles for any products and were expensed as

incurred.

Intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested annually based
on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate CGU
is at the product level. The recoverable amount of each CGU
was determined based upon the higher of fair value less costs of

disposal and value in use.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 BEEE &)

BREEMNAERFRSRBRANER
- BRENENEERRZAIEREHE
FHEH YRATRBENETEER
HIR BB R R EIRE - RBRAERFH
MEBETLEENBHEBNBEHTZZ IR
BEFBRFERES X - AERERF
W W T A EANETLEER T 2ETHE
e MREFEBARACELEMRS
FEATRAE R o 3% OB (E R A LL BLAT A
FAETTHR T B ER AT IR E € 58 HE IR
miE - EERFHNETLEENAERSF
HEFETRS  UBTERFHTER
BHESE X - 1% - RIS A EH
AEAEREAROZEIZAEIEEEA

B IR A 4 B0 R AT 4 R ETT P VAR
SREMERBERRABELEERSE
FAEEEARF A RE S -

FHEFEEMNHMS IR F2HHN
£¥39.8 °

HE2023FR20202F N A3IBIEFE » K&
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B R EARL G -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

In respect of the value in use calculation, the Group use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management and the discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect

specific risks relating to the relevant products.

The fair value less costs of disposal was estimated using the
discounted cash flow approach. The fair value measurement
hierarchy of in-licenses and IPR&D was level 3. The estimated
revenue of in-licenses and IPR&D is based on management’s
expectations of timing of commercialisation, market penetration
rate and success rate of commercialisation. The discount rate
used is post-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant

products.

The percentage of costs and operating expenses to revenue is
the percentages over the revenue forecast period. It is based
on the current margin levels of comparable companies, with
adjustments made to reflect the expected future price rises in
labour and relevant equipment. The market penetration rate was
used based on the expected selling conditions considering the
features of marketing and technology development. The success
rate of commercialisation was determined based on practices
of pharmaceutical industries, development of technologies and

related regulations from administrations.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

@

On 31 May 2017, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license with a package of technology and patents
to develop and commercialise GTI708F. GTI708F is an
inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction pathway.
Suzhou Kintor made an initial RMB3,044,000 non-
refundable upfront payment in 2017, and made a payment
of RMB3,500,000 in 2019 and another payment of
RMB3,500,000 in 202
agreement with the transferor. Total payment up to 3l
December 2023 amounted to RMBI10,044,000. Suzhou
Kintor is obligated to make payments aggregating
RMB20,000,000 and USD25,000,000 upon the

achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou

based on the supplemental

Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales

of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that GTI708F
will be able to generate revenue from 2027 to 2043 with
the first six years climbing, the last eleven years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for GTI708F.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 BEEE &)

@

M2017F5H318 & M 4 B — 4
BMEEMNNZIRBRITAT - AE
N 7 % 1t GTI708F ° GTI708F & — &
hedgehog {= 5% 8% 38 15 1 #D I B o &R M
7 0 1R20174F X1 A K #3,044,0007T
MBEETREENR  WREHEE
BHHNBAEHRR09F I FARE
3,500,000 R0 EZ B —B AR
#£3,500,0007T ° HE2022F 12 318/
N 4a%E B A RE10,044,0007C © &M
FMBTERE THERREERIN
#2 =+ A R #20,000,0007T 525,000,000
ETLHFIE - BRMEAHRMEAEENS
THRXEREEINE THE KR
BERHFIHERRERNETER
BEXINETFEARE -

ZEFEEMARERFEAMRKE K
SEEEHEEMEITE - REHE
REMERAENLCR  EEEM
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I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(Continued)

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 3|

December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 |BEEE®)
@ &)

M2023FE K% 202FE 12 A3IB A R BEET

BAEANEEBRKMT

As at 31 December

Post-tax discount rate

Revenue growth rate for the stable period
Revenue growth rate for the declining period
Market penetration rate

Success rate of commercialisation

Percentage of costs and operating expenses
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000)

MI12831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
i 1&g BE 3R X 20.0% 20.0%
BEHKSERE 1.4%~25.7% 2.3%~15.3%
RN KEERE -58.1%~-0.3%  —23.1%~-0.3%
MmiB2EX 0.5%~44.0% 0.5%~44.0%
EERKINE 12.2% 8.0%
AR EEREZEE 42.6%~116.8%  43.0%~128.8%

I8¢ E B AR Y E

R (ARETIT) 147,831 44,649

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was
no impairment as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of GTI708F is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as
at 31 December 2023 by RMBI37,787,000 (31 December
2022: RMB34,605,000). Considering there was still
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate

carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) On 2 January 2019, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive

global license to develop and commercialise c-Myc inhibitor.
Pursuant to the contract entered, Suzhou Kintor made an
initial RMB3,000,000 non-refundable upfront payment.
Suzhou Kintor is obligated to make payments aggregating
RMB27,000,000 and USD10,000,000 upon the achievement
of certain development milestones. Suzhou Kintor is also
obligated to make certain payments upon the achievement
of certain commercial milestones and royalty payments
at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales of the

products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group
is continuing research and development work. Based on
the research and development process and experience of
the approval process, management estimates that c-Myc
inhibitor will be able to generate revenue from 203! to
2039 with the first five years climbing and the last four years

stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for c-Myc inhibitor.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

15 BEFXEE®)
(b) F2019F 1 A28 « & M A IS H %

R FELcMyciDHI Bl & 2 K BRET
Ao RIBFIZMEH  BHRMNEAHIN
A R¥E3,000000cHEERARETE
N BMNAHRBEEKRE THRER
218 1% T 85T A K #27,000,0007T &
10,000,000 JTTHIFIE © &R IR INE
FEXRETEERERBREINETR
B RIRBEMNFHEEZERN
S ARERINETEAESE -

ZEEEERMKREDAIERAMEE - K
SEFEEBHETIE - REBHE
MERERENLCR  TBE M
-Myc 0 il Bl 722031 4F 20394 #5 4E #9
EENZE  BEAFHEA BUNFZ2
ARERERBE -

B EEE B EEMET  UEE
MyciHI B30 4 B 4 B a0 AT B %
# -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 15 BEEE®)
(b) (Continued) (b) (%)
The key assumptions used for value in use calculation as M2023F 2022 2 A3IB AR EBER
at 31 December 2023 and fair value calculation as at 3l ERMERANEFEREZOT:

December 2022 are as follows:

As at 31 December

RI2A31R
2023 2022
2023 20224F
Discount rate REIR = 24.2% 20.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BEHOHKRERE 1.8%~7.5% 2.2%~7.9%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period %% 3R Hi A U 5 18 & =K -5.9%~-1.8% ~8.0%~-1.5%
Market penetration rate M52 %X 0.1%~4.4% 0.196~4.4%
Success rate of commercialisation [SEZA:000#ES 4.3% 7.6%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses i AN DA K2 4% & B 2 G b 48.1%~134.5%  48.1%~129.8%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’'000) ReEABEMMAKE

sB(ARETIT) — 423

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was an BRBRER 4R - 1R2023F 12 A31H
impairment of RMB3,000,000 (3| December 2022: Nil) as FTHR R B A R #3,000,0007T (20224 12
at 31 December 2023. A3IB: &)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the M2023F 12 A318 + Myc ¥ 5l B &) 3]
CGU of -Myc inhibitor is estimated to be zero. As at 3l CEABMAIKESBEMETR - R
December 2022, the recoverable amount of the CGU of 2022912 A318 ¢ Myc#l % Bl #9 3R &
c-Myc inhibitor is estimated to exceed the carrying amount EXBENAKEEERREES BN
of the CGU by RMBI,231,000. AR B &8 A R ¥1,231,0007T ©

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

©

On 14 February 2018, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license to develop and commercialise ALK-1 antibody
with an upfront payment of RMB4,085,000. Suzhou Kintor
is obligated to make milestone payments aggregating
USD13,000,000 in respect of development and receipt
of marketing approval in China (which includes Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan), additional milestone payments
aggregating USD33,000,000 for other countries, a further
one-time milestone payment of USD5,000,000 for a second
indication anywhere in the world, certain payments at the
applicable achievement of certain commercial milestones
and royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that ALK-1 will
be able to generate revenue from 2028 to 2035 with the
first four years climbing and the last four years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for ALK-| antibody.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 BEEE &)

©

720182 A 148 - gRM AR UA R
14,085,0007T &) TB A 5RER 15 B 2 R i %
LALK- 1 BB 2 BB R ] © & M F
WEEBREFR(BEEE - BMR
PEAE)REEYRES T E
1 4858 /5 13,000,0003 JT Ky B F2 RE -
;O BEAMBERELENBEE AR
#8%5133,000,0003€ 7T * BAEZREM T
BHE—BEBERSEL —REER
18 < 3X5,000,000% 7t * R & E @ 8 F
HEBETHEENETHXEREN
SNETER  WEREANSTER
REXINETAERAEE -

ZEREEMAKEDFEAME K
SEFTEEMEITE REME
MERERRENLCR  BEEME
ALK-1 57420284 Z= 20354 #% BE S0 B 4 I
= HNFHEEA  ANFE2RBE
SEF

B EERBGEMET  AEE
AK-MEBRSELEENNA KL S
B ©
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I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

() (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 3l

December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 |BEEE®)
o &)

M2023FE K% 202FE 12 A3IB A R BEET

BAEANEEBRKMT

As at 31 December

Post-tax discount rate

Revenue growth rate for the stable period
Revenue growth rate for the declining period
Market penetration rate

Success rate of commercialisation

Percentage of costs and operating expenses
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000)

AI12831H
2023 2022
20235 2022%F
TRz IR = 20.0% 20.0%
EEHOkEERE 2.1%~20.3% 22.9%

TR MR 36
452 1B

-4.4%~-2.6%
0.3%~15.0%

EEINA:D RIS 25.2%
AR EERZEE 42.3%~114.8%
I8¢ E A E MR Y [E

R (ARETIT) 137,908

—6.3%~-0.6%
0.3%~15.0%
33.3%
41.2%~110.3%

274,095

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of ALK-| is estimated
to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at 3l
December 2023 by RMBI123,826,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB260,010,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate

carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BB RBEFEE R - R2023F %2022
FNANBEILERE -

R2023F 12 A318 @ ALK-1H IR & E &
BUAWESBHARASELESEN
AR T (B B A R #5123,826,0007T (2022
F12 A31H : A R¥260,010,0007T) ° 2
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EREBRERE ERAZEREZNE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) The IPR&D represented KX-826, an androgen receptor

antagonist, amounted to RMBI155,272,000, as a result of the

business combination of Suzhou Koshine.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that KX-826 will
be able to generate revenue from 2026 to 2030 with the

first four years climbing and the last year stable.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for KX-826.

The key assumptions used for value in use calculation as
at 31 December 2023 and fair value calculation as at 3|

December 2022 are as follows:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 BEEE &)

@)

EITHRHEIEHNAENEL S G
ELME 5 A AN REI55272,0007T HY
KX-826 (—TE M =X &R MA) -

ZEREEMAEDIFEAME K
SEFTEEMEZEITE REME
MERERRENLCR  BEEME
KX-82622026F Z20304F #%5 B 50 EE &£

e BEOFESETT  #-F2REB
EBE -

BYAERBAEMET AETE
KX-8263 & EAFEMMAI T -

R2023ER20202EN BB AR BEE
ERRAMEERRKROT:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Discount rate g 22.6% 18.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BEHNKRRERE 22.3% 5.49%~24.4%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period %% R Hi A U #5388 & & NAT E A NA-iE A
Market penetration rate M52 E= 0.02%~7.2% 0.0%~7.5%
Success rate of commercialisation EEXA: 02 54.0% 66.5%
Percentage of costs and operating expenses X A% bA J2 &8 & F S G b 44.7%~240.2%  47.2%~1514%

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) R EEBRMHA Y E
2B(ARETIT) 124,173 451,319
BAREXARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

®©

As at 31 December 2023, based on the result of
impairment assessment, the recoverable amount of the
CGU of KX-826 is estimated to be less than the carrying
amount of the CGU by RMB31,099,000. Therefore, there
was an impairment of RMB31,099,000 as at 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of
the CGU of KX-826 is estimated to exceed the carrying
amount of the CGU by RMB296,047,000. Considering there
was still sufficient headroom based on the assessment,
the Directors and management believe that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed

its recoverable amount.

On 20 August 2020, the Group obtained an exclusive
license to develop and commercialise PD-LI/TGF-§3
molecule. Pursuant to the contract entered, the Group
made an initial USD4,000,000 non-refundable payment in
2020 and a milestone payment of USD4,000,000 in 2021.
The Group is obligated to make payments aggregating
USD15,000,000 upon the achievement of certain
development milestones. The Group is also obligated to
make royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BEEEG®)
d #&)

C)

7202312 A318 © EREE B 8
R - KX-826M)3R & EE A B AT Y [l
CHEIRREELESEMNEAREA
R ¥31,099,0007T ° & It © 72023412
A3I8 -+ FHR A E A K #31,099,0007T
(2022F 12 A31H : &) »

2022 12 A318 » KX-826MIR & EAE
BUAWESEHRARBASELEEN
BR M B 8 1 A R #296,047,0007T - 2
RIBEFETNERHNEEER - %
%&EEFWE R EZ/BEL
AR ITE %@Zﬁi@iiﬁmm
,.VD\EEE{E;*@&EI\TH&@@%E °

20208 H20H - AL BERSHE KR
B EPD-LI/TGF-B 9 TR BRI ©
BBFTIHEL - AEER2020F %
74,000,000 LY B E T AR E T
I 720214 3 144,000,000 T H) 2 12
AR - AEEETEKRE THER
FRRE 1% S 4888 515,000,000 3 JT X
HoAEENTARBRERNFIHER
REANETERAREXRINETE
A#ES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(e) (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the intangible asset was not
ready for use and the Group was continuing research
and development work. Based on the research and
development process and experience of the approval
process, management estimated that PD-LI/TGF-j
molecule would be able to generate revenue from
2028 to 2039 with the first seven years climbing and
the last five years stable and declining. An independent
valuation was performed by an independent appraiser, to
determine the recoverable amount of the CGU for PD-LI/
TGF-B molecule as at 31 December 2022. Based on the
assessment, there was no impairment as at 3| December
2022,

As at 31 December 2023, the intangible asset was not
ready for use. The Group did not conduct any research and
development work for PD-LI/TGF-8 molecule in 2023 due
to uncertainties and large fund requirements. The Group
plans to focus on dermatology pipelines. Also, the Group
has no clear license-out plan for this intangible asset. Thus,
the Group made a full impairment of RMB52,490,000 as at
31 December 2023.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

I5 BEEE &)

C)

(#&)

R20202F 12 A318 » ZEFEERRE
BIOIfE AR RE - RSB IEE A
TE - REBEHAERERBRRENL
5 - EEEHETPD-LI/TGF-5 20284
B9FHEEMEANE BEEFH
B #HFE2RBEBYE -@ABY
FLGEMETT T B UEEEE
2022412 A31B PD-LI/TGF-8 % F CGU
BRI B S5 o IRIEFT - #E2022
FNRA3IB - REZEERE -

M2023F 2 A3IR » ZEFEERKE
B AT E AR RE - BB PD-LI/TGF-8 &
ETHEMEFTERBEAEELES A
EER2023FRIFEEITPD-LI/TGF-B
B c AEBEKEMBEEINERE
B BEREEHZEHRIBRENY
SN RE R HE o Ak - 202312 A3
H XEEFRE2HBHE BARK
52,490,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

16 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Year ended 31 December
BEZENRAINBLEE

2023 2022
20234

20224
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®¥TR

Share of net assets, unlisted DIEEEFEGELT) 17,484 17,432
As at | January RKIAIH 17,432 —
Additions NE —_ 18,000
Share of gains/(losses) for the year DEFERME(EE) 52 (568)
As at 31 December R12A318 17,484 17,432

The particulars of the associate of the Company at 31 December

2023, which is unlisted, are set out as follows:

A E AR (FEET) R2023F 12 A31H
MEBOT:

Attributable
equity interest
to the Group
Issued and as at
Place of Registered fully paid 31 December
Company name incorporation capital capital 2023  Principle activities
R2023%
12A31R
BBTR Z¥ S
LFER o 1 BR 37 38 2 ERUE-EN BRRE BiERE IEED
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
Suzhou Industrial Park Kintor Zhidao ~ Suzhou 211,000 63,700 2826%  Engaging in equity investment and
Equity Investment Partnership asset management
(Limited partnership)* (“Zhidao
Partnership’)
HFNIXERRARERE &M HERERE AEER
REABLE(BRAR)
(HEaBEE])
% The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents K AR EEMEERE - WEPEGFMHAF

the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been
registered.

Zhidao Partnership is a private company and there are no

quoted market prices available for their shares.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ZRXELBRARDERERRARSNH LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

Zhidao Partnership is held through the subsidiary of the
Group, Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co., Ltd (“Suzhou
Tuochuang"). Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner. Pursuant
to the partnership agreement, the investment committee of
Zhidao Partnership has four representatives. Suzhou Tuochuang
has two representatives, the other limited partner has one
representative, and the executive partner has one representative
in the investment committee. All investment activities of
Zhidao Partnership should be agreed by no less than three

representatives of the investment committee.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Zhidao

Partnership which is accounted for using the equity method:
Zhidao Partnership:

Summarised statement of financial position:

16

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

R—ZFREBEQATNRE#H)

BEARLETBRBAKENE QR &
MABAIRIRIREBR AR (HMARD
B HMBRIRBRABA - REAXEW
& BEABLENREZEEHAMNAR
KK REZBETAMAK/MNAEIR
R AEBEREBARKR—ZHTAE
ARE - HEBEEBEEMBREERSTA
RAVDR=ZBREZEERKR—HAE

AT EIfEREREARNBEBABER
MBERBER:

BEARDLE:

B IR R R

As at 31 December

®I12A318
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Current Vi)
Total current assets mEEELE 20,348 61,690
Total current liabilities mBAEERE — —
Non-current JE 7 B
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 41,525 —
Total non-current liabilities IERBABERE — —
Net assets BEFE 61,873 61,690
BREEBRAA

F 3R] 2023 el



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

16 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 16 A —RBERANRKRE R
(Continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive loss: ZHBEERBE

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F PIPES
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETF T
Administrative expenses TR X 2,228 2,666
Gains/(losses) before income tax expense BRETEHERAIRE
(B#B) 183 (2010)
Income tax expense EHER —_ —
Gains/(losses) for the year FRlzE(B18) 183 (2010)
Share of gains/(losses) of the associate DihEE AR
(&) 52 (568)
17 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 17 R—XEERRNRE

Year ended 31 December

BZNA3IALEE

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR AR T T

Share of net assets, unlisted DIEEEFEGELT) 513 513

As at | January RIAIB 513 —

Additions NE — 513
Share of loss for the year SIEFANEE —* —*

As at 3| December RI2A318 513 513

*  The amount is less than RMBI,000. *  BIRARKIO000TT -

188 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)

The particulars of the joint venture of the Company at 3l

December 2023, which is unlisted, are set out as follows:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

17 A—RXEEQATNKRE &)

AATREE D GELE™)R2023F12A31H
MEEBHT:

Attributable
equity interest
to the Group
asat
Place of Registered  Issued and fully 31 December
Company name incorporation capital paid capital 2023  Principle activities
R2023E
12A318
BRTR 3 S
LARR o 1 BR 37 38 B EUE-EN BERE BiERE IEED
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
Suzhou Industrial Park Zhiyue Suzhou 2,050 1,025 5000%  Enterprise management;

Enterprise Management Center

(Limited partnership)* (“Zhiyue”)
FNIXERBMELXERDL BN

(BRA%)(5HE))

£ The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents
the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been
registered.

Zhiyue is a private company and there are no quoted market

prices available for their shares.

Zhiyue is the general partner of Zhidao Partnership. Zhiyue
is held through Suzhou Tuochuang, the subsidiary of the
Group. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, there are two
partnerships of Zhiyue. Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner.
The vote shall be based on the proportion of the capital
contribution actually paid, and decisions shall be approved by

more than two-thirds of the votes.

enterprise management
consulting
GXER AXERAN

* BERYEFMRXERE  REFEIMOAF
ZENEBARARERERZARABNEHAF
PXEENEEBE

BUB S —KILARE - BRI & H 5 R
’fg o

BHURBBEELENEBRABA - Bl
TEBAEENBATGMMERSE - R
EaXihaE BUBEMBABA - #HMA
BIREREBA - RAZHERRERCDH
HELLAIAE WE=52 A FNRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEeMBHRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023FNA3BILEE

17 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 17

(Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information for

Zhiyue which is accounted for using the equity method:

Zhiyue:

Summarised statement of financial position

R—REEQLTINKRE &)

BT #5526 A A BRIV B B A B
BE -

B

BRI R R

As at 31 December

MI12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR T T
Current ma
Total current assets mEEERE 25 25
Total current liabilities mEBERRE — —
Non-current EIS D)
Total non-current assets EmBEELE 1,000 | 000
Total non-current liabilities mEBAERE — —
Net assets EEFE 1,025 1,025

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

17 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 17 R—REERARNKRE 2
(Continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive loss ZHBEEREE

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

pLipk] 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR AR T T
Administrative expenses THAX —k —*
Loss before income tax expense BRATGTE RAIEE —* —*
Income tax expense TSt E A —* —*
Loss for the year FANEIE —* —*
Share of loss of the joint venture SEEELEER —* —*

*  The amount is less than RMBI,000. ¥ 2FIRARBIL000TT
18 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18 HittFERBEE

As at 31 December

R12A31H

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T R AR T T

Value-added tax recoverables AN E T 7,842 8,998

Prepayments for income tax TS 53 —
Prepayments for property, M - BB

plant and equipment R TR KB — 2,199

7,895 1,197

BIR#EXERAA 191
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 19 REHEsHWEMTE
CATEGORY

Financial assets at

amortised cost

REBERATTENERMEE
As at 31 December
RI12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETET
Assets as per statements of RUMBRRRNEE
financial position
Other receivables and deposits excluding non- HhEWRIERES
financial assets (TEEFEHEE) 3,926 3,607
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBEEED 445,499 865,08
Time deposits EHITFER 10,835 10223
Restricted cash ZRHIEE 425 5,641
460,685 884,552

Financial liabilities at

amortised cost
REERAHENSREAE
As at 31 December
RI2A31RH
2023 2022
2023 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TE

Liabilities as per statements of

financial position

BEMBERREZNER

Borrowings EE 247,100 276,500
Trade payables, other payables and accruals BHREMNRIE - Hith
excluding non-financial liabilities ERRIB R EFER
(TrBRREEemBE) 89,548 196,143
Lease liabilities MERRE 6,820 9,886
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< [ Bt 75 SR 1A 2,000 258
345,468 482,787

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 INVENTORIES

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

20 FE

As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2023 2022
20234

20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR FTT

R #

Raw materials

— 603,503

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned
to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain COVID-19
medical products have been manufactured with the Group's
progresses on the related research and development project.
As it was still in the process of obtaining the relevant regulatory
approvals as of 31 December 2022, such pre-launch inventories
of work in progress and finished goods were written down to
their net realisable value and the provision of RMB92,986,000
has been recognised as an expense (included in “Research and
development costs’) during the year ended 31 December
2022.

FRATEL - B an B BE P an T9 4R A A N AT &
BEEMERZBEEDIR - AT
RPN AEESBREM[BFEERAE - 7
ERFEENLEXHERTNMETEE
B 72 BRSBTS e #E 7T $H B P AR (il AT A
o

FEHE20202FNRA3ALEMNFEAN - ARE
HEANMELRRZEEERGER  ~5E
A EE TCOVID-19%5 @ » AR fE20224F 12 A
318 » COVID-19% m 13 & 7 BX 15 46 B8 25 8t
R EEBEEAEENTEREKmE
FHEEEIRFE - #22022F12A3181E
FE - £BAR92986000T AT E
KEEE EFRER(HREMZREAD
BR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PSRRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

20 INVENTORIES (Continued)

21

As at 3| December 2023, the gross amounts of inventories
were RMB603,879,000. During the year ended 3|1 December
2023, the COVID-19 epidemic has relatively subsided since the
beginning of 2023, and global prevention and control measures
have gradually removed, and it is expected that there is less
likelihood of a resurgence of large drug demand due to the
epidemic in the short term. In addition, the COVID-19 oral
small molecule drug market is very competitive, and a number
of COVID-19 small molecule drugs have been approved for
marketing in the global and China markets. The Company has
voluntarily suspended the clinical expenditure of Pruxelutamide
in COVID-19. In addition, the Company has carried out
assessment and concluded that there was no net realizable value
of those inventories. Thus, the Group made a full provision
for inventories on the marketability, costs to be incurred and
expectation with reference to historical usage and future
usage plan, which were recognised as an expense (included in
“Research and development costs”) during the year ended
31 December 2023.

20 FE (&)

MR2023F A3 REIMGEEAARE
603,879,0007T ° FE &L Z2023F 12 H3IHA &
JEA - COVID-I19%& 15 B2023F ¥ LA 2K 2 4/
HEM - 2R IEEEE &R HRE - 78
REHANEEBEERARAEERT KL
ATRE MR/ o b AN - COVID-19BBR N9 F
BEYMSRFHR  2ERMPETISEES
ZFCOVID-19/ N FEEYERL £ o A F]
BFAE R T T % B8R ECOVID- 19 g IRk &
e AEBBNGHEELER: EFHA
BRMFEAT Al  AEERETERL
EARABAMRRKERATE  EXERE
SHIE - E—PHKAMKRREHNZRE
HEEIREZBREER  HFAARK
603,879,0007T * fE# £2023F 2 A3IA K F
ERNERER(MREHRERDER -

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 21 HtEWRE BERBENA A
PREPAYMENTS
As at 31 December
RI2A31H
2023 2022
20235 PIPES
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR¥TT
Refunds receivable from suppliers e B R K 6,480 —
Prepayments to suppliers TE T R KR 5,392 19814
Deposits ®e 1,720 1,652
Advances to employees [ & B 8 5% 25 24
Others HAh 2,181 1931
15,798 23421

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of
other receivables, deposits and prepayments were denominated

in RMB and approximated their fair values.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

()

(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include

the following:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

22 BAREEFEREHEEHTAE
HIEXNERMEE
() BAREESEBREH A LIS

SNEREEBRRANEA:

Year ended 31 December

BZNASIBLZEE

2023 2022

20234 20226

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TR ARETE

At the beginning of the year RF 1) — —
Additions NE 48,108 210,702
Disposals & (48,599) (212,706)
Gains recognised in other gains — net T U 2 R 491 2,004
At the end of the year REXR — —

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represent wealth management products and foreign
currency options. The returns on the investments were
not guaranteed. Hence, their contractual cash flows do
not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest and

were measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair values were based on cash flow discounted using
the expected return based on management judgement and

are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining fair value is set out in Note 3.

BAnBESF=BEZIHTAEHE
E=NemEEREVE®RKINEH

X TRBIRELR - Fit - HA
HWRERETAEBBMERSNK
WRAAREBEFEEEEHAAEY

B e

AABENRBEBENREIEEHE
E’]%E,Hﬂ@%ﬁﬁrﬁﬁiﬁmfﬁfﬁumiu‘f% !
WERAREBEERIEIR -

Rl ORXAEETE
EHBERAABEMRANTERR
REE BN ES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

23 TIME DEPOSITS

23 EMFR

As at 31 December

®I12A318
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Time deposits in RMB (Note(a)) AR EREFER T @) 10,000 10,000
Accrued interest (Note(b)) J& 5t 7 8 (B 3 (b)) 835 223
10,835 10,223

(@  Time deposits held by the Group as at 31 December 2023 bear interests
at 3.5% (2022: 3.5%) per annum with a duration of over three months.

(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective
interest rate method has been included in the balance of the
corresponding financial instruments.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

RESTRICTED CASH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2023

&

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

24 RERFAESEFEUUARZIRHEBE

As at 31 December

®I12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR®ET T
Cash at bank and on hand IRITKFHEE € 410,492 820,855
Time deposits and highly liquid investments with #2883 BR & = & A A &9 7€ &5
initial terms within three months FEREEREERE 35,432 49,867
Less: restricted cash (Note(a)) R X BRI R (MY 5 @) (425) (5.641)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 445,499 865,081
Cash and bank balances denominated in: UTAEEBTENRE R
IRITHE A
— RMB — AR#% 228,960 184,609
— USD — %7 141,070 182,259
— HKD — BT 73,997 497602
444,027 864,470
Accrued interest (Note(b)) JE & F1) 2 (F 5E (b)) 1,472 611
445,499 865,081
@@ As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash was RMB425,000 (3! @ H2023F12A318 @ ZRHIFE S A RK4250007T

December 2022: RMB5,641,000), which was placed in banks to purchase

wealth management products.

(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective (b)
interest rate method has been included in the balance of the

corresponding financial instruments.

(2022512 A318 : A R #5,641,0007T) 157 R R

TABERMER °

ERERMNEEEANERIANECEEE
HEDR TAMNRESR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEeMBHRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023FNA3BILEE

25 BORROWINGS

25 B

As at 31 December

®I12A318
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Non-current JEBNHA
Long-term bank borrowings (Note () R HIR 1T & (Y 5% @) 133,400 177,600
Current B HA
Short-term bank borrowings (Note (b)) %2 HA SR 17 18 3K (Bft 52 (b)) 20,000 40,000
Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) RHIR 17 B R & @) 93,700 58,900
113,700 98,900
Total ot 247,100 276,500

The maturity date is as follows:

E@ANBANT:

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2023 2022
pliyk§:3 20224

RMB’000
AR¥TR

RMB'000
ARETT

Less than | year or repayment on demand IFARNHIRERE R 113,700 98,900
|2 years | 224 113,400 44,200
2-5 years 2ESF 20,000 133,400
Total A8 5t 247,100 276,500

The carrying amounts of borrowings were denominated in RMB.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 BORROWINGS (Continued)

@

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had long-term
bank borrowings of RMB83,000,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB144,100,000. Borrowings of RMB43,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.90% per annum, borrowings
of RMB40,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75%
per annum, borrowings of RMB9,200,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 3.95% per annum and borrowings of
RMB45,400,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.05% per
annum, borrowings of RMB40,000,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 4.00% per annum, and borrowings of
RMB49,500,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 3.90% per
annum. RMB93,700,000 of these loans should be repaid by
31 December 2024, while the remaining should be repaid
by instalments during the period from 28 February 2025 to
23 March 2026.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had long-term
bank borrowings of RMB91,500,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB145,000,000. Borrowings of RMB47,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.90% per annum, borrowings of
RMB44,500,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75% per
annum, borrowings of RMB46,800,000 bore a fixed interest
rate at 3.95% per annum, borrowings of RMB48,200,000
bore a fixed interest rate at 4.05% per annum, and
borrowings of RMB50,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate
at 4.00% per annum. RMB58,900,000 of these loans should
be repaid by 31 December 2023, while the remaining
should be repaid by instalments during the period from [0
February 2024 to 23 March 2026.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

25 BERE)

@

R2023F N A3IH  XAEB MK HIR
1718 3K B A K #83,000,0007T * LA 2B
ST AE BFREEIRE
R EEERPRTERBARE
144,100,0007T ° A & #43,000,0007T Y
BERIRTF490%ME EFEFTE A
R #40,000,0007T K f& ;IR & F4.75%
B E E M EFE - A K%9,200,0007THY
BRI FI305%M B EFEFTE A
R #45,400,0007T &) f& X &2 & §4.05%
B & F =5 B A K #40,000,0007T
M 1E IR B F4.00% M B EF X518

LA K A R #49,500,0000) & 3K IR & &
390% R Bl TE M EFHE - ZEEXFH
A K #93,700,0007T ZH 7220244 12 A3
HZAERE - Mer T 585 8 R20254
2A28H £2026F3H238 Hi il o Hf (8
;E °

202026 12A318 - AE B M K HR
Tf&8 R B A R ¥91,500,0007T + LA ZB
ST AE BFREEIEE
EH ERERPROERAARE
145,000,0007T ° A R #47,000,0007T &9
BRIRTF490%ME EF R LA
[ #44,500,0007C B 1& K12 & F4.75%
B & E A X 5 8 A R #46,800,000
T H) 8 R IR & F395% KM & & FI & &t
B AR #48200,0007T W& R IZ & F
405% B EEF EEFE AR AR
50,000,0007T Y f& X 1% & §4.00% HY
EMEHE - ZEEFRFHARK
58,900,0007T 78 $20234F 12 B3I 8 Z i
EE  mer T D AER202452HI108
F2026F3A2B M D HAEE -

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

25 BORROWINGS (Continved) 25 fER#)

(b) FA2023F 12 A318 » &N F R A K
% H IR 1T f8 3K & 5T A K #20,000,000
7T » HA10,000,0003% & 4 3.65% K [E &
FEETB - }10,000,0003% & F3.55%H)
EEFERTE - EMEREHARITER
AM2024F R HR(E 8 -

(b) As at 31 December 2023, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured
short-term bank borrowings totalling RMB20,000,000.
Borrowings of RMB10,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at
3.65% per annum and borrowings of RMB10,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 3.55% per annum. The unsecured
short-term bank borrowings were due for repayment in
2024.

20224 12 A31H + &R N F A KR
FEHARITIE K& 5T A K% 40,000,007T -
BB F400%EEMEGE o fBRA
2023 F B BAE R -

26 FHEGSE

As at 31 December 2022, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured
short-term bank borrowings totalling RMB40,000,00 which
bore a fixed interest rate at 4.00% per annum and were
due for repayment in 2023.

26 LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
®I12831H

2023 2022
pliyk§:3 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETRE AR®BTT

THHEI SR EEE

Minimum lease payments due

(NE

— Within | year —IF A 4,710 4,758
— Between | and 2 years —IE2%F 2,320 3,973
— Between 2 and 5 years —2ES5F — 1,643

7,030 10,374
Less: future finance charges B RKR B E R (210) (488)
Present value of lease liabilities HERERE 6,820 9,886
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAERBEENIS 4,530 4,435
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DEAEIERBDEENILY 2,290 5451
The present value of lease liabilities is as follows: HEBEMRER T :
— Within | year —IFR 4,530 4,435
— Between | and 2 years —IZE2%F 2,290 3,828
— Between 2 and 5 years —2E5F — 1,623

6,820 9,886

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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26 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The following table sets forth the discount rate of our lease

liabilities as the dates indicated:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

26 HEEE#®)

TREJIHEBBERAREHMARE:

As at 31 December

Lease liabilities

RI12831H
2023 2022
pliyk§:3 20224
HEBaRE 4.34% 443%

The Group leases various properties and land use right for
operation and these liabilities were measured at net present

value of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not

yet paid.

The loss and total comprehensive loss shows the following

amounts relating to leases:

MRBRMES E -

B & R

AEEREKEHERBYER LHER
B ZFRERINEBARANNEES

EFERELREEERAEBRTATEHERMH

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2023 2022
2023 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRHEEENITEER

Leased properties HEWE 4,347 4902
Land use right + b 5 A 701 702
5,048 5,604
Interest expense (included in finance costs) FIE R X (FHA B 7% B ZAS) 326 449

Expense relating to short-term leases EIGHEE AN (G
(included in administrative expenses) ATHFAX) 682 1217

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 3l
December 2023 was RMB5,500,000 (2022: RMB5,830,000).

Information about right-of-use assets is set out in Note 4.

A FR#5.830,0007T) °

FHRFTRAEEENGER
T o

HZE203FNA3IBILEE HEEARR
& #aEE A A RES5,500,0007T (20224 -

B B M EE 1451
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

27 DEFERRED INCOME 27 EIEW A

As at 31 December

R12A31R
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETR
Government grants BB
Reimbursement of capital expenditures (Note (2)) #f 8 & 2~ 5 3 (ff 5 @2)) 1,524 3,114
Reimbursement of future expenses (Note (a)) 18 R R 2 (P 5E @) 18,133 16,838
Total et 19,657 19,952
(@  Government grants as reimbursement of capital expenditures and future @ FRAMEETNAIRAKRKAINENMIZR
expenses are subsidies received for compensating the Group's future WERNEEEE TIHE BB RREE R
production and research and development activities with regards to i B i U2 2 1 40 AL o
certain projects.
The amount of government grants that credited to the statement of FAZEKEROBTEE) S R HKE
comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 5.
28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 E5 Kk HAithENKE

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2023 2022
20235 PIPES
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®ET T
Payables for service suppliers (Note (a)) FE 1~ AR 75 4L p R IE
(Y &£ @) 68,288 784453
Salary and staff welfare payables JEAT % & & 8 A& A 14,211 16,131
Payables for materials and consumables (Note ()  #1#+ & #E #1409 & < 5018
(M 5 @) 13,313 101,948
Payables for audit services FiT RS E £ W B IR 2,800 3,400
Payables for property, plant and equipment MZE - BEREREREMNKIE 1,666 43810
Payables for individual income tax and other taxes & Z5 & A P15 £ J2 E 4th £ 18 432 1,899
Payables for interest expenses JE A H B R X 309 361
Others HAih 3,481 7532

104,500 214,534
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 28 ESRHMEMNRESE)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all trade and other payables MR2023F K2022F 12318 - AEBMEE

of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their fair values SREMBENRIELATEHE BRI

approximated their carrying amounts due to their short BRE  HARBERAEREEMRS -

maturities.

@) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of @) F2023F K20229F 12 A3IH - MR KEFE
payables for materials and consumables and payables for M EE A B0 BN R IR % FE S AR 7S L P 7Y
service suppliers based on invoice date are as follows: REEREZAHNERERIITAOT

As at 31 December

AI12831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTFRT AR®BTT
— Within | year — IR 61,062 180,401
— More than one year — 15 LA £ 20,539 —

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 29 EEFBHAE

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2023 2022
20235 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB®TR ARETE
The balance comprises temporary differences EABRBATSEEMLD
attributable to: BREEH

Intangible assets appraisal arising from business EBEHEENETEEE
combination aF 1l 124,173 155,272

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 AL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 29 EEFAIBHEBE
(Continued)

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2023 2022
2023%F PIPES
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARBTE
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFSMARE:
To be recovered after 12 months P 121E A & W [ 31,043 38,818
30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 R
Share capital of the Company 2NN
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 RNR R FR2018F5H 168 £ 5l £ #F & 71
May 2018 with an initial authorized share capital of USD50,000 BX 32 W) 38 VX TE AR 7R /50,0005 7T 0 9
divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par value of USD0.000I #%500,000,000% & A% [ {50.00013E JT AJ A%
each. fn o
On 15 June 2023, the Company increased the authorized 20236 HI5H - AR aE] B BIEHINEE R
share capital to US$70,000 divided into 700,000,000 Shares of 7520,0003% 7T (%3 £200,000,000 % & A% [ &
US$0.0001 each by the creation of additional US$20,000 divided 0.0001Z& JTTHY I 17) » 1% A1 B B9 TE IRAR
into 200,000,000 Shares of US$0.000! each. #% H0 Z70,0005% 7T (43 23700,000,000% & A
[ {E0.0001 3% 7T B B 1) °
Equivalent
Number Nominal value nominal value
of shares of shares of shares
g 4= BRHEE BROSEEE
usb RMB
e ARET
As at | January 2023 and R2023F 1 A1 &
3| December 2023 2023512 A3IA 447,499,600 44,750 314,633
As at | January 2022 R2022F 1 A 18 387,589,600 38,759 273,007
Issuance of shares (Note (a)) BT (M 3 @) 59,910,000 5991 41,626
As at 3| December 2022 120224 12 A31H 447,499,600 44,750 314,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share capital of the Company (Continued)

@)

On 7 September 2022, the Company issued 19,910,000
ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I each at
a price of HKDI3.94 per Share, raising approximately
HKD277,545,400 with net proceeds HKD272,999,622,
after deducting related issuance expenses. Accordingly,
[9910,000 ordinary shares with par value of USD0.000I
each are issued and RMBI3,768 are credited to share
capital, and remaining amounts, after netting of issuance

expenses, are credited to share premium.

On 16 December 2022, the Company issued 40,000,000
ordinary shares with par value of USD0.000I each at
a price of HKDI2.94 per Share, raising approximately
HKDS517,600,000 with net proceeds HKDS509,122,488,
after deducting related issuance expenses. Accordingly,
40,000,000 ordinary shares with par value of USD0.000lI
each are issued and RMB27,858 are credited to share
capital, and remaining amounts, after netting of issuance

expenses, are credited to share premium.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

30 A (&)

ARBRAE (&)
@ 202949878  ARENIRERI13.94%

JT 3 1719910,000% & B% E & 40.0001
ETLHE @R - & & #2775454007%8
T MBRMEEEITRXE - FIS5KIE

VHFE 5027299962278 7T - A It 0 B 3
719910,000/% & % M {& /0.00013 7T
VEBAR - WA REEI13,768TTETA B
N FrSBERMBREITRIEBTA

PR An (B e

202026128160+ N QA & & K
12947 JC ¥ 7740,000,000/% & B% ™
B ARIONIEZETHEBER  SEHN
517,600,000 7T+ BR BB E1TH X
1% - FI1SRIEFEER509,1224888 7T ©
& Itk B % 1740,000,000% & A% ™ 1B
BOO0IETLHEBR AR
27,858 LRI AR - T4 & BER IR B
THRZEFTARMDEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

31 SHARES HELD FOR THE 2020 EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME

@

On 8 March 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the modification of the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme. The Company has agreed to amend the vesting
schedule to provide flexibility for participants for whom
50% of their restricted share units which should vest on
31 March 2022. The participants may select from only one

from three options.

*  Adhere to the original Vesting Schedule and vest on 31
March 2022;

*  Give up on 3l March 2022 and the restricted share
units will automatically lapse and the shares return

back to restricted share units pool; and

*  Postpone the decision to 30 September 2022.

The participant may postpone the decision to 30
September 2022 and thereafter may elect to/or not to have
the restricted share units vest on 30 September 2022. If
not, the restricted share units will automatically lapse and

the shares return back to restricted share units pool.

On 31 March 2022, a total of 349,393 shares (3,493,925
shares as adjusted upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue of initial public offering) from tranche A were vested.
The Group received from the Grantees a total amount of
HKDI,197,505 (equivalent to approximately RMB974,061).

On 31 March 2022, the participants who were granted
a total of 404,393 shares (4,043,925 shares as adjusted
upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of initial
public offering) from tranche B postponed the decision to
30 September 2022. The share option for tranche B was
valued by the directors of the Company with reference to
the valuation carried out by an independent appraiser on 3|
March 2022. The fair value of the share option for tranche B
is HKDO.53 per Share.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

31 F2020F EE BB EFEN
i

@

M202263H88 - AARIESEHEE
H2020F & B BT El - AARRAE
BT REREXR - UAER202293A8
JIREEBHIS0% S R IR EE (12 B &
REEEE - 2EEEYH =FEEIE
RiEE—E -

o HEFRFBEBRMERILN202F3A8
JIBERE

o F002FIANHMERE R
B EMEEE LK BERH
BEZREIEGDEM &

o HEEFT202249A30BBERTE °

2 HE AR 2022998308 BER
E 2B EEE R X R RS
BAI20202F9A30RRE - R - %
REIRDEMGEBILRN ERER
iR [B] 5 BR il AR 17 BE iz A o

7202246 3A318 » # X AE $£349393
BBERD(RERXAREENERN R
1T5E K 18 #8 38 B 53,493,925 0% % 17) &
FE AEEAABRARESHNR
B A1,197505%8 T (FHE R AR
974,0617T) °

720229 3A310 - B ABER A
40433 (RE X LAREENE
AL B 17 52 K 18 48 #8 B B4,043,9250%
AR 1) #) 2 B 2 1% 4 1B 220229 9A30
HEMERE - #LABRERERAAF
EXe2EB AEMMR202F3A3
HE B EETEG - BB REN
NABERERSIET °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 SHARES HELD FOR THE 2020 EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

@

(®)

(Continued)

During | April to 30 September 2022, 17,053 shares
(170,525 shares as adjusted upon the completion of the
capitalisation issue of initial public offering) forfeited because

of employees resigned from the Group.

On 30 September 2022, the participants gave up tranche
B aggregating 387,34 shares (3,873,400 shares as adjusted
upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of initial

public offering).

On 8 October 2022, 1,139950 shares were granted to
|6 eligible employees in two separate tranches (A and B).
The fair value of an ordinary share at the date of grant is
HKDI1.24, and the exercise prices were USD0.0442 per
Share for tranche A and USDI.91515 per Share for tranche
B, respectively. 569,975 shares from tranche A and 569,975
shares from tranche B were granted. Service periods are up
to four years for eligible employees. If an employee ceases
to be employed by the Company before the respective

vesting date, the awarded shares will be forfeited.

The restricted share units were valued by the directors of
the Company with reference to the quoted market share
price on the grant date of the restricted share units. The
fair value of share-based payment of tranche A and B are
HKD10.89 and HKDO0.00 per Share respectively.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

31 2020 EE BB EFEN
B0 )

@

(®)

(#)

720225648 1HE9A30HHIM - 17053
BBEH (RERAAEENERNEET
SEA 14 A TR 5 170,525 Bk 1) R E B
B 7N & [ B B 12 UK o

72022998308 2 EE R EHR KB
BET38734I IR (REXRAREEN
&b B 17 5T B 1£ 45 8 2 /R3,873,400
f& B% 1) °

720224F 1088 - 1% M & 18 32 Bt X (A
KkB)AI6HE BB B HI,1399500%
B - RETFTA-—REBROAAE
B A48T Mt RARIXBE
TEED B BBZRMANETRETR
1915152 7T ° #L X AR H#EXBS B H
569975 /% A% 17 $2 569,9758% B 15 o ¥ R
EEREENRGHBR KRR AMUFE o
WEEBRSHEAPZATEZER
AR - R SRENR (D K U E o

ZREBNDEMCHARNBESHZR
FIRMDEBEANITETH  2EMERH
MEEITIE o $RARIIXBAKRS
AEEROINHAREED R AEI089
7 7T }0.0058 7T °

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

31 SHARES HELD FOR THE 2020 EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

©

@

On 29 December 2022, the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the modification of 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme. The Company has agreed to amend
its free option to grant equity to provide flexibility for

participants for all granted restricted share units.

*  On receipt of a Grant Letter or Vesting Notice, the
Selected Person may decline any tranche or both
tranches of and offer of Award(s), in which case the
declined Award(s) shall automatically lapse, and the
Selected Person shall have no further claim nor rights

in respect of such Award(s).

Since the modification, all the restricted share units granted
and not yet granted under 2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme has been changed to to share options.

On 20 September 2023, the Board of Directors of the
Company cancelled the Original Tranche B Awards and
provided the relevant Selected Persons with a replacement
award of an equivalent number of share options as
the Original Tranche B Awards at the exercise price of
HKD3.50 per Share (the “Tranche C Awards").

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

31 F2020F EE BB EFEN

Iz (&)
© FM202025F12A298  AARIEZGH A

(d)

182020 & B i EhET &l - A2 F] A
EBAIBRTRENEHEEREE NUA
FTEER TR 6 A7 A2 & 12
B|EME o

e WARTHXFBEBIR  EE
ATRIEBRZMNRBH R K ELD
REVERBLR KRR M E - FLt
BT REBZANEBKE
BRY MEEALIBRZE
REFE-—THRAZEERN -

BB - 2020 B BB ET &I T
BYOMm AR TOMAERERSE
BUSESKREHE-

2023%9A208 AR AIEEZ S # AR
SH b K B 22 Bh 3T [F] B 32 BR 37 &9 (B 4% (AP
FAR3.SBEE) B THE X EEBRIE &
ENRE(HRCER]) 4 HHE S H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 SHARES HELD FOR THE 2020 EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

©

On 30 September 2023, the Company granted two
separate tranches (A and C) of 3,468,200 share options in
the Company under this Scheme to each Participant. Each
share option represents a Share of the Company in issue
as of the date of the Grant Letter to Participants. Each
tranche of share options has its own price per Share being
USDO0.0442 (after the completion of the Capitalization
Issue) per Share for tranche A and HKD3.50 per Share for

tranche C, respectively.

The fair value of the share options granted have been
valued by an independent qualified valuer using binomial
option-pricing model for USD batch and HKD batch as at

the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

31 2020 EE BB EFEN

IR #)
() HM2023F9A308 @ ARIZB LA &%

MAETB S #X (ARC) mEBULEER
F13,468,200% % = HA 4 o & ([ A% = &7
ERELEEFERTRHRARDE
TH—RRE - SELAHEESH
B (ER) 2P fLRANERAES
A%0.0442% T (A AR{L B 1718) - #LkC
BB 1% B B 13.50/5H -

REFA FBTREDENALE
EEmA AR N EARA X EE
B (BIEETABE) T BRE
BmT:

UsD
e

HKD
B

422, B )
T8 8 By

R 2l 25

Risk-free interest rate

Expected volatility

Dividend yield ratio

Grant date option fair value per Share
Exercise price KT E®S
The expense recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and other reserves for
share options granted to the employees amounted to
approximately RMB22,989,000 for the year ended 3l
December 2023 (2022: RMB95,636,000).

ETAEERA

tEE

5.129%-4.97%
51.4%-65.9%

3.94%-4.40%
51.4%-65.9%

0.0% 0.0%
0.3090-0.3154 0.5023-1.2792
0.0442 3.50

HEBFRAIRLEFE RES
PEKRER R EMEETERNE
EEEREMNZBRFIRMEMNEZL
A A R #22989,0007T (20224F : AR
95,636,0007T) °

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

31 SHARES HELD FOR THE 2020 EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

(e) (Continued)
Set out below is the movement in the number of awarded

restricted share units/share options under the 2020

31 F2020F EE MBI EFEWN
I 15 )
) (&)
AT 505148 182020 4F 18 2 2k B &1 21 4%
T 692 BRI % 15 B8 A B B ) B 1S

Employee Incentive Scheme: I
Year ended 31 December
BZNRAIBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR¥TT
At the beginning of the year R4 11,672,870 19,895,720
Granted during the year FAE M 6,252,027 1,139,950
Vested during the year FANEFB (2,468,961) (3,493,925)
Lapsed during the year FARKK (2,194,123) (3,873,400)
Forfeited during the year FAE (2,376,196) (1,995,475)
Cancelled during the year FAEH (2,783,827) —
At the end of the year ISP 8,101,790 11,672,870
Shares not yet granted at the end of the year & 7K & K % H &9 I& 15 9,548,914 8,446,795

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

32 RESERVES 32 &1

Share-based

Share compensation  Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
URGHER
R&aE W& M@ g st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBETT ARBTT
At | January 2023 R20235 1 A1H 4,103,949 114,782 (2,723,844) 1,494,887
Loss for the year FRER - - (1,060,820) (1,060,820)
Share-based payments (Note 31) MR AERNEZ M
(M &E31) - 22,989 - 22,989
Shares vested under the 2020 Employee 18 #2020 (& & S E) 5T
Incentive Scheme and transferred to AEERERE
the grantees R AR KRG
(Note 31)(Note (a)) (Kt 30 (M 3£ ) 89,118 (88,364) - 754
At 31 December 2023 ®2023F12A318 4,193,067 49,407 (3,784,664) 457,810
At | January 2022 ®20225181H 3358871 65,506 (1,769,475) 1,654,902
Loss for the year FRER — — (954,369) (954,369)
Issue of shares of the Company (Note30) 2 1TAA R &5
(P 5£30) 697,747 — — 697,747
Share-based payments (Note 31) AR B E A X
(M &E31) — 95,636 — 95,636
Shares vested under the 2020 Employee 18 1520205 {& & 1 B) 5T
Incentive Scheme and transferred to AEBRERE
the grantees ES IN:0lE )
(Note 31)(Note (a)) (Bt =E31) (P 3 @) 47331 (46,360) — 971
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A318 4,103949 114,782 (2,723,844) 1,494,887
During the year ended 3| December 2023, Kiya transferred 2,468,961 ordinary # £2023F12H3IB IEF E - Kiya X R B AR 10 57 /B
shares of the Company (2022: 3,493925) to the Grantees upon vesting of the 18 [A) R N\ 95 382,468,961 IR AN 1 A) E 3 AR (20224 ¢
awarded shares (Note 31). 3,493,925) (Bt &£31)

BABEERAR o944
&4 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

33 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33 MEREREXRMKE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(i) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to
cash used in operations

() BRATGHAIERREEEEMA
RENH ik

Year ended 31 December

BZ1NA3IBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARETE
Loss before income tax B P 15 % Al E5 18 (1,068,861) (953,284)
Adjustments for: AT EIBELHFAE :
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#N
(Note 6 and Note 15) (M sE6 AN B 5E15) 19 151
Depreciation of property, plant and mME - BERZETE
equipment (Note 6 and Note 3) (M9 sE6 AN B 5E13) 13,854 12,678
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE
(Note 6 and Note 14) (BT FE6 AN BT 5 14) 5,003 5,559
Provision for inventories FEBREEE
(Note 6 and Note20) (B FE6 5 B 75 20) 603,879 92986
Impairment of intangible assets B EERBELER
(Note 6 and Note 15) (B FE6 X% ME=E15) 86,589 —
Impairment for property, plant and ME  BERRERE
equipment (Note 6 and Note |3) ZE 1 (P R 6 S BT 52 13) 46,355 —
Impairment for right-of-use assets FRBEEERMMBEER
(Note 6 and Note 14) (B FE6 AN BT 5 14) 1,128 —
Gains on financial assets at fair value BRAREBEFEEHE
through profit or loss (Note7) AAASHERN T
BEW = (HEE7) 91) (2,004)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HEMZE BERZRHELN
plant and equipment — net Wi/ (E518) %58
(Note 7) (B 5E7) (10) 620
Share of (gains)/losses of DiRBE AR REERE
an associate and a joint venture m () &8
(Note 16 and Note 17) (M s 16 % Bt 5% 17) (52) 568
Interest expenses (Note 8) M EF (Mt 5E8) 9,690 8,187
Interest income (Note 5) A 24 A (Bt 5E5) (13,077) (6,882)
Share-based compensation expenses VA RR 19 /5 25 Bt 9 357 BN 59 =<
(Note 9 and Note 31) (B 329K B 5E31) 22,989 95,636
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) PE &R (W) F 5 4,012 (16,530)
Changes in working capital: LEEREE:
— Other receivables — Efth FE U FRIE 7,623 94,234
— Inventories —FE (376) (345,127)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 K E At B RIE (106,838) 6,756
— Amounts due to related parties — FET A 7 3R IE 1,742 (150)
— Deferred income —REWA (295) 15,943
— Other non-current assets — HEMIEREBEE 1,663 30,392
Cash used in operations KEMARS (385,354) (960,267)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(ii) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use
assets of RMBI1,425,000 and the expense of RMB22,989,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use
assets of RMB9,217,000 and the expense of RMB95,636,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

(iii) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

33 REHRERERHMT

(i) TEHFAERH

REE200RF2A3BIEFE £ &
HFREXGRAEEABREEARK
1,425,0007C & 4R & 2 E W & K& H Aty
REPEROZBHROEMHREZ
A R #22,989,0007T °

REZ200NF2ABIBLEFEFE £8
HFBEERHGRAEGTRABEEARYK
92170007t R AR & 2 H W am K& H A
HEPERNZRERMOEMFAZ
A R #95636,0007T °

(iBMETHEENLEK

activities

Lease liabilities Borrowings Total

HERE EEA At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At | January 2023 20231 A1H 9,886 276,500 286,386

Financing cash flows in BMERERA - 70,000 70,000
Financing cash flows out RMERE R (4,818) (111,157) (115,975)

Interest expenses FERX 326 12,066 12,392

New lease Mg 1,426 - 1,426

At 31 December 2023 P2023F 12 A318 6,820 247,409 254,229

At | January 2022 R202F 1 A18 4833 154900 159,733

Financing cash flows in MEREMA — 170,000 170,000
Financing cash flows out BERESTML (4,613) (48,400) (53013)

Interest expenses FERX 449 — 449

New lease Mg 9217 — 9217

At 31 December 2022 2022 12A318 9,886 276,500 286,386
BREEGRAE

&4 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3 B AR S

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control, common significant

influence or joint control.

The equity holders, members of key management and their close
family members of the Group are also considered as related

parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the

W= BRENERIEREF R~ K
EEHFBREERRITEES S 71T
BEAFEN  AEHREREAEBT -
EHXAREY  KREARXENB S
Bl - TR SRR

BamiA AEEXT2EEEXE MK
FMRMERSER S - RABESER
R BRI —REBBREPRAR

related party transactions were carried out in the normal course B R R ED ERR R ETT o
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the
respective related parties.

(i) Name and relationship with related parties are set out (i) aRERBINBEROT:
below:

Name of related party Relationship

BB £ B B &

Dr. Qun Lu One of the key management
R 3 TEZEEEKBEZ—
Dr. Ruo Xu One of the key management
FEEL TE2EEEKE Z—

Dr. Jianfei Yang
5 RIRE L

One of the key management before November 2022
WRFINAMBEREEERE 2—

BABESEREIN UTAREBE
2023 2022 12 A3IB L F R AL HE
the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of EHBAB AN —REBBERET
EARZGOBE -

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a

summary of the significant transactions carried out between

business during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(ii) Balances

The related party balances as at 31 December 2023 and

2022, are shown below:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

3 BB AR Z (&)

(i) &8k
MR2023F K% 20225E 12 B3I BB BE B 5 45
FREIRAAT :

As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TRT

Amounts due to related parties in relation to Bt W R B AT /BTN E
receipt of government grants not yet paid ) AN 32 B B D A9

to related parties: JE A Bk 5 B SR IE -

— Dr. Qun Lu —BEREL 2,000 —
— Dr. Ruo Xu —FEEL — 225
— Dr. Jianfei Yang — HEIRELT —_ 33

2,000 258

As at 31 December 2023, all balances with related parties
of the Group were non-interest bearing and non-trade in
nature, and their fair values approximated their carrying

amounts due to their short maturities.

MR2023F 12 A318 - AEEEBEH TR
FrE#BRHETEHERRIFESHE -
BRREBERE  EAnEBEREHE
BREEEE -

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(iii) Key management compensation

Key management includes executive directors, chief officers
and vice presidents. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below:

3 BB AR F (&)

i EEEEEFHMH:
FTEEREORNTES  FTETK
ABREIHBEE - IEBRBE S E
NEEEBENHMIROT

Year ended 3|1 December

BZNA3IBLEE

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Salaries, wages and bonuses e ITEREL 24,528 29,381

Contribution to pension scheme RIS FTEI K 460 478
Housing funds, medical insurance and other T B AE & - BERE

social insurance R H A g R 418 523

Share-based compensation expenses VARR 19 /5 25 8 60 37 BN ) =2 13,542 28,297

38,948 58,679

216 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 COMMITMENTS

(i) Lease commitments (excluding the right-of- (i)
use assets and lease liabilities)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group leases some
offices and equipments under irrevocable lease contracts
with lease term less than one year and leases of low value
that have been exempted from recognition of right-of-
use assets permitted under IFRSI6. The future aggregate
minimum lease payment under irrevocable lease contracts

for these exempted contracts are as follows:

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

35 Aih

HEAR#(TEEEREEER
HE&E)

2023 K 2022% 12 A318 » REER
BTAAEHEESHNHEAEETHAR
REE ZSAOHEBIR—FRA
REBEHE BEREBEERMEHREE
AlBICREEREERERAEEE -
ZEEREEORETAIREEES
HORREEREFRBBELT:

As at 31 December

|F A

No later than | year

(ii) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 but not yet incurred by the Group are as

follows:

(i)

RI12A31H
2023 2022
pliyk§:3 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBEFTT
167 133
NS

MR2023FE R2002F 128318 - KAEBETD
I EEAEEMERARZAREOT

As at 31 December

®I12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T
Property, plant and equipment M BEKREE 1,948 4,608
Investment in an associate and R—FRKEBERRE—X
a joint venture EETLENKRE 42,513 42513
Total aat 44,461 47,121
BREEBRAA

&4 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

36 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 36 ARNEMNEEEBRNREREE

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE =
COMPANY
As at 31 December
®I12A8318
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR E —_ 3,171,673
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W Bt BB A Rl SR 18 466,303 2,843,505
Time deposits 7B F R 10,835 10,223
Restricted cash PR HIIR & 425 5,641
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 183,456 604,822
Total assets EEHE 661,019 6,635,864
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries R F RRIFKIE 20,020 19,927
Other payables H b fE < 5018 4,059 14910
Total liabilities EEHEE 24,079 34,837
Equity =
Equity attributable to the equity holders AATEZFEA

of the Company iRz
Share capital & 7 315 315
Shares held for the 2020 Employee Incentive 20204 & B B B =t &

Scheme BFAEBNRGD (13) (14
Reserves %18 636,638 6,600,726
Total equity EHAR 636,940 6,601,027
Total equity and liabilities EaREEAR 661,019 6,635,864

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

36 RARINEERBERREREF

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE ®(E)
COMPANY (Continued)
Share-based Share held
Share  compensation  for employee  Accumulated
Share capital premium reserve  share scheme losses  Total equity
BB HES
REBN Rt 8
R RoEE EMEE  RENRG ZiER E&4E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBO0D RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTRT AR®TRT ARETn  ARETR  ARET:
Balance at | January 2003 RBFIRIBMER 35 6632841 114,782 (4 (146801) 6,601,007
Loss and total comprehensive loss forthe year ~ FEBERZABBER - - - - (5,987,831)  (5,987,831)
Transactions with owners in their REGAGRBEEANRS
capacity as owners
Share-based payments KRGBERHXA - - 22,989 - = 22,989
Shares vested under the 2000 Employee Incentive 18 52000 (€ & B B:1 215 B
Scheme and transferred to the grantees REBZAR AR
(Note 31) (R3E31) - 71,782 (77,028) [ = 755
- 17,782 (54,039) I - 23,744
Balance at 31 December 2023 RNBENANRNE R 315 6,710,623 60,743 (13)  (6,134728) 636,940
Balance at | January 2022 R0 IR IB &5 m 5887763 65,506 ) (183984) 5764541
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year R EER 2 EERLE — — - - 42087 4087
Transactions with owners in their capacity EEFAZHHHANRS
as owners
lssue of shares of the Company YOG f 697747 — — — 697,789
Share-based payments KRDBERHZH — — 95636 — — 95636
Shares vested under the 2020 Employee Incentive 1R 52020 € B A 3t S5 B
Scheme and transferred to the grantees REBZER AR
(Note 31) (B &E31) — a3l (46.360) 3 — 974
4 T45078 497276 3 — 794399
Balance at 31 December 202 RODEN 3R 45 315 6631841 114782 (14) (146897) 6,601,027

The balance sheet of the Company was approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors on 28 Mar 2024.

Director

EF

AABMEEBBRMN204EIAEKSE
ESERRESM -

Director

EF

BRAEESRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023FNA3BILEE

37 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS 3N EEM =
(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the @ FEAXLARESHNMESFHE
directors of the Company
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ HE03FNRANBLEFE  A&EED
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December N/ ENSEEHMEEIIOT :

2023 are as follows:

Share-based
Basic salaries Retirement Social compensation
Fee and allowances Bonus  benefit costs  security costs expenses Total
BB
Exye Btk HERE  AEEN
fig 831 B BHARE BE MR #s

RMB'00O  RMB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'00O
ARRTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRTz  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors YnES
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERCET 544 6,010 4 4 60 - 6911
Ms. Yan Lu (vii) B &L (i) - 1,445 8 18 I5 (1,236) 305
Dr. Qun Lu ix) 3309 - 3,006 123 70 B 11,416 14,648
Dr. Xiang Ni (x) fi 38 L () = 446 125 10 59 162 4662
Non-executive directors FYnES
Mr. Chengwei Liu (v BB EE i) — — — - - - -
Dr. Michael Min Xu (i) eE £ i m - - - - — m
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (i) 1 B B & A (i) m - - - - - m
Prof Liang Tong (i) ERUR(Y) m - - - - — m
Ms. Gegi Wei (v) EmsaL() - - - - - - -
Mr. Weipeng Gao (vi) BB 7 A () - - - - - - -
1,360 14,707 582 204 167 10,342 17,362
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

37 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continved) 37 EEM &)

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the @ ERALARESNMEFE &)
directors of the Company (Continued)
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ HE2002FNRANBLEFE  A&ED
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December N/ ENEEEHMSEIIOT :

2022 are as follows:

Share-based
Basic salaries Retirement Social  compensation
Fee  and allowances Bonus  benefit costs  security costs expenses Total
k{3
ElGs RN HERE  BERY
ok RzH fta R KRR FMREX it

RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O
AT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors YnES
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERCET 5% 6010 455 £ 5 — 70%
Ms. Yan Lu (vii) B & (i) — 4945 360 58 59 5,048 10670

Non-executive directors ~ AH{TEE

Mr. Gang Lu (i) FE ) 5% 4 i — - — _ _ _
Mr. Chengwei Liu (vi) 8% B % 4 i) — — - _ _ _ _
Dr. Michael Min Xu (i) BT 28 - . _ _ %8
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (if) 15 5 & % 2 i 28 - - - _ _ %8
Prof. Liang Tong () ERUR() 268 — — — _ %8
Ms. Gegj Wei ) BFRLL() - - - - . -
Mr. Weipeng Gao (v) BERLEN) - — — _ _ _ _
Dr. Yan Wang (v L) - — — - _ _

1340 10955 815 1ol |14 548 18573

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRE

B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023FNA3BILEE

37 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the
directors of the Company (Continued)

0)

(i

(iif)

()

(V)

()

(vii)

(viii)

()

Salaries are paid in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings.

Bonus is determined based on the financial performance of the
Group and the performance of each individual.

Mr. Gang Lu, Dr. Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
were appointed as non-executive directors of the Group on 2
August 2019. Mr. Gang Lu resigned on 31 January 2022. Mr. Gang Lu
did not receive any emolument during the year ended 3| December
2022. The increase of emoluments for Dr. Michael Min Xu and Mr.
Wallace Wai Yim Yeung during the year ended 2023 is due to the
appreciation of HKD against RMB.

The increase of emoluments for Prof. Liang Tong during the year
ended 3| December 2023 is due to the appreciation of HKD against
RMB.

Ms. Geqi Wei did not receive any emolument during the years
ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.

Dr. Yan Wang resigned on 5 May 2022. Mr. Weipeng Gao and Dr.
Yan Wang did not receive any emolument during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Mr. Chengwei Liu was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 5 May 2022, and Mr. Chengwei Liu did not receive any
emolument during the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.

Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as an executive director of the Group on
31 January 2022. As Ms. Yan Lu resigned on |3 April 2023, there is
a reversal of share-based compensation expenses of RMBI,236,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Dr. Qun Lu and Dr. Xiang Ni were appointed as executive directors
of the Group on 14 April 2023.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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() HENRERAAANRHMBARNEEX
fih o

iy FEADERRNEESBEREREANRK
HifmEE -

iy  BERMIGAE - REELRIBIEBE L E£R2019
FIANBEZTAAREENERITHT
BE o EMILAR20225 A3IBEHE - k=
Ml % &£ R E E2023F 12 A3I8 IEFE I &
KREMME - B EBELRIZERLE
B = 20234 1EF /9 F B E N TR RS
TRAREABERME -

(vy EZZBEREZ2023FNRA3BLEFED
M BERE T EAREAERMK -

v) M ELZLEREE2023F %2022F12 A31
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(i) FELTELTR2022F5AB BT - m#ER L
AR ELTETREE2023F 2022512 A
JIBLEEFEE Y E RTINS -

iy BB EBEEMONFSASBEZRTALSE
BEMERTES - BRNE E20235F 12831
A 15 & 3 & W W B & o

(viil) B TI002FIAIBEZRTEANTE
£ - HREMZTR2023F4A31BEHT -
FEEHZE2023FNRANENFEEF » ERRK
MHHMEREAEKE - ©88 /51,236,000
AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

©

(d)

©

®

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefit during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third party for
making available directors’ services during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made
available in favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled
by and entities connected with directors subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the years ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022.

Inducement or waiver of emoluments

No directors received emoluments from the Group
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022. No directors waived or had
agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

3N EEM ()

(b)

©

(d)

©

®

EEERBERN

B4R = A 2 20234 1220224 12 A3
B 1 FE U B Bk #8 & U ER AT {a] B B 4B
A o

RRERMESREMROE=FRRME
R E
ANEBRE =2023F K 202212 A31H
IEFEVERRHEESREREMRS
=FEZNARE -

MEE - - TZREEEEZEHNZEA
EREZEESVEETREMH
WEX EERNHEHMERZNE
2l
RERSFAE E 20235 2022412 A3
HIEFEEMERE TERES 2
REEEEHNEAEBBRZEES
WEAETRBIEHNER EERMHE
RS o

RBIHEMS

P& E20234F K202 128318 IF F
B HMEEEE NS B UE A B
® ERREFEMBEASEINMER
SEENRESERABBEE - N8
FE023FEM2002F 2 A3IHIEFE - #%
BEENESIREREZETAHE -

EEERS  THRIEHAWEK
=

BRI AII4FTEEEIN  FRINEZR
2023F X 2022F 12 A31 B IE F E ] B
M ARR T EEITTAIRAEE
MEBMARRNESEESBER
HPAEAERGNEERS 2
REH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEeMBHRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at year ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:

38 BT

Place of registration/

incorporation and place of Nominal value
operations and date of incorporation/
incorporation and kind registered

AEERE E2023F £2022F 12 A31H IEF
EHHBRARIMFBEII AT

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

ARARERRAD

Name of legal entity share capital
ift/ERRIAEREXLE  ERALIRN

tR NREMAIEAREZEREY HE/ERRE

Directly held:

EfRA:

Kintor Science Limited

Kintor Science Limited

Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited

Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited (i)

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited (i)

Koshine Cosmetics Inc.

Koshine Cosmetics Inc.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Hong Kong HKDI00
15 June 2018,

limited liabilty company
Bk
WI8F6AISH
BRAF

Hong Kong

| August 2018,

limited liability company
Bh

WIBFAIR -
BRAT

United States of America =
I3 November 2018,

%8 -
WISEIARA

Ireland

2 May 2021,

ER®
0UESAINA -
United States of America
9 December 2023,
3 100% T
WBENAA

007 7T

HKDI00

1007 7T

USDI

B3

UsDI00

As of 31 December  Principal activities

HZ1NA3IA

2023

WBE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

NA

TER

100%

100%

2002
W05

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

NA

TER

TEED

Holding company in Hong Kong

Holding company in Hong Kong

BRERAT

New drug research and development

YRS

Research, development and commercialisation

UESEE

Cosmetics research development and

commercialisation

{Lhmi%  FERARL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 fME AR (&)
Place of registration/
incorporation and place of Nominal value
operations and date of incorporation/ Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind registered FAAEEREETY
Name of legal entity share capital As of 3| December  Principal activities
if/ERAISRREXLE  ERALEN
tR NWREMARYAHREREREY @E/ERRE #BZnAuE  IEED
023 A2
WBE  00F
Indirectly held:
HESER:
Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (i) Suzhou, PRC RMB34419442 ~ 100%  100%  Research and development
24 March 2009,
limited liability company
EMNFREZROBRAR() g AREM41940  100%  100%  FE
009%3A4A
BRAAE
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited (ii) Hong Kong HKDIOO ~ 100%  100%  Research, development and commercialisation,
(RAEXARBRAR) 17 May 2018, overseas nvestment
limited liability company
FRAEZEBAR L) R 007 100%  100% HERAEEL BIME
WIBESAITA -
BRAT
Suzhou Koshine Biomedica, Inc. (i) Suzhou, PRC RMB7500000 ~ 100%  100%  Research, development and commercialisation
2| September 2010,
limited liabilty company
HNRERBEERAA) &M e ARE75000007 ~ 100% 0% FERAEL
I059A2E -
BRAT

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 e
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e BRRME
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HZE203F 12838 IEFE

38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

iR

38 BT (#)

Place of registration/

incorporation and place of Nominal value
operations and date of incorporation/
incorporation and kind registered

of legal entity
if/ERAISRREXLE  ERALEN
NWREMAYAHRE2RREY AE/ZRRE

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

ARARERERADM

Shanghai Xituo Biotechnology Co, Ltd. (i)

LRERENRRERAR()

Kintor Pharmaceutical (Zhejiang) Co, Ltd. ()

RAEX(NT)BRAR()

Oriza Flight International Limited

Oriza Flight International Limited

Kintor Pharmaceutical (Beijing) Co, Ltd. ()

RREX ORI BRAR)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Shanghai, PRC

10 April 2019,

limited liability company
L& wE
19%4A108 -
BRAT

RMBI00,000

AR#1000007

Zhejiang, PRC

27 June 2019,

limited liability company
i rE
09%F6A778
BRAT

USD35,000,000

35,000,000% 7T

Cayman Islands UsD3
2 January 2018
HERS 3%
WI851 A2R
Bejing, PRC RMB64,000000
25 August 2020,
limited liability company
IR P8
00588258
BRAAE

AR 8640000007

BZ1nA3IA
03 00
WRE  NE
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%
100%  100%

share capital As of 3| December  Principal activities

IEED

Research and development

g

Manufacturing, commercialisation, research

and development

RE - BFCERE

Investment holding

REZR

Manufacturing, commercialisation, research

and development

RE - BXRLRTE
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FEMBRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

38 B AT (&)

Place of registration/
incorporation and place of Nominal value
operations and date of incorporation! Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind registered FOARGRREAL
Name of legal entity share capital As of 3| December  Principal activities
i/ ERRIAEREXLE  ERALIRN
tR NRERRIAAREZRRER WE/HZRRE #2038 IEED
023 A2
WBE  00F
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Guangdong) Co, Ltd. () Guangdong, PRC USD40000000 ~ 100%  100%  Manufacturing commercialisation, research
30 July 2020, and development
limited liability company
RAE%(ER)BRAR() R HE 400000007 100%  100% B BECRAE
00574308 -
BRAT
Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co, Ltd. (i) Suzhou, PRC RMB62000000 ~100% NA  Venture capital (imited to unlisted

19 January 2022,
limited liability company

FNREIEZRARRAR() BN e
WNEFIRI9E -
BRAT

0] These entities are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under
the PRC law.

(i) Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited was incorporated in the Ireland in
202| and deregistered on 12 June 2023.

(i) Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited (F#hZ£ 2 B BB R A7) was
changed to the name of Koshine Hong Kong Limited (A& & & B R A a],
“Koshine HK") on 28 February 2024. Its principal activities was changed
to new drug research, development and commercialisation, cosmetics
manufacturing, retailing and wholesaling, and overseas investment
simultaneously.

The English names of the subsidiaries are translation made by
management of the Company as they do not have official English

names.

enterprises)

ARBO00000  100% AER  HEREBRASLHOE)

() ZEERREBETFEZLEIAMAIEBEDLE -

(i) Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited 5 37 722021 5
PRS2 36 720235 6 A 12H RESH o

(i) Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited ([ ¥ %
EBBBERATF) 12024492 A28 B E £ 2 Koshine
Hong Kong Limited (A& B AR AT - [& B 5
BD EITEXBRARSERTEME M
MEEL bhmfE TEMHE  UKE
SNRE -

HRMEBAR L EIERNE LR HEX
ZRITHAREEEERBE -

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 =l
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HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

39.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between entities within the Group are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.

39.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HAEEEEEAREZNE ST

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES KRE)
(Continued)
39.3 Associates 39.3 B & N T

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control,
generally but not necessarily accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investments in associates include underlying goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment

loss.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in
the carrying amount of the investment. Where the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interests
in the associate, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments accounted
for using the equity method, including investments in
associates and joint ventures are impaired. If this is the
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the
investment and its carrying value and recognises the amount
in “Other (loss)/gains — net” in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

BERNRIEASEHEEEATES
ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%& LEEHENAMEE (—
MABFE N EF B 1h H20% 2 50% 7 R 1
MR HE) - REEZ DA EN L&
PRAERE  UEEEFEAR - K
SERBERARNRERRBERERE
RHEEEE R ERRRES
=0

$EIE > HE & AR IR 1B
EREAEANRERER  MESE
Hth2EK =P AR EEZSRE
b2 U S FER o C U sk /e kBt & A
AR EERAREREENR - &
REBSE—KEE QAR EEFER K
HiRENEE RN ER(BEE M
Hi M RAEKRGRIE)R A&
EreRRE— TR RIELEER
REERRAELZEHHEERERX
RFRIE -

AEERSREAHEECREGEEML
MEBFEBRBETUESEAERNRE
(BERBERRREELENERE)
BE - MFERERE  AEETIR
&éT%@%ﬁﬁﬁ%E@%#ﬁﬁ
BRESE UTHGREEZERERTP
@Mﬂ%@/w& FEE | —HRER
e -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.3 Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. If the ownership interest in an
associate is reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to the consolidated statement of financial position where

appropriate.

394 Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profit or loss and movements in other
comprehensive income. Where the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
venture (which includes any other unsecured long-term
receivables that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

joint venture.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HAEEEEEAREZNE ST

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES Rg)
(Continued)
394 Joint ventures (Continued) WAEELEE)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

SEEEAZCX ZRARSHHRE
Bl e s  EUAANKEMES
ERENRE/R - BRIEEUEXRS
REBBERNCEZEEBMBE "
BRIREREBEBITTUEE - A0
ENETBRRERVERELES -
AT £ B2 7N 62 (8] P 5K 4 B9 BUCSRAR 15 —
B o

$
i

39.5 Segment reporting 7 EB R &
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent RESHHERHAERMEEZLER
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating FEFEHRNTZERN AR —H-FE
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, REAREREIRE RN GRS
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing DERE - WERRTE RIEL KRR
performance of the operating segments, has been identified EMBITES ©

as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group has been focusing on research and development of
innovative medicine products. Accordingly, the management
considers that the Group is operated and managed as a
single operating segment and hence no segment information

is presented.

39.6 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the

Group's presentation currency.

R & 220234 %2022 128318 IF F
§'$%l%qﬂﬁ“ﬁﬂééu¥ﬁ%§% °
EHit - EBERBIEBEAB L
ENHETLERERE EmMES
5| EE R -

39.6 HhEE 1

@) HEER SR BB

AEEBEEBNMBEHRERMA
BN ZEREEMENE
ERERENEEAE(HREE
WD BEMBHRRUAAREZ
B AREBRARANINGEER
RASENIRER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income, except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying

cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income on a net basis

within other gains or losses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in comprehensive income as part of the fair value
through profit or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

39.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group

entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-

inflationary economy) that have a functional currency

different from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(0)

(ii)

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial

position;

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

all resulting currency translation differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment include buildings, machinery
and equipment, office equipment and furniture, motor
vehicles and construction in progress and are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of

the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 30 years
— Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
— Office equipment and furniture 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 39.9).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised

in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents properties and
equipment under construction and is stated at cost less
impairment. This includes cost of construction, plant
and equipment and other direct costs. Construction-in-
progress is not depreciated until such time as the assets are

completed and are ready for intended use.

39.8 Intangible assets
(a) Software

Acquired software is capitalised on the basis of
the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over
the estimated useful life of | to 10 years. The Group
should assess whether there is any indication that

software is impaired at each financial year end.

Software is amortised over the estimated useful lives
of the individual software. The useful lives of individual
software were assessed with consideration of the
contractual term, the current functionality equipped
by the software, using plan and operation needs of the

software.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.8 Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts
on research and development activities, which
include expenditures on drug products. Research
expenditures are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as an expense in the period
the expenditures are incurred. Development costs are
recognised as assets if they can be directly attributable
to a newly developed drug products and all the

following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available

for use or sale;

(i) the Group's intention to complete the

development project to use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the development

project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the

Group;

(v) the Group’s availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development

project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures

attributable to the development project.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 Hib Mgt BB EREEZN R
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES Rg)
(Continued)

VB EE(#)
(b) FRAZE(E)

39.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Research and development expenditures

(Continued)

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditures incurred from the date
the asset meets the recognition criteria above to the
date when it is available for use. The costs capitalised
in connection with the intangible asset include costs of
materials and services used or consumed, employee
costs incurred in the creation of the asset and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The Group
generally considers capitalisation criteria for internally
generated intangible assets is met when obtaining

regulatory approval of new drug license.

Capitalised development expenditures are amortised
using the straight-line method over the life of the
related drug products. Amortisation shall begin when
the asset is available for use. Subsequent to initial
recognition, internally generated intangible assets are
reported as cost less accumulated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the
above criteria are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred and development
expenditures previously recognised as an expense are

not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

399 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting

period.

3910 Financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

(i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or

through profit or loss), and
(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES KRE)
(Continued)
3910 Financial assets (Continued) NOERMEEE)

(b) EBERIE

(b) Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are

expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which

the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Recognition and measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in finance costs and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in

profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income as applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES &)
(Continued)

NI £@EERE

¥l Impairment of financial asset

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of

the receivables.

3912 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. For impairment of trade

receivables, refer to Note 39.11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEeMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits held at
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3914 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If

not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

3215 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.

Government grants relating to past expenses are
recognised directly in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.

Government grants relating to future costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match

them with the costs they are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES Rg)
(Continued)
39.15 Government grants (Continued) 3915 BT/ Bh ()

Government grants relating to assets are included in non-
current liabilities as “Deferred income” and are credited
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the

related assets.

The recognition period of government grants are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

39.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and

amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3917 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred income tax, which is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the income tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
When it is not probable, the Group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the

uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES &)
(Continued)

WITENHRIELFTEH (&)
(b) BEEFEH

39.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss is affected.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise those temporary differences and

tax losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRE

B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

39.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

©

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates and joint
ventures. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred income tax liability in relation to taxable
temporary differences arising from the associates' and

joint ventures’ undistributed profit is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which

the temporary difference can be utilized.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

39 HMEEEEEAREZNE ST
RE)

WITENEIRIEZEFIEH (&)
(b) EBEEFEH(E)

IEEEELE
BEMSHRABBERRBAR -
BEARARAEELENKEE
EREREETRESE  ARE
7R £ B A] DA 122 1) B R = RE A o)
B MEREREUELER
BN TEREMNECHERHA
BEER AN o AN B — AR A5 Bl Bt
ERAREECEEREZENE
O-Eehilfhas TA5E
ENEHEREZERITRBRZ
BEMERLT AT SHERE &
RAIRAEE D ERD K & ATE
MR R E AR T S
BE o

EREFBHEERNKTBRR]
BERBIRAEEENREEL
BV AT HORLE B E AR R R - HE(E IR
REREZHERAUEESKERD -
I 7B 78 fe & AR 15 A AT 4 1K 85
R AETT -

© #&#H

EEAGGRNEAT TE & B BN EA A
HEEEENSEREBITE
UREREMSHEERBER
[R] — 751 75 14 88 3t 7% FE AR T B g8 =K
TRERMERBBWHAEHE
M mAMAERRFREES
BEHRER  EEMSNEERES
B HEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES &)
(Continued)

39.18 Employee benefits 39.18 /& E & R

The Group entities in Mainland China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
government authorities for its employees in Mainland China
and contribute to these plans based on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up
to a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by
the relevant government authorities. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired

employees under these plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrated fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expense when they are due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3919 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net
of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the

Company’s equity holders.

Shares held by the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from

contributed equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtAeE EEEARAEZEENE 5T
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES &)
(Continued)

3920 Share-based payments WURDRBEBROIAM

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme.

Information relating to the scheme is set out in Note 31.

The fair value of awarded shares granted to employees
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme less amount
paid by employees is recognised as an employee benefits
expense over the relevant service period, being the vesting
period of the shares, and the credit is recognised in equity
in the share-based compensation reserve. The fair value of
the shares is measured at the grant date. The number of
shares expected to vest is estimated based on the service
conditions. The estimates are revised at the end of each
reporting period and adjustments are recognised in profit
or loss and the share-based compensation reserve. Where
shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to
satisfy the service conditions, any expense previously
recognised in relation to such shares is reversed effective at
the date of the forfeiture.

3921 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

PARS A7 70 25 5 1) 37 B 43 1) 538 18 2020F
EEHEEREERME - HZFTE
HEANER SR -

RIB220FRE BT RNRERT
MBI D 2 R AR BERRE B T H)
TR YR A AR RS HE G
FEH)NEERAMS  RAKRNRE
AMOFMERETHEIASERER -
ZERDARBEISINE LB
£ - BHR B BB TR R KR
fhEt - REMFATIREREHARET
&k HEABRARNEBRE RAKRND S
EMOFHEEER - WEBEZXM
JE BR A 5 1 T UL W B (D B - BISERD
HZERNBBNEMERNERS
Rz B EE o

3921 {& Fx Bk 45

WE RESILESEREE(HE
REREAFEREAEILENE
EEEREE-—REBEBRKAE
APARSEENKA BEERWEE
REAMERERBEIHERLE ©

EREERBIEREREEXHAN
ERREMBRBOKRERAN - REE
BREDCEE R AR

P LA 18 20 A 7 RO 2 A AR 09
2P -

BRAEESRAT
&4 2023

249



250

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3922 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in

the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount

of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

3923 Leases and right-of-use asset

The Group leases properties and land use rights in the
PRC as lessee. The consideration paid for lease are
treated as right-of-use assets, which are stated at cost less
accumulative amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Lease land is amortised over the lease period
of 50 years using straight-line method.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 39.9).

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6
months to 5 years, but may have extension options. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain

various terms and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE2023F12A831HIEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 Ht R AR EAR RN G

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES Rg)

(Continued)

393 Leases and right-of-use asset (Continued) WBHEREAEEE#®)
Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the HMEEHEEEANHASE @@E)ﬂz H
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective BRARERAEEERIEEER - &2
leased assets is available for use by the Group. Each lease MENKTIS @Eiﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁfxﬁzﬁ °
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. MBRKARBERAGERNER - A
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease HTEEERHEAGERNETE BB
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest & o

on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially HEMEENEERBEVRKREE
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include EEGE - -HEREBEUTHER
the net present value of the following lease payment: R FRBE

() fixed payments (including in-substance fixed () BEEMREFEEEREENK R
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; EREKEEES:

(i) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a (i) B4 BEN E I 50 B 1A B HI R
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the BEINEXNLFENFEHE
commencement date; N

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under (i) FeRBERRTIHOABAEESRE
residual value guarantees; I8

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is (v) BEEREEMNITEE (A %ﬁ AE
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and B EITRZEER)

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the V) ZXMREAENIR(WMEERR
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option. R AfTE R E ) -

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain BEAERTEHEEZELNEE

extension options are also included in the measurement of NRITFABBHFE -

the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HZE203F 12838 IEFE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3923 Leases and right-of-use asset (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:
*  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received
* any initial direct costs
0 restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Right-of-use assets are subject
to impairment (Note 39.9).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of less than |12 months. Low-value assets

comprise small items of machinery.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease

term on the same basis as lease income.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

9 Hitt B AR EART RN G
R(#)

WRHERFEAEEE#E)

HEMNKRBEERRE S8R ETIA
BRE - MEAEEZMNE(RNREED
HE-—RBUHABR)  BIEHRAHE
NBERBFN = - BE R ATHAER
A IR B P IR BB OGRS I R M
HEAES ﬁﬁ%%é?ﬁﬁﬁwm
BEMBFESVANOFNE-

EREEERKNATE  BREATE
I8 :

e MRFTEHERENESHE

. E%%E%ﬁZﬁﬁﬁMEﬁﬂ
ENFREMEREEEE

o EMIIMERKA

e EBRAN

FREEEBRTANEHEHAKRAER
EEITINE - R EEATIRBE
(Bt 5E39.9) ©

HEHHERKEEEEHEMH
MNRIZEREN B SRR
RHHEEHENS2EAATHE
E-REEEERRE/ MK -

AEEREEANKEEHENHESW
A%ﬁ%%WﬁE@&ﬁw%WA

SREMEMEENTRERZKA
WWIW%%E%%E@'E%@%
AR EAE R AR EEER S
FA3Z



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR

Results £

Loss before income tax RS HAIER

Income tax credit/(expense) EREEI(ER)

Loss and total comprehensive AR FEEFEA
loss for the year attributable EhEEABER
to the equity holders of the PEHERAE
Company

Assets and liabilities BEERAE

Total assets BEMAE

Total liabilities ARAEB

Total equity BRAR

Equity attributable to the equity N2 )4 &
holders of the Company FAAEG#ER

2023
20235

RMB’000
ARETR

(1,068,861
8,041

(1,060,820)

2023
202345

RMB’000
ARETR

869,232
411,120
458,112

458,112

For the year ended 31 December

2022
20224
RMB'000
ARET T

(953284)
(1,085)

(954,369)

2022
20224
RMB'000
ARET T

2,055,136
559,948

1,495,188

1,495,188

BZNAIALEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT
(842,095) (508228)

— (73)

(842,095) (508301)

As at 31 December

RI2A318
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
2,067,989 851 475
412,831 343,541
1,655,158 507934
1,655,158 507934

2019
20194
RMB'000
ARET T

(232,577)

(232577)

2019
20194
RMB'000
ARETF T

553,376
183712
369,664

369,664
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRMARE

“2020 Employee Incentive

Scheme”

[2020%F & B B By =t &1

“ACE2"

[ACE2]

“AGA”

[AGA] =k [ fi% £ |

“ALK-1"

[ALK-1]

AR

[AR]

AR+
[AR+]

“Audit Committee”
[BE%EZEE]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

54
“c-Myc”
[c-Myc]

“CG Code”
[ %A <FAl]

“China” or "PRC"

[ )

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme of our Company approved and adopted by
our Board on 3| March 2020
B S8 MN2020F3A31 B 8/ I IR 48 B9 AN 2 R12020%F (8 & BB AT 8l

angiotensin converting enzyme-2, a protein on the surface of many cell types, which
has been identified as the receptor for the SARS-CoV-2 viral entry
MEERZELEMGE  FL2AR\EXRENEQEL  ERINR
SARS-CoV-21A &5 3 A HY 1 Wk 25

androgenetic alopecia

HERUER M B2

activin receptor-like kinase-I, an antagonistic mediator of lateral transforming
growth factor-beta/ALK-5 signaling, also known as GT9000I|
EERZBEME - —BAMB(CERRAFAENA ALKSESE - I8
A GT9000I

androgen receptor

HHEXE

androgen receptro positive

HEHERZEBE

the audit committee of the Board

EFeE%REe

the board of directors of the Company
RAREFE

MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor, a protein that codes for

transcription factors

MYCIREER  bHIHESAF - —ERBESETFNELD

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules

ET R A 8 CIAT 8 & R B T A

The People’'s Republic of China, for the purpose of this announcement only,

excluding Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan

PEARANE ERA2EmME FAREFE BFANMPEEE



“CMO()"

[cMO]

“Company”

NS

“Core Products”

“COVID-19"
[COVID-19]

“CRO(s)"

[CROI

“Director(s)”
(%]

“Dr. TONG”
[E1EL]
“Group"

[(RNE&EH]

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BREREMAE

a company that offers manufacturing services, with volume capabilities ranging from
small amounts for preclinical R&D to larger volumes necessary for clinical trials
purposes and commercialisation

REHELERBOAR  HEERDARRBAAAZEN N EERERK
ABRMARECAENRNEER

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited, formerly known as KTKM Holdings Inc., an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May 2018
whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
9939

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited * B ## KTKM Holdings Inc. * —Z 7201854 168
ERSHESEMKRINERRERAR - HROXBRAER LM ()
5% £ 9939)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules; for purposes
of this report, our Core Products consist of KX-826, GT20029, Pruxelutamide
(GTO918)

EEETRUFETNAEMETORE  RAREMS - ROANZLER
BHEKX-826 + GT20029 % & 75 & f% (GT0918)

coronavirus disease 2019
AR E AR E A

contract research organisation(s), a company hired by another company or research
centre to take over certain parts of running a clinical trial. The company may design,
manage, and monitor the trial, and analyse the results

ANTEMBE MR- RATNXAETLER  BRERAROF LD
DHRE] > Z AR A ARG - EEMEZEARI HNE

director(s) of the Company
RRBIES

Dr. Youzhi TONG, one of the co-founders, as executive Director, chairman and

chief executive officer of the Company

BERZBL ARABEEIBAZ  HTES  TRRITHRAEH

the Company and its subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)
ARBNMEMBAR(RIONEME  BARRREEAN-RASZKNME

NE])
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRMAR

“GT0486"

[GT0486) 15

“HCC”

[HCC) 15

“Hh

Hh) &

“HKD” or "HK$”
&7t 15

“Hong Kong” or "HK"”

(&7 5
“IFRS"

(BB B S sk & 2 528 ] 8
“IGA”

[GA] 15
“IND”

[INDJ 5
“IPF”

[1PF] &
“KX-826"

[KX-826] &
“Listing”

[ 7] &

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signaling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor under development by our Group primarily for the treatment of metastatic
solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and liver cancer
—TEPBK/MTORIESRA I HIE - BANKEFETAE —KmTORMFIAE -
TERANEBEIRE RJRBEETESBERHLERRE

hepatocellular carcinoma, a common type of liver cancer

s s—REERMERL

one of the anticancer targets, when hedgehog is not turned off during adulthood, it

promotes the growth of cancer cells

OB AR 2 — MR A I Hhedgehog R EEEH - RISt £ AR LR

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

EREAEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
TEEBRFRITHR

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board
RETERREeRMNBRY B RESTE

Investigator’s Global Assessment

e E BTG

investigational new drug

HERAARES

idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

R MR L

formerly known as “Pyrilutamide”, an AR antagonist under development by our
Group as a topical drug for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris
iR E] AEERETRO —BARBRE  ERARBEREIER
e TN

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
RDPABEZZ P £ £



“Listing Rules”

e A5 A1)

“mBC”
[mBC]

“mCRPC”
[mCRPCJ

“Model Code”

MR %<7 Al

\_l

“mTOR"

[mTOR/

“Nivolumab”

[Nivolumab]

“NMPA”

B
5
%
i
0

PO
[PDJ

“PD-I" or “PCD-1"

[PD-1] 2k [PCD-1]

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BREREMAE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended or

supplemented from time to time

BRXER TR TR ETRETE

metastatic breast cancer

BRMILIRE

metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

BREMEEZENIERNIIRE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EHRAIMESRCITE LM BETAEFTETREFRSINIRESTR

mammalian target of rapamycin, a critical effector in cell-signaling pathways

commonly deregulated in human cancers
HIBYERBERLERED BREENAREREBRIELS T HEAR
JEE 7R B BE X0 K AR IR A

a human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) monoclonal antibody, which targets the
negative immunoregulatory human cell surface receptor programmed death-| (PDI,
PCD-1)) with immune checkpoint inhibitory and antineoplastic activities

ABERZRIREAGH (gGHERENRE - MA 2R RE MG RIER
B HEEEAEASAEARKRAZBEFET — I(PDI - PCDI)

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (R 2 REEERF),
successor to the China Food and Drug Administration according to the Institutional
Reform Plan of the State Council

THEEREGEBEER REBEGEBERENERATBEERRM
EnEEERARNMETEN

Pharmacodynamics

EL ]

programmed cell death protein |, a protein in humans is encoded by the
programmed cell death | (PDCDI) gene

BEHARKXTCED EABANBEFEMARXTI(PDCONERFITH
=

WAEREERA
F 3R 2023 =
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BERRMAR

“PI3K"

[PI3K]

“upK

[PKJ

“PROTAC”

[PROTAC]

“Pruxelutamide” or “GT0918"

[ 7% &k [GT0918)

“R&D"

[T 3 |

“Reporting Period”
[ & HA A

“RMB”
TARE]

“RSU"

[ PR il B 7 B iz |

“SFO"

58 5 M MR %A
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the acronym of Phosphoinositide 3-kinase, a family of enzymes involved in cellular
functions such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility, survival, and
intracellular trafficking, which in turn are involved in cancer

BN B3-S 2EARNENARER BE - D
FEMARANERN —A SLARNEXERIESR

£ &% -

Pharmacokinetics

ERFHE

proteolysis targeting chimera, a small molecule composed of (i) a recruiting element
for a protein of interest; (ii) an E3 ubiquitin ligase recruiting element; and (iii) a linker
bounding (i) and (ii)

EHKBERABZREE AT HAKSEOEESNELE ()E3
e REEIAREE K (i) 4 A ) R (i) Hy E 8

a small molecule second generation AR antagonist under development by our
Group for the treatment of mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer
AEBEREPHN B/ ND F-RAREHRE - ARIAEMCRPC R AR+E
3L AR 2

research and development

Bt 9% Ko A 2%

the year ended 31 December 2023
BE203F2A3BILFE

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEEBARY

a restricted share unit award granted to a participant under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme that is subject to such terms and conditions as set forth in the
rules of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, and each restricted share unit
represents one underlying Share

12 J820204F 1 B A B 5t &1 AR Bl AT 315 30 R 5 4 020204 (8 & B B =t 8178
T2EEFLOXBHROEMCRER MEOHIBRBRHROBLRR—
P A8 B A 10

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEPIEST E(EF R B ERIDETRIEFT B AEM T g
20



“Share(s)”

el

“Shareholder(s)”
MR 3R J

“SMO”

[SMO]

“Stock Exchange”

[ Bt 32 i |

“TAHC”
[TAHC]

“TGF-3"

[TGF-B]

“TMPRSS2"
[TMPRSS2]

“Top-up Placing 2022-1"

RO02F S EZR AL E

“Top-up Placing 2022-11"

RONFERLERFEE!

¥

¥

=
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BREREMAE

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value
US$0.0001 each
AR B RN B A& B E {H0.0001 35 7T B &8 X

holder(s) of the Shares
BFEA

smoothened, a Class Frizzled G protein-coupled receptor that is a component of
the hedgehog signaling pathway
—RBRFENBHBECERMBE X8 - RhedgehoglE IR T H —EHK LD

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EREMERXZABRIE

target area hair counts

AEEEANFEEREHE

a regulatory cytokine that has multifunctional properties that can enhance or inhibit
many cellular functions, including interfering with the production of other cytokines
and enhancing collagen deposition

—REERZUMEFUENFMARE T AEalFZARmE 8
RTEHEMAREFNESLMERBRIE

transmembrane serine protease 2
BRA4RKEDRE2

the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing and
subscription agreement dated 31 August 2022. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 31 August 2022 and 7 September 2022 for further
information

ARRRBEAHR20202F8 A3 BN ERRBHARETHLTERNEE -
BRE— AR  FL2HAARE R R202F8A3HKR202F9A7AH A

==
=

the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing and
subscription agreement dated 9 December 2022. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated || December 2022 and 16 December 2022
for further information

ARRRIFEAS20202FR2ABRNEERRB B ETNLERNLE -
ERE-FER  FL2HARRAHA202F 128118 K202F 1281688

A==
=

/,

A

BRAEERRAT
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BERRMAR

“US" or "US” the United States of America

EE B ENRARE

“USD" or "“US$” U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

i B EXBUEEBE®BXTT

“U.S. FDA" Food and Drug Administration of the U.S.

[ 3£ B FDA # XERmEREEEER

“VEGF” vasoactive endothelial growth factor, a potent angiogenic factor and was first
described as an essential growth factor for vascular endothelial cells

[VEGF] B NMEAMARERAT —EERNNDELAKETF SUKELSOE
AN AR VT EREF

“we”, “us” or “our” the Company and, unless the context indicates otherwise, its subsidiaries

EAGREAE 45100 B A2ARGXEZAMAENERBLF
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